Diss. ETH No. 23518

Metal Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors for Flexible Electronics

A dissertation submitted to

ETH Zürich

for the degree of Doctor of Sciences

> presented by Luisa Petti

MSc. Politecnico di Milano born June 4, 1987 citizen of Italy

accepted on the recommendation of

Prof. Dr. Gerhard Tröster, ETH Zurich, examiner Prof. Dr. Thomas D. Anthopoulos, Imperial College London, co-examiner Luisa Petti

Metal Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors for Flexible Electronics Diss. ETH No. 23518

First edition 2016 Published by ETH Zürich, Switzerland

Printed by Reprozentrale ETH

Copyright © 2016 by Luisa Petti

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise, without the prior permission of the author.

Acknowledgments

First of all, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Gerhard Tröster for giving me the opportunity to perform this thesis at the Institute for Electronics. I am very grateful for the great support and guidance, the excellent research facilities, as well as the almost unlimited freedom he provided me during all the phases of my PhD. I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Thomas D. Anthopoulos for co-examining my PhD thesis, as well as for giving me the chance to spend a 6-month research period in the Advanced Materials and Devices group at Imperial College London.

Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. N. Münzenrieder for teaching me how to fabricate flexible devices, for all the countless discussions and inputs, as well as for all the nice projects and collaborations realized together. Many thanks also to Dr. G. A. Salvatore for his advice.

Especially, I would like to thank my former and current office mates Dr. Thomas Kinkeldei, Dr. Christoph Zysset, Lars Büthe, Christian Vogt, and Giuseppe Cantarella for all the valuable discussions. Thank you also to all other IfE members: Alberto, Alwin, Amir, Andreas, Bert, Bernd, Burçu, Christina, Daniel R., Daniel W., Franz, Julia, Long-Van, Martin W., Martin K., Matija, Mathieu, Matthias, Michael, Mirco, Rolf, Sebastian, Sinziana, Stefan, Tobias, Ulf, Vanessa, and Zack. A special thanks goes to Ruth Zähringer, Fredy Mettler, and Paul Holz for their help with administrative and technical issues.

This work would not have been possible without the ETH FIRST and CLA clean room facilities. Among others, I have to thank Dr. Y. Bonetti, Dr. E. Gini, Dr. S. Schön, and Dr. S. Blunier. Many thanks go also to M. Lanz for all the photolithography masks.

I am also very thankful to F. Bottacchi, Dr. H. Faber, Dr. N. Yaacobi-Gross, Dr. P. Pattanasattayavong, Dr. Y-H. Lin, Dr. K. Ishida, Dr. T. Meister, R. Shabanpour, Dr. B. Kheradmand-Boroujeni, Dr. C. Carta, Prof. Dr. Ellinger, Dr. J. Reuteler, D. Karnaushenko, Dr. D. Makarov, and Prof. Dr. O. Schmidt for the great collaborations we had together.

Furthermore, I would like to thank Paulina Aguirre, Sandro Gähler, Andreas Frutiger, and Emanuel Greco for the excellent inputs they delivered working on their Semester and Master theses.

Many thanks to my parents and my sister for being always present. Finally, I want to thank my partner Flavio and my daugther Sofia for their presence, their understanding and their patience.

Zürich, April 2016

Contents

Ac	knov	vledgments	iii
Ał	ostrac	t	vii
Ri	assui	nto	ix
1.	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Motivation	2
	1.2	State of the Art	3
	1.3	Objectives	24
	1.4	Thesis Outline	27
	1.5	Additional Publications	29
2.	The	sis Summary	37
	2.1	Contributions	38
	2.2	Conclusion	76
	2.3	Limitations	80
	2.4	Outlook	82
3.	Vert	ical TFTs	85
	3.1	Introduction	86
	3.2	Fabrication	87
	3.3	TFT Characteristic	87
	3.4	Stability	91
	3.5	Bendability	91
	3.6	Conclusion	92
4.	Qua	si-Vertical TFTs	97
	4.1	Introduction	98
	4.2	Device Structure and Fabrication	99
	4.3	Results and Discussion	101
	4.4	Conclusion	104

5.	Solu	ition-Processed TFTs and Circuits	105
	5.1	Introduction	106
	5.2	Device Structure and Fabrication	108
	5.3	Results and Discussion	108
	5.4	Conclusion	115
6.	Mer	nory TFTs	117
	6.1	Introduction	118
	6.2	Fabrication Process	119
	6.3	Characterization	121
	6.4	Mechanical Bending	124
	6.5	Conclusions	132
7.	Con	plementary Circuits	135
	7.1	Introduction	136
	7.2	Fabrication	137
	7.3	IGZO/SWCNT TFTs and Inverters	138
	7.4	In_2O_3 /SWCNT TFTs and Inverters	142
	7.5	Conclusion	142
Bi	bliog	raphy	147
Gl	ossaı	ry	171
Cu	ırricu	ılum Vitae	183

vi

Abstract

The rapid progress in semiconductor technology is fueled by the growing demand for electronic devices with improved performance, higher integration density, and new functionality. On one side, aspects like electrical performance, feature size, and manufacturing cost are still pushing the development of silicon-based devices, as predicted by Gordon Moore in 1965. On the other side, the quest for increased functionality of electronic devices is calling for alternative technological platforms, providing novel features like flexibility, light-weight, transparency, conformability, stretchability, biocompatibility, and even biodegradability. A new generation of flexible electronics allowing higher functionality of wearable devices and smart textiles, e.g. for sports or healthcare applications, is rapidly expanding. Even disruptive applications like artificial robotic skins or imperceptible implants seem to be possible by embedding thin, soft and flexible electronic systems everywhere.

Among flexible electronic technologies, metal oxide semiconductor thin-film transistors (TFTs) are particularly appealing, owing to their ability to combine optical transparency, carrier mobility larger than $10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, low temperature processability, and low sensitivity to mechanical strain. These features, together with the possibility to develop large-area and scalable manufacturing processes, render metal oxide semiconductor TFT technology the most prominent candidate to drive tomorrow's ubiquitous electronics.

In this thesis, metal oxide semiconductor TFTs were fabricated on free-standing 50 μ m-thick polyimide foils utilizing a wide range of materials, device structures, and manufacturing processes. Advanced vertical and quasi-vertical geometries were used to realize indium gallium zinc oxide (IGZO) TFTs with 500 nm and 300 nm channel lengths, respectively. Two-photon direct laser writing (DLW) was utilized to fabricate flexible IGZO TFTs with channel lengths down to 280 nm.

For future electronic systems, also memory functionality needs to be integrated on flexible substrates. In particular, memory devices that combine low-power operation and mechanical flexibility are especially attractive. Low-voltage non-volatile memory TFTs with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics and IGZO active layers were fabricated. The behavior of IGZO memory devices under applied mechanical bending (tensile and compressive strain up to ± 0.6 %) was investigated and correlated to the piezoelectric properties of P(VDF-TrFE).

An approach for the deposition of metal oxide semiconductors is represented by solution processing techniques, which are much less studied until today. These techniques would further increase the possibilities of large-area and low-cost fabrication methods. In this work, indium oxide (In_2O_3) active layers were grown by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis at 250 °C and integrated into flexible n-type TFTs and unipolar logic inverters.

Most common metal oxide semiconductors yield a good electron conduction. To allow the development of a compact and low-power flexible complementary TFT technology, inorganic and organic p-type solution-processable semiconductors were investigated. Especially spin-casted single walled carbon nanotube (SWCNT) devices proved to be a particularly attractive option, owing to their hole effective mobility above $8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ and their mechanical flexibility down to 4 mm.

To take advantage of both n-type and p-type TFTs, flexible complementary logic inverters were demonstrated. Complementing ntype IGZO with p-type SWCNTs allowed realizing flexible inverters yielding gains up to 85 V/V, even while bent to a tensile radius of 10 mm. The demonstration of flexible complementary inverters based on fully solution-deposited active layers (spray-coated In₂O₃ and spincoated SWCNTs) is considered a step towards large-area and solutionprocessed flexible electronics.

Riassunto

Il rapido progresso delle tecnologie a semiconduttore è alimentato da una crescente richiesta di dispositivi elettronici con migliori prestazioni, maggiore densità d'integrazione e nuove funzionalità. Da un lato, talune caratteristiche come le prestazioni elettroniche, le dimensioni del transistore e i costi di produzione continuano a sollecitare lo sviluppo di dispositivi al silicio, come previsto da Gordon Moore nel 1965. Allo stesso tempo, la domanda di una maggiore funzionalità dei dispositivi elettronici induce a utilizzare piattaforme tecnologiche alternative, che forniscano nuove caratteristiche quali la flessibilità, la leggerezza, la conformabilità, l'elasticità, la biocompatibilità e la biodegradabilità. A tale scopo, è in crescita una nuova generazione di circuiti elettronici flessibili che consentano una maggiore funzionalità dei dispositivi portabili e dei tessuti intelligenti, ad esempio per lo sport o per il settore medico. Sistemi elettronici leggeri e sottili sembrano consentire persino innovazioni futuristiche quali pelle artificiale per robot o addirittura protesi impercettibili.

Una tecnologia elettronica flessibile particolarmente interessante è quella dei transistori a film sottile a semiconduttori di ossido di metallo, che consente di combinare transparenza ottica, mobilità elettronica maggiore di $10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$, processabilità a basse temperature e bassa sensitività alle tensioni meccaniche. Queste caratteristiche, unite alla possibilità di sviluppare processi di produzione su larga scala, rendono la tecnologia a semiconduttori di ossido di metallo il candidato più promettente per i dispositivi elettronici del futuro.

In questa tesi, transistori a film sottile a ossidi di metallo sono stati fabbricati su un substrato polimmidico flessibile e autoportante (50 μ m di spessore) utilizzando una vasta gamma di materiali, di strutture e di processi di fabbricazione. Geometrie verticali e quasi-verticali sono state usate per realizzare transistori a ossido di indio-galliozinco (IGZO) aventi lunghezza di canale, rispettivamente, di 500 nm e 300 nm. Inoltre, la scrittura diretta laser è stata utilizzata per fabbricare transistori a IGZO con lunghezza di canale di 280 nm.

Per i sistemi elettronici del futuro, anche le memorie devono essere integrate su substrati flessibili. In particolare, sono particolarmente importanti le memorie che combinano operazione a basso consumo di potenza e flessibilità meccanica. Utilizzando transistori a IGZO con un dielettrico ferroelettrico [P(VDF-TrFE)], sono state realizzate memorie non volatili a basso voltaggio. Inoltre, è stata studiata la risposta delle memorie a seguito di sollecitazioni meccaniche di trazione e di compressione (± 0.6 %). I risultati ottenuti sono stati messi in correlazione con le proprietà piezoelettriche del P(VDF-TrFE).

Un metodo interessante (anche se ancora poco studiato) per la crescita dei semiconduttori a ossidi di metallo è rappresentato dall'uso di processi da soluzione. Questa tecnica potrebbe favorire ulteriormente lo sviluppo di metodi di fabbricazione su larga scala e a basso costo. In questa tesi, ossido di indio (In_2O_3) è stato cresciuto mediante pirolisi a spruzzo ultrasonico a 250 °C ed integrato in transistori e invertitori unipolari di tipo n.

Comunemente i semiconduttori a ossido di metallo esibiscono una buona conduzione di elettroni. Per poter sviluppare una tecnologia flessibile complementare che sia compatta e a basso consumo di potenza, sono stati investigati anche semiconduttori inorganici e organici di tipo p processabili da soluzione. In particolare, dispositivi a nanotubi di carbonio a parete singola (SWCNT) si sono dimostrati un'opzione interessante per la mobilità di lacuna al di sopra degli $8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ e per la flessibilità meccanica fino a 4 mm di raggio di curvatura.

Per sfruttare i vantaggi dei transistori di tipo n e p, sono stati fabbricati invertitori complementari flessibili. Grazie a transistori a IGZO (di tipo n) e SWCNT (di tipo p), è stato possibile realizzare invertitori flessibili aventi un guadagno di 85 V/V e flessibilità meccanica fino ad un raggio di curvatura di 10 mm. La realizzazione di invertitori complementari flessibili con semiconduttori processati da soluzione (In_2O_3 e SWCNTs) rappresenta un passo avanti nello sviluppo dell'elettronica flessibile e processabile da soluzione su larga scala.

1

Introduction

1.1 Motivation

Today electronics is facing a disruptive evolution, advancing from being heavy, bulky and rigid and becoming light-weight, soft and flexible. A key driver of this change is the need to unobtrusively embedd electronics into everyday objects and allow higher functionality of wearable devices [1] and smart textiles [2], e.g. for sport or healthcare applications. At the same time, seamless integration of electronics is paving the way to new applications like smart tags [3], intelligent packaging [1], artificial robotic skins [4], imperceptible [5] biomimetic [6] and transient [7] prostheses, as well as advanced surgical tools [8]. To enable these scenarios and revolutionize the future daily life of billions of people in the world, electronic devices that are flexible, light-weight, transparent, conformable, stretchable, biocompatible, and even biodegradable are required. Flexible thin-film transistors (TFTs) are able to fulfill these requirements, and are thus becoming increasingly important. Even if high-performance applications will still rely on devices based on semiconductors like Si, GaAs or SiC, flexible TFTs will push the development of next-generation electronics in novel directions and allow new products.

Among state-of-the-art flexible TFT technologies, metal oxide semiconductors are especially suitable, owing to their high optical transparency (above 80 % [9]), good electrical performance (carrier mobility $\geq 10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [10]), and good insensitivity to mechanical strain. In particular, metal oxide semiconductors, like amorphous silicon (a-Si) and organic materials, are characterized by low-cost and large-area scalability, but at the same time yield carrier mobility values closer to those achievable with more expensive (and less scalable) platforms, such as low-temperature poly-crystalline silicon (LTPS). This is why metal oxide semiconductors are considered the most prominent candidate for next-generation flexible active matrix organic light emitting display (AMOLED) backplanes [11], as well as the most suitable technology to fuel tomorrow's ubiquitous electronics [12].

Nowadays flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs have made their entry in the AMOLED market [13], whereas their commercialization in application areas beyond optical displays is still prevented by various technological bottlenecks. In particular, while optical display backplanes can be realized with flexible TFTs operating at frequencies below 100 Hz, other applications like transceivers, radio-frequency identification (RFID) tags, or AM radios require devices with smaller

feature sizes and higher transit frequencies. Nevertheless, the fabrication of flexible TFTs with sub-500 nm channel lengths and Megahertz frequencies is challenged by the limited thermal and mechanical stability of flexible substrates. At the same time, novel large-area and cost-effective applications like foldable and printable displays, disposable smart labels, and intelligent packaging call for low-cost and high-throughput solution processing techniques. However, to date, low-temperature solution deposition methods on flexible substrates need still to be optimized and established in order to allow fully printed or roll-to-roll processes. Another open issue is represented by the scarce availability and performance of flexible p-type metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. Realizing p-type devices is intrinsically hindered by the electronic structure of metal oxide semiconductors, which guarantees a good electron conduction and at the same time a bad hole transporting path. This limits the development of a compact and lowpower complementary technology based on n- and p-type metal oxide semiconductors.

In this thesis, novel device structures and fabrication processes allowing sub-500 nm feature sizes on flexible substrates are investigated and applied to realize short-channel flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. Furthermore, low-temperature and scalable solution processes are employed to fabricate flexible n-type metal oxide semiconductor TFTs and circuits. At the same time, promising solutionprocessable inorganic and organic p-type semiconductors are explored and incorporated in flexible TFTs and circuits. Finally, the application of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible non-volatile memories and complementary logic circuits is demonstrated.

1.2 State of the Art¹

This section summarizes the state of the art of flexible metal oxide semiconductor devices. First of all, an overview of the existing flexible TFT technologies is given. In the second part, the focus is on flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. In particular, the materials and the fabrication techniques employed for the manufacturing of flexible metal oxide semiconductor devices are first reviewed, followed by a

¹This section is based on: L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Vogt, H. Faber, L. Büthe, G. Cantarella, F. Bottacchi, T.D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster, Metal Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors for Flexible Electronics. In *Applied Physics Review*, 3 (2), 021303. © 2016 AIP.

description of the electrical performance as well as of the mechanical properties of the resulting n- and p-type TFTs. Finally, in the last part unipolar and complementary circuits based on metal oxide semiconductors are presented.

1.2.1 Flexible TFTs

If compared to standard Si MOSFETs, flexible TFTs yield a significantly lower carrier mobility. On one hand, in MOSFETs the substrate is a single crystal Si wafer (representing also the active layer) and device functionality is added through a large variety of complex, high temperature (>1000 °C) and expensive processes (e.g. diffusion/implantation of dopants, lithography, etching) [14]. On the other hand, TFTs are typically fabricated on insulating substrates, on which the device layers are grown at lower temperature (<650 °C) by vacuum- or solutionprocessing deposition techniques. This different manufacturing process (especially if on flexible substrates) enables on one side a wide range of novel applications that are not possible with standard rigid and crystalline Si MOSFETs, but on the other side limits the charge carrier transport of the typically poly-crystalline or amorphous semiconductors [9]. Nevertheless, if compared to other established flexible TFT technologies (Table 1.1), metal oxide semiconductors represent an excellent trade-off between good electrical properties, large-area scalability, and low process cost and complexity. As evident from Table 1.1, metal oxide semiconductors present several advantages over a-Si and organic materials, such as low-cost, low process complexity and temperature, large-area scalability, combined with a large carrier mobility [9]. Compared to LTPS, metal oxide semiconductors present slightly lower carrier mobility, but also larger scalability, smaller manufacturing cost, as well as reduced process complexity and temperature [9]. Furthermore, metal oxide semiconductor TFTs show better insensitivity to mechanical strain if compared to LTPS devices [13].

In the following we will review the state of the art of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs and circuits.

1.2.2 Flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs

Since 2004 when Nomura et al. reported the first flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFT [10], a large variety of different manufacturing approaches have been demonstrated. Some of these approaches require

	Structure	$\begin{array}{l} Mobility \\ (cm^2 V^{-1} s^{-1}) \end{array}$	Process cost	Process complexity	Process temperature (°C)	Large-area scalability	Device type
Metal oxide semiconductors	Mainly amorphous	10-100	Low	Low	RT to 350	High	Mainly n-type
Amorphous silicon	Amorphous	-	Low	Low	150-300	High	N-type
Low-temperature poly-crystalline silicon	Poly- crystalline	50-100	High	High	350-500	Low	N- and p-type
Organic semiconductors	Mainly poly- crystalline	0.1-10	Low	Low	RT to 250	High	Mainly p-type
Table 1.1: Compar [15, 9, 16]	ison between m 5, 17].	letal oxide se	miconduc	tors and othe	r established fl	exible TFT te	chnologies

6 Chapter 1: Introduction

materials and fabrication techniques that are not utilized in standard Si MOSFET technology. Additionally, the electrical and mechanical properties of the resulting flexible TFTs are significantly different to those that can be achieved with standard rigid Si MOSFETs.

1.2.2.1 Materials

The realization of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs incorporates the use of different classes of materials: flexible substrates, dielectrics, conductive layers, and most importantly semiconductors.

Flexible substrates: In contrast to standard Si MOSFET technology, the substrate used for the realization of TFTs is in general not a part of the active device itself, since it only provides a surface for the fabrication process. Nevertheless, the substrate, especially if flexible, has a significant influence on the final TFT properties, as well as on the manufacturing process. The key requirements concerning the substrate are:

- The surface has to be compatible with standard thin-film fabrication technology, which calls for nanometer roughness values.
- The melting or glass transition temperature (T_m or T_G) has to be sufficiently high to be compatible with the chosen fabrication.
- The substrate has to be flexible enough, and at the same time has to provide sufficient stability for the manufacturing process.
- The deformation of the substrate caused by temperature gradients, mechanical load, and absorption (desorption) of gasses and liquids during the fabrication process has to be smaller than the minimum device feature size.
- Vacuum-processing techniques call for small outgassing rates, compatible with the available deposition tools.
- Concerning a future mass production and commercialization, the substrates should be at least potentially available in large quantities and sizes, as well as cost-effective.
- Furthermore, the substrate needs to be resistant to the chemicals used during the process (i.e. photoresists and developers).

• Finally, specific applications require substrates that are transparent, light-weight, conformable, stretchable, biocompatible, and even biodegradable.

Due to their properties and their availability, polymers are the natural choice and the most commonly used substrate material. Among the different polymers, polyimide (PI) foils with thicknesses between $5 \,\mu\text{m}$ [18] and $125 \,\mu\text{m}$ [19] are the most frequently utilized substrates. This is because of the numerous advantages of PI (commercially known as Kapton[®]): a small coefficient of thermal expansion (CTE) of 12×10^{-6} K, a small humidity expansion coefficient (9 × 10⁻⁶ %RH), a high T_G of $\approx 360 \,^{\circ}$ C, and a surface roughness in the nanometer range [20]. Since standard PI exhibits a yellowish to brownish color, other polymeric substrates have been introduced to benefit from their transparency in the visual wavelength range. These materials, which are in general also cheaper and more easily available, include polyethylene terephthalate (PET) [10] polyethylene naphthalate (PEN) [21], polyetheretherketone (PEEK) [22], polyarylate (PAR) [23], polycarbonate (PC) [24], polypropylene (PP) based synthetic paper [25], parylene [26], polyethersulfone (PES) [27], water-soluble polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) [28], as well as stretchable and biocompatible polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) [29].

An alternative to polymers is constituted by metal foils, such as Al foils [30], and stainless steel substrates [31]. The main benefit of metal foils is the high $T_m \ge 1000$ °C [32]. Nevertheless, metallic substrates are conductive and thus require additional insulating buffer layers, which increase weight and decrease flexibility.

Other typologies of supports include flexible and transparent glass substrates (with high T_G) [33], as well as paper [34].

Gate dielectrics: Besides the active layer, the gate dielectric plays also a key role in the device performance, due to the following reasons:

- The TFT drain current is directly proportional to the dielectric constant (ϵ_R) and inversely proportional to the thickness of the gate dielectric. For low-voltage device operation, thin gate dielectrics with high ϵ_R are desirable.
- The insulation properties, correlated with the specific resistance and pinhole density (and therefore the layer deposition quality) of the dielectric material define the gate leakage of the device.

8 Chapter 1: Introduction

• The quality of the interface between the gate dielectric and the semiconductor determines the interface trap density and influences thus the device performance and stability.

The most widely used gate dielectric is aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃), due to its comparably high ϵ_R around 9.5, its low pinhole density if deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD), and, especially in combination with metal oxide semiconductors, its good interface quality. Employed materials with a higher ϵ_R include hafnium oxide (HfO₂) [35], hafnium lanthanum oxide (HfLaO) [36], titanium oxide (TiO₂) [37], yttrium oxide (Y₂O₃) [10], zirconium oxide (ZrO₂) [38], and tantalum oxide (Ta₂O₅) [39]. Nevertheless, these dielectrics present a scarcer availability, a worst interface quality, as well as a reduced compatibility with the TFT fabrication process. At the same time silicon oxide is a more established material, but results in a reduced ϵ_R of \approx 3.9 [30].

Besides metal oxide dielectrics, also organic dielectrics can be used, especially solution-processed polymers like polyvinylpyrrolidon (PVP [40]), poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) [41], and PVA [42]. Nevertheless, compared to metal oxide dielectrics, polymers yield lower ϵ_R .

A third class of gate dielectrics are ferroelectric materials, in particular poly(vinylidene fluoride-trifluoroethylene) [P(VDF-TrFE)] [21]. P(VDF-TrFE) can be reversibly polarized and used to generate a gate hysteresis of up to several volts in the TFT transfer characteristics. Such hysteresis allows realizing non-volatile memory elements. Interestingly, recently also chicken albumen ferroelectric gate dielectrics have been demonstrated [25].

A fourth class of gate dielectric materials is constituted by solid electrolytes, which allow achieving low-voltage device operation [43]. This improvement is generally ascribed by a redistribution of mobile ions with the applied voltage.

To combine the advantageous properties of different dielectric materials, hybrid and multi-layer dielectrics can also be utilized, e.g. TiO_2 with HfO₂ [24] PVP-Al₂O₃ [19], as well as tri-layer stacks like TiO_2 sandwiched between SiO₂ or TiO₂ sandwiched between HfO₂ [37].

Finally, an interesting approach is constituted by the use of cellulose fiber-based paper acting both as substrate and gate dielectric [34].

Conductive layers: This class of materials includes metals and other conductors employed to fabricate gate and source/drain electrodes.

Since the gate contact of a TFT does not need to conduct a significant amount of current, the material is in general selected to achieve a high compatibility with the TFT fabrication process. Consequently a variety of different metals like silver (Ag) [44], aluminum (Al) [33], gold (Au) [21] chromium (Cr) [6], copper (Cu) [45], molybdenum (Mo) [46], nickel (Ni) [19], platinum (Pt) [45], titanium (Ti) [29] as well other metal alloys have been used as gate contacts [36]. As regards adhesion to the flexible substrate, Cr and Ti show good results, whereas Cr often suffers from a high built-in strain [47].

Multi-layer metals offer in general a compromise between good adhesion and high conductivity, especially in the case of Ti/Au [6], Ti/Cu [48], Cr/Au [33], or Ti/Au/Ti gate stacks [49].

Besides metals, transparent indium tin oxide (ITO) [26], indium zinc oxide (IZO) [34], indium oxide (In_2O_3) [50], zinc indium tin oxide (ZITO) [51], and aluminum zinc oxide (AZO) [52] can be utilized.

As regards source/drain electrodes, the material has to provide a high conductivity and at the same time a small contact resistance with the active layer. Moreover, also adhesion and/or transparency need to be considered. These requirements resulted in the use of different metals: Al [36], Au [53], Cu [29], Mo [46], and Ti [52], whereas Mo and Ti seem to exhibit the lowest specific contact resistance.

At the same time, a big variety of multi-layer contacts have been developed to combine the advantageous properties of different materials; recent examples are: Ti/Au [45], Ni/Au [34], Mo/Al [54], Cr/Au [20], Mo/Al/Mo [55], or Ti/Au/Ti [49].

Transparent source/drain can be realized with ITO [26] or IZO [43].

Finally, solution-deposited source/drain (as well as gate) contacts have been realized with organic poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) polystyrene sulfonate (PEDOT:PSS) [56] or ITO [57].

Semiconductors: The choice of the semiconducting active layer strongly influences the carrier mobility, and thus both the DC and the AC performance of flexible TFTs. In general, metal oxide semiconductors are characterized by a wide band gap ($E_g > 3 \text{ eV}$), a large transmission in the visible range (>80 %), a high carrier concentration in the order of 10^{16} cm^{-3} - 10^{21} cm^{-3} , and a carrier mobility above $10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ [58]. The predominantly n-type characteristics is explained by the electronic structure of metal oxide semiconductors. The

conduction band minimum (CBM) of metal oxide semiconductors is indeed formed by highly dispersive unoccupied metal orbitals, whereas the valence band maximum (VBM) is constituted by fully occupied and localized oxygen orbitals. Due to the spherical (i.e. non directional) properties of the metal orbitals, electron transport can easily occur through the direct overlap of the metal orbitals in neighboring metal cations, whereas hole transport is prevented by a larger effective mass [9]. Nevertheless, together with a large range of n-type vacuumand solution-processed metal oxide semiconductors, also p-type active layers have also been demonstrated.

In the case of flexible n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs, amorphous indium gallium zinc oxide (IGZO) is the most used material [21]. State of the art flexible amorphous IGZO TFTs exhibit average field-effect mobility μ_{FE} of $\approx 15 \text{ cm}^2 \text{ V}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ (with maximum values up to 76 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [37]). Also c-axis aligned crystalline (CAAC) IGZO TFTs on plastic foils have been demonstrated [59]. Crystalline ZnO is the second most used vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor in flexible TFTs [35]. Other metal oxide semiconductors used are: IZO [60], gallium zinc oxide (GZO) [61] and zinc tin oxide (ZTO) [62]. Despite being considered a conductor in general, thin layers of ITO can also be used [44].

Contrary to most organic semiconducting materials, metal oxide semiconductors are not at all or only poorly soluble in common solvents. This is why, solution-processing of metal oxide semiconductors typically requires a chemical reaction (synthesis) between suitable reagents (the so-called precursors) at high process temperatures, which limits their deposition on flexible substrates. Most suitable metal oxide semiconducting materials that can be solution-processed at low temperatures are crystalline and binary In₂O₃ and ZnO. Flexible TFTs based on neat solution-processed In₂O₃ or ZnO films exhibit μ_{FE} values up to $4 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [63] and $7 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [64], respectively. Recently also IZO [65], ZTO [38], indium gallium oxide (IGO) [66], and IGZO [57] have been solution-deposited at low temperatures.

Realizing p-type TFTs with metal oxide semiconductors is complicated, especially if low temperatures are targeted to fabricate on flexible substrates. To date, only tin oxide (SnO_x) [34] and cuprous oxide (Cu_xO) [67] have been incorporated into flexible p-type TFTs. In particular, flexible SnO_x and Cu_xO devices yield a maximum μ_{FE} of 5.87 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [68] and 0.0022 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [67], respectively. To date and to the best of my knowledge, there is no report on flexible p-type solution-processed metal oxide semiconductor devices. This is why alternative p-type active layers that allow room temperature processing are under investigation. An interesting material is copper (I) thiocyanate (CuSCN) – an inorganic molecular compound– that can be easily spin-casted at low process temperatures [69]. Nevertheless, up to now, only rigid TFTs based on solution-processed CuSCN layers have been demonstrated (with $\mu_{\rm FE}$ up to 0.5 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹) [69].

1.2.2.2 Fabrication techniques

The fabrication of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs utilizes several approaches to prepare (and/or handle) the flexible substrates, as well as to deposit and structure the various device layers. Some of these approaches (especially for vacuum-processed devices) employ standard semiconductor fabrication tools, while other approaches require techniques especially developed for flexible TFTs.

Substrate preparation: Free-standing flexible substrates are widely employed [61], due to their compatibility with large-scale substrates and future roll-to-roll processes, as well as due to their mechanical robustness (resulting in insensitivity against mechanical shocks). At the same time free-standing substrates also present drawbacks:

- They have to be sufficiently thick and stable to be mechanically handled with tweezers.
- They can suffer from expansion caused by temperature gradients or by the absorption of solvents.
- They have to be temporarily attached to a rigid carrier (at least during the use of standard photolithographic tools).

One way to simplify the use of photolithographic tools like mask aligners or spinners is to bond the flexible foil to a glass or Si wafer for the complete fabrication process [21].

In alternative to flexible foils manufactured independently from the TFTs, it is also possible to create the flexible substrate by covering a host substrate with a polymer [26]. The advantages of these fabrication techniques based on a rigid support are a high compatibility with the standard fabrication processes on Si or glass wafers, a reduction of the expansion of the substrate during the manufacturing process, as well as the possibility to realize devices on very thin ($\approx 1 \mu m$) substrates. After the TFT fabrication is completed, the flexible foils or thin deposited polymer layers carrying the devices can be separated from the rigid support using: 1) mechanical peeling [32], 2) a low adhesion releasing layer [70], 3) a supporting laser [71], or 4) a sacrificial layer between the host carrier and the polymer [29].

In addition to the different handling possibilities, the substrate preparation typically includes a heat treatment step prior to the device fabrication itself. In the case of fabrication on free-standing plastic foil or foil bonded to a host substrate, the substrate is backed at high temperatures (around 200 °C) for several hours, to remove trapped residual liquids [36]. This step allows also pre-shrinking flexible substrates that are not permanently attached to a rigid support.

Deposition methods: Besides the standard criteria used for thin-film deposition techniques on Si or glass wafer (e.g homogenous and dense layers), there are extra requirements that are especially important for the realization of flexible devices. These include:

- Low process temperatures, compatible with the thermal resistance of the employed flexible substrates.
- A sufficient adhesion of the deposited materials to the substrate, in order to prevent a possible delimitation of the layers, especially when the substrate is bent.
- Finally, the strain built in the deposited materials has to be small enough to allow good mechanical properties (e.g. bendability) of the final devices.

The predominant technique to deposit n-type and p-type vacuumprocessed metal oxide semiconductors is sputtering (RF, RF-magnetron, or DC [68, 6]). The advantages of sputtering are the large availability of sputter tools, the low (typically room) deposition temperature, as well as the good adhesion and dense structure of the final layers. Additionally, sputter tools offer several opportunities to optimize the layer properties, by adjusting the power and/or the sputtering pressure. Furthermore, ZnO can also be deposited by ALD [52], plasma enhanced atomic layer deposition (PEALD) [18], and pulsed laser deposition (PLD) [10]. Even if ALD has the advantage that the layers are conformal, the process is slow and less prone to variations.

The deposition of dielectrics aims at a high ϵ_R , a low pinhole density and a good sidewall coverage. This is why, conformal deposition techniques are well-suited, especially ALD [26], PEALD [18], and plasmaenhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD) [61]. These depositions are in general done at temperatures between 150 °C and 200 °C.

As regards the deposition of conductive materials, we have to distinguish between metals and transparent metal oxide conductors. Metals are typically deposited using e-beam [6] or thermal evaporation [19], which ensure a non-conformal shape of the layers that is beneficial for subsequent lift-off processes. Non metallic but transparent metal oxide conductors have been fabricated mainly by sputtering [32].

At the same time, semiconductors, dielectrics and conductive films can also be solution-deposited using the following techniques:

- Spin-coating is the most common coating method, due to the simplicity, the low investment costs, as well as the resulting homogeneous and reproducible film properties. As a drawback, spincoating can only be carried out in batch processes and becomes more difficult when the substrate size is increased. Spin-coating is commonly utilized to grow metal oxide semiconductors (e.g. In₂O₃ [65], ZnO [42], or IGZO [57]), organic and metal oxide gate dielectrics (e.g. PVP [40], P(VDF-TrFE) [21] or Al₂O₃ [57]), and sometimes also source/drain and gate electrodes (ITO [57]).
- Drop casting is probably the simplest deposition technique, especially suited for nanowire (NW) or nanorod (NR) metal oxide semiconductors [72].
- Hydrothermal growth is a solution-based method that can be easily configured to achieve compact films (e.g. ZnO [64]).
- A more sophisticated method is ink-jet printing, which is a digitally controlled drop-on-demand deposition technique. During ink-jet printing, the metal oxide semiconductor is deposited only where needed, preventing waste of material and need for subsequent patterning steps. However, due to the patterned deposition, the ink drying conditions need to be specially controlled, in order to avoid irregularities and effects like the coffee ring

14 Chapter 1: Introduction

formation. Ink-jet printing has been utilized mainly to deposit metal oxide semiconductors (ZnO, In₂O₃, or ZTO) [38].

- In the process of spray pyrolysis, a fine spray of the precursor solution is created (using an air-blast or an ultrasonic nozzle) and directed onto a heated substrate [73]. Given a sufficiently high substrate temperature, the precursor immediately undergoes the conversion reaction and forms the final film material. In addition to the specific precursor material and concentration, parameters such as substrate temperature, droplet size and distribution, as well as solvent type and feed rate present the toolbox to fine tune the material parameters. Good film properties of metal oxide semiconductors processed via spray pyrolysis are normally achieved for temperatures \geq 300 °C-400 °C [74], thereby ruling out plastic substrates. However, recent advances have enabled the realization of spray-coated In₂O₃ TFTs at 250 °C on rigid substrates [73]. Main advantage of spray pyrolysis is the possibility to automate the process, ensuring repeatability of the film characteristics. In addition, the spray pyrolysis deposition can be further up-scaled, and potentially run in a continuous process.
- Aerosol-jet printing combines attributes from spray pyrolysis and ink-jet printing. In aerosol-jet printing, a fine mist is created and shaped (by an inert carrier gas and a special nozzle design), allowing localized and digitally controlled deposition. Aerosoljet printing has been utilized to realize semiconductors (ZnO), dielectrics (ionic gel), and gate electrodes (PEDOT:PSS) [56].

Layer structuring: As for the structuring of layers on rigid wafers, patterning of thin-films on flexible substrates is mainly done by etching and lift-off processes. However, the definition of flexible structures needs to be adapted to the mechanical and chemical properties of the substrates. Since the most common substrates, in particular PI foils, are resistant to standard photolithographic chemicals, UV lithography is widely used [32]. Employing etching and lift-off processes allows realizing flexible structures with lateral feature size down to 1 μ m [75]. If the chosen substrate is not resistant to chemicals (e.g. photoresists, developers and/or strippers) and if feature sizes \gg 1 μ m are sufficient, shadow masking can be used [36]. Shadow mask structuring does not require any photoresist baking step and allows therefore preventing unintended annealing of the devices, as well as undesired thermal load

of the substrate leading to subsequent expansion. The problem of substrate expansion is illustrated by the fact that a 7.6 cm × 7.6 cm large PI substrate undergoes an expansion of ~25 µm (in each direction) during a 150 °C TFT fabrication process [20]. Due to this expansion, tolerances of ~10 µm on the photolithographic masks are necessary, limiting the minimum feature sizes that can be achieved. In particular, special care needs to be taken during the alignment of the source/drain contacts to the gate electrode, which can result in large total overlap lengths (L_{OV}) and low transit frequencies (f_T). A solution to misalignment caused by thermally-induced substrate expansion is constituted by self-aligned (SA) lithography. Due to the transparency of the majority of flexible substrates, the photoresist can be structured using back-side exposure and predefined opaque patterns (e.g. metallic gate contacts) [75]. In this way, there is no need for tolerances on the photolithographic masks and feature sizes down to 0.5 µm are possible [20].

Additionally, some solution deposition techniques allow alternative structuring possibilities. For example, ink-jet and aerosol-jet printing are direct writing methods (i.e. the liquid deposition is carried out only where desired) that enable feature sizes down to few tens of microns [56]. Finally, even if not inherently a direct writing method, spray pyrolysis can be combined with shadow masking.

Device configurations: Most peculiar planar TFT structures are: bottom-gate (BG) and top-gate (TG) architectures, depending whether the gate electrode is deposited before or after the active layer. BG and TG devices can be either staggered or coplanar, depending if the source/drain contacts are on the opposite or on the same side of the semiconductor/dielectric interface. BG [19], especially staggered, are the most common geometry due to easier processing and enhanced performance [9]. Nevertheless, BG structures call for an additional layer (back-channel passivation) that protects the back channel from air exposure and therefore hinders undesired instability effects [9]. TG structures are also well employed, especially in combination with fragile gate dielectrics that do not survive extensive processing and/or chemicals [e.g. P(VDF-TrFE)] [53]. Additionally, in TG TFTs the gate dielectric can also act as a passivation, reducing thus the number of patterning steps [10]. To improve the DC performance, double-gate (DG) TFT structures can be employed [47]. In DG TFTs, an additional gate is utilized to effectively control the semiconductor channel.

1.2.2.3 Electrical performance

One of the main reasons why flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs have received an increasingly amount of attention in the last years is their electrical performance, which is superior to other flexible TFT platforms, especially organic and a-Si technologies (see Table 1.1).

N-type vacuum-processed TFTs: Table 1.2 presents an overview of the electrical performance of state of the art flexible n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. The best performance parameters ever reported for flexible n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs are highlighted in **bold**.

The best DC performance parameters include: a μ_{FE} of 76 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ [37], a sub-threshold swing SS as low as 69 mV/dec [47], and current on/off ratio I_{ON}/I_{OFF} up to 2 × 10¹⁰ [45]. Furthermore, a wide range of positive and negative threshold voltage (V_{TH}) values have been presented, illustrating that it is possible to realize both enhancement and depletion mode TFTs.

The AC performance of flexible field-effect transistors (FETs) is typically quantified by the transit frequency f_T [77], which is given by [78]:

$$f_T = \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi} \cdot \frac{g_m}{C_G} \propto \frac{\mu_{FE}}{L \cdot (L + L_{OV})},\tag{1.1}$$

where g_m is the transconductance ($g_m = \frac{dl_D}{dV_{GS}}$), C_G the gate capacitance, μ_{FE} the effective mobility, L the channel length, and L_{OV} the total overlap length between gate and source/drain electrodes. A first approximation of f_T can be calculated from g_m and C_G values extracted from the current-voltage and capacitance-voltage TFT characteristics, respectively. A more precise value of the f_T can be calculated by measuring the TFT's S-parameters and calculating the corresponding small signal current gain h_{21} as a function of the frequency. f_T is then given by the value where $|h_{21}|$ equals 1. Even if f_T is an important parameter (e.g. for analog circuits), it is only rarely measured and reported. A few direct measurements of f_T of flexible n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs resulted in values in the Megahertz regime [75, 20], with the highest f_T value of 135 MHz reported for a flexible self-aligned IGZO TFT with 500 nm channel length [20].

- 15 0.43 -	50 5 0.55 - 50 1.9 1.4 1	50 5 0.55 - 50 1.9 1.4 1 50 3.5 0.72 1 0.7 0.025 - 1	50 5 0.55 - 50 1.9 1.4 1 50 3.5 0.72 1 0.7 0.025 - 1 125 3.3 1.89 10.000
32	60 60	10 60 15	- 10 - 15 - 1
	1 1	- 135	135
1×10^{3}	2×10^9 2×10^{10}	2×10^9 2×10^{10} 2×10^9	$\begin{array}{c} 2 \times 10^9 \\ 2 \times \mathbf{10^{10}} \\ 2 \times 10^9 \\ 2 \times 10^9 \\ 5 \times 10^9 \end{array}$
129	69 126	69 126 130 165	69 126 165 200
0.5	0.95	0.95	0.95 1 0 0.6 4.1
76	8.5 15.3	8.5 15.3 7.5 17	8.5 15.3 7.5 17 17 15.5
IGZO TFT with stacked TiO ₂ dielectric [37],	DG IGZU IF1 [47], BG IGZO TFT [45]	DG IGZO TFT [47], BG IGZO TFT [45], SA IGZO TFT [20], IGZO TFT on thin PI [6],	DG IGZO TFT [47], BG IGZO TFT [45], SA IGZO TFT [20], IGZO TFT on thin PI [6], hybrid buffer [76],

oxide semiconductor TFTs. The best performance parameters ever reported are highlighted in **bold**.

1.2. State of the Art

17

N-type solution-processed TFTs: Table 1.3 presents an overview of the electrical performance of state of the art flexible n-type solutionprocessed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. As shown in Table 1.3, the DC performance strongly depends on the semiconductor solution deposition approach (based on nano-scaled shapes or precursors) and technique, as well as on the maximum process temperature. As regards devices based on nano-scaled shapes, a wide range of performance parameters can be obtained in dependence of the employed shape, e.g. nanoparticles (NPs), nanorods (NRs) or nanowires (NWs). On one hand, flexible NP TFTs typically yield a low $\mu_{FE} \ll 1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [72]. The limited performance of flexible NP-based devices can be attributed to the large surface roughness of flexible foils (if compared to rigid Si or glass substrates), which limits the realization of highquality nanoparticles. On the other hand, NWs allow realizing longer TFT channels (extending over several microns) based on long range and undisturbed crystalline metal oxide semiconductors. Therefore flexible NW metal oxide semiconductor devices exhibit μ_{FE} up to $120 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ (for In₂O₃ NW TFTs) [79]. Nevertheless, the random orientation and placement of NWs currently hinders their integration in large-area substrates. Especially for integration purposes, TFTs based on n-type metal oxide semiconductors solution-processed from precursors are preferable. Flexible TFTs based on metal oxide semiconductor solution-processed from precursors yield a widespread range of μ_{FE} values between $\approx 0.1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [83] up to $84 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [57].

To date, no AC performance of flexible n-type solution-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs has been reported.

P-type TFTs: Table 1.4 compares the electrical performance obtained for recently reported flexible p-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs. As shown in Table 1.4, flexible p-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor devices yield μ_{FE} up to 5.87 cm² V⁻¹ s⁻¹ (for SnO_x TFTs) [68] and I_{ON}/I_{OFF} up to 4 x 10⁴ [84].

To date, no AC performance of flexible p-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs has been reported.

1.2.2.4 Mechanical properties

A complete set of performance parameters of flexible TFTs cannot be limited to the electrical characteristics, but needs to deal also with the mechanical properties. Bending is the most common technique

	Semicond. Deposition	Max. Temp. (°C)	$({ m cm}^2 { m V}^{-1} { m s}^{-1})$	$\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{V}_{TH} \\ \mathrm{(V)} \end{array}$	I _{ON} /I _{OFF}	Substrate Thickness (μm)	Bending Radius (mm)	Strain (%)	Bending Cycles
ZnO NR TFT with electrolyte dielectric [72],	Drop- casting	150	0.03	0.8	1×10^{2}	1	1.1	I	100
In ₂ O ₃ NP TFT with electrolyte dielectric [80],	Ink-jet printing	RT	0.8	0.55	2×10^{3}	125	,	ı	ı
ZnO TFT with PVP dielectric [42],	Spin- casting	200	0.09	5.4	1×10^{5}	12	4.3	ı	10000
ZnO TFT with electrolyte dielectric [56],	Aerosol-jet printing	250	1.6	0.97	1×10^{5}	50	25	1	10000
Quasi-superlattice TFT with ZrO ₂ /Al ₂ O ₃ dielectrics [81],	Spin- casting	175	11	0.5	1×10^{5}	ı	I	I	
IGZO TFT with Al ₂ O ₃ :Zr dielectric [82],	Spin- casting	150	7.7	1.26	1×10^9	ß	1	ı	ı
IGZO TFTs with Al ₂ O ₃ dielectric [57].	Spin- casting	350	84	0.6	1×10^{5}	18	10	I	320
Table 1.3: Set of perform oxide semiconductor TF	ance parame Ts. The best	ters ex perfor	tracted from mance parar	state o	of the art ever rep	flexible n-ty orted are hi	pe solutio ghlighted	n-proce in bol c	essed metal

1.2. State of the Art

19

ocessed met	vacuum-pr	xible p-type	the art fle	om state of	neters extracted fro	rmance param	Table 1.4: Set of perfo
ı	ı	ı	1×10^{2}	-11.73	2.51	Room/200	SnO _x TFT with P(VDF-TrFE) dielectric [85].
200	10	ı	6×10^{3}	Ļ	5.87	Room/150	SnO _x TFT with HfO ₂ dielectric [68],
1	1	ı	$4 imes 10^4$	ı	0.8	Room/-	Nano-crystalline Cu _x O TFT [84],
1	1	75	1×10^{2}	-1.4	1.3	Room/150	SnO_x TFT with and on paper [34],
ı	ı	I	ı	-4.75	0.0022	Room/150	Cu _x O TFT [67],
Bending Cycles	Bending Radius (mm)	Substrate Thickness (µm)	Ion/Ioff	V _{TH} (V)	$^{-}\mu_{FE}~({ m cm}^2{ m V}^{-1}{ m s}^{-1})$	Depos./Anneal Temp. (°C)	

oxide semiconductor TFTs. The best performance parameters ever reported are highlighted in **bold**. al

Chapter 1: Introduction

20

employed to induce strain in flexible TFTs. This is mainly because bent thin-film devices enable many applications like rollable displays, smart labels, seamless and embedded patch-like systems, electronic textiles, and implantable electronic devices for medical equipment. While rollable displays, smart labels, as well as embedded patch-like systems can be realized using flexible TFTs with minimum bending radii in the centimeter range, smart electronic textiles call for much smaller radii in the sub-millimeter regime. On the other side, medical applications need thin-film devices that can adapt to the human body, e.g. to a human hair that exhibits a radius of \approx 50 µm.

Bendability: Flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs, especially based on vacuum-processed IGZO active layers, bent to different radii (mainly in the centimeter range) have been characterized by many research groups [26, 18, 19, 37, 32, 30]. Mechanical bending tests are in general performed by winding the flexible TFT substrate around cylindrical rods. At the same time, some research groups have also developed automated bending testers, which can be used to perform multiple bending and re-flattening cycles [19, 18], as well as to characterize the TFTs at arbitrary bending radii while the devices are connected to a parameter analyzer [86]. The approach based on the bending tester allows carefully controlling the applied strain during the entire measurement, and in some cases also ensures a permanent and reliable contact between the TFTs and the characterization equipment. Independently of the measurement setup, flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs can be bent down to $50 \,\mu\text{m}$ in the case of tensile (outward) bending [26] and down to $25 \,\mu$ m for compressive (inward) bending [6]. As visible from Table 1.2, the maximum strain values do not only depend on the minimum bending radius, but also on the device materials and thicknesses. Since the calculation of the mechanical strain in a multi-layer system can be complex, different equations have been used to estimate numerical values of the strain induced by bending. One of the most common approximations is the following [87]:

$$\epsilon = \left(\frac{1}{r} \pm \frac{1}{r_0}\right) \times \frac{t_S + t_D}{2} \times \frac{\frac{Y_D}{Y_S} \left(\frac{t_D}{t_S}\right)^2 + 2\frac{Y_D}{Y_S} \frac{t_D}{t_S} + 1}{\frac{Y_D}{Y_S} \left(\frac{t_D}{t_S}\right)^2 + \frac{Y_D}{Y_S} \frac{t_D}{t_S} + \frac{t_D}{t_S} + 1},$$
 (1.2)

where r is the bending radius, r₀ is the initial bending radius caused

by the built-in strain (has to be added if the built-in strain is in the opposite direction as the induced strain, elsewhere subtracted), t_S and t_D are respectively the thicknesses of the substrate and of the device, and Y_S and Y_D are the Young's moduli of the substrate and the device, respectively. The highest strain values at which flexible n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductor TFTs have been able to operate is 1.89 % (tensile direction) [76].

In addition to one-time bending tests, also the TFT resistance to mechanical fatigue caused by repeated bending and re-flattening cycles has been investigated. In particular, tensile bending cycles up to 100.000 have been reported [71, 19].

Influence of strain: While the majority of the published bending measurements have only confirmed the functionality of the devices at a given bending radius or after repeated bending cycles, other more sophisticated experiments have focused on the influence of strain on the electrical TFT performance. In the majority of the cases (for vacuum-processed IGZO TFTs), bending results in a increase of the drain current under tensile bending, and in a decrease of the drain current under tensile bending, and in a decrease of the drain current under tensile bending, and in a decrease of the drain current compressive strain. At a typical tensile strain of ≈ 0.5 %, the drain current changes are caused by an increase of the μ_{FE} by ≈ 2.5 % and by a decrease of the V_{TH} by $\approx 20\text{-}200 \text{ mV}$. At the same time, compressive strain of ≈ 0.5 % causes μ_{FE} and V_{TH} changes around ≈ -2 % and $\approx 10\text{-}150 \text{ mV}$, respectively [47, 31, 30, 45]. The observed V_{TH} and μ_{FE} shifts induced under tensile/compressive bending have been explained by an increase/decrease of the carrier density caused either by the creation of oxygen vacancies [88] or by a change of the electronic structure [86].

1.2.3 Flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based circuits

For future applications, not only single metal oxide semiconductor TFTs, but also circuits constituted by a larger number of devices are required. The majority of the reported circuits are digital gates or analog amplifiers based on unipolar n-type vacuum-processed metal oxide semiconductors (mainly IGZO) [86]. N-type solution-processed metal oxide semiconducting materials are only rarely used for circuits, and in any case only for unipolar inverters (NOT gates) or test structures like ring oscillators (ROs) [56, 72]. At the same time, complementary circuits can be realized by either employing n- and p-type metal oxide semiconductors, or by complementing n-type metal oxide active layers with p-type organic materials.

1.2.3.1 Unipolar circuits

Due to the scarce performance and availability of p-type metal oxide semiconductors, n-type unipolar circuits (both digital and analog) have been widely employed.

Digital circuits: Flexible unipolar vacuum-processed IGZO NOT gates can typically achieve gains up to 2.5 V/V at 20 V supply [89], whereas aerosol-jet printed ZnO NOT gates yield gains up to 8 V/V (at a supply voltage of 2 V) [56]. Besides NOT gates, ROs (i.e. digital test circuits comprising an odd number of NOT gates –the so-called delay stages– connected in a closed loop chain) are commonly utilized. Key parameter for ROs is the stage delay, which is a measure of the maximum switching speed that can be achieved in larger digital gates. The lowest stage delay ever reported is of 16 ns at 18 V supply voltage (for vacuum-processed ZnO 16-stage ROs) [90]. At the same time, also IGZO-based NAND gates [6], display driving circuits (e.g. line drivers [91] or shift registers [92]), as well as near-field communication (NFC) transceivers [46] (with up to 438 TFTs and an occupied area of 10.884 mm²) have been reported.

Analog circuits: To date, the majority of the reported flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based analog circuits are single- or multiple-stage amplifiers. The highest DC gain of 44.67 V/V and gain bandwidth product (GBWP) of 18.5 MHz has been achieved for a self-aligned IGZO TFT-based Cherry-Hooper amplifier [93]. Apart from this example, other metal oxide semiconductor-based amplifiers show DC gains \leq 20 V/V and GBWP \leq 2.2 MHz. The flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based analog circuit with the largest TFT count is an operational amplifier with 16 IGZO TFTs [94].

1.2.3.2 Complementary circuits

Low-power and compact circuit design calls for complementary circuitry based on n- and p-type TFTs with similar performance (especially μ_{FE}). This is particularly difficult in the case of metal oxide semiconductors, due to the typically low μ_{FE} of flexible p-type devices.

For this reason, only few groups have reported flexible complementary circuits (mainly NOT gates and ROs) based on n- and p-type metal oxide semiconductor TFTs [34, 67, 35]. To overcome this bottleneck, other technologies have been considered to realize the p-type channel. For instance, p-type organic semiconductors like pentacene [95], poly-(9,9-dioctylfluorene-co-bithiophene) (F8T2) [96], and single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) [97] have been combined with n-type metal oxide active layers to realize flexible hybrid complementary circuits.

Digital circuits: Flexible complementary metal oxide semiconductorbased NOT gates achieve gains up to 165 V/V nearly perfectly centered at midpoint voltages $V_M = 14$ V (for supply voltages of 30 V) [98]. Besides NOT gates, also complementary NAND or NOR logic gates (e.g with IGZO and SnO_x [99] or with IGZO and SWCNTs [97]) and ROs (with up to 1004 IGZO and SWCNT TFTs [97]) have been shown.

Analog circuits: At the same time, by complementing IGZO TFTs with SnO_x TFTs, flexible common-source and differential amplifiers with gains respectively of 16.3 V/V and 4.1 V/V have been realized [99]. Finally, also common-source amplifiers based on IGZO and SWCNT devices with gains >1.77 V/V have been shown [100].

1.3 Objectives

This thesis aims at exploring and advancing the field of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible electronics. The first objective of the work focuses on short-channel flexible metal oxide semiconductor devices and how the device structure and fabrication process can be modified to realize TFTs with sub-500 nm feature sizes. Here, vertically integrated device architectures (both vertical and quasi-vertical TFT geometries) are investigated and applied to flexible IGZO TFTs. Additionally, the use of two-photon direct laser writing (DLW) photolithography is also explored as a viable route to manufacture flexible planar IGZO TFTs with short channel lengths. In the second objective, the focus is on low-temperature and scalable manufacturing techniques and how the materials and processes can be adapted to obtain flexible devices based on solution-deposited semiconductors. In particular, flexible TFTs and unipolar circuits based on spray-coated In₂O₃ n-type active layers are shown. Furthermore, also flexible TFTs and unipolar circuits based on spin-coated p-type inorganic CuSCN and organic SWCNTs are demonstrated. In the last objective, the integration of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible electronic applications is tackled. In particular, flexible non-volatile memory devices employing ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics and IGZO active layers are first investigated. Then, flexible complementary circuits based on the integration of n-type metal oxide semiconductors (either IGZO or spray-coated In₂O₃) and p-type solution-processed SWCNTs are presented. Especially, the realization of flexible complementary circuits employing fully solution-deposited semiconductors is evaluated as a step towards flexible low-power and solution-processed electronics.

1.3.1 Flexible short-channel device structures

The realization of flexible metal oxide semiconductor devices is in general difficult due to the limited thermal and mechanical stability of flexible substrates. On one hand, when frequencies below 100 Hz are sufficient for applications like optical displays these limitations can be overcome with large feature sizes and tolerances. On the other hand, when frequencies in the Megahertz regime are targeted for flexible and compact transceivers, RFID tags, or AM radios novel device structures and fabrication processes are required to achieve short channel lengths.

In this thesis, the following research questions concerning shortchannel flexible metal oxide semiconductor devices are tackled:

- Which specific properties of flexible substrates limit the minimum feature sizes of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs?
- Which device structures and fabrication processes allow overcoming these limitations?
- How can such device structures reliably be applied to realize flexible IGZO TFTs with sub-500 nm channel lengths?
- Can the resulting short-channel IGZO TFTs be bent to radii in the centimeter range?

1.3.2 Solution-based materials and processes

To fully exploit the potential of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for next-generation electronic applications (e.g. rollable and foldable displays, disposable smart labels), the development of large-area and simple solution processes is required. Among the various solution techniques demonstrated, spray pyrolysis is especially appealing since it offers a scalable and cost-effective route for high throughput and large-area deposition of various metal oxide semiconductors. Recent development in low-temperature spray pyrolysis have allowed the fabrication of n-type In_2O_3 TFTs at 250 °C on rigid substrates [73].

Within this work the following research questions are addressed, aiming at the evaluation of solution-processed materials and processes for flexible devices:

- Is it possible to realize flexible TFTs employing In₂O₃ spraydeposited at temperatures ≤250 °C?
- Can the resulting In₂O₃ TFTs be bent to radii in the centimeter range?
- Can logic circuits based on spray-coated In₂O₃ be fabricated?
- What is a suitable inorganic or organic low-temperature solution-processable p-type semiconductors?

1.3.3 Material and device integration and application

To realize novel flexible electronic applications (e.g. smart labels and intelligent packaging, seamless and embedded electronic devices, wearable sensory systems), also memory and logic functionality need to be integrated on flexible substrates. At this regard, memories as well as logic circuits that combine mechanical flexibility, small footprint, and low-power dissipation are required. As regards memory functionality, an attractive possibility is offered by ferroelectric gate dielectrics [especially P(VDF-TrFE)], which can be integrated in flexible TFTs to realize non-volatile memories. However, to use these nonvolatile memories in flexible applications, it is crucial to understand their behavior under applied mechanical strain (both tensile and compressive), especially in view of the piezoelectric properties of P(VDF-TrFE). For logic functionality, low-power and compact complementary
circuits are desirable. Nevertheless, the realization of a flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based complementary technology is limited by the scarce performance and availability of p-type TFTs. At this regard, p-type organic semiconductors (especially SWCNTs) are drawing considerable attention, owing to their good electrical and mechanical properties, as well as solution-processability.

In this thesis, answers to the following research questions concerning the integration and application of flexible metal oxide semiconductors will be given:

- What is the influence of mechanical strain (both tensile and compressive) on the performance of non-volatile flexible memory TFTs employing ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics?
- Is it possible to integrate solution-processed SWCNTs with n-type metal oxide semiconductors (either IGZO or spraydeposited In₂O₃) to realize flexible complementary logic circuits?
- Can the resulting flexible complementary logic circuits be bent to radii in the centimeter range?

1.4 Thesis Outline

The thesis is structured into seven chapters. In chapter 2, a summary of the achievements is given, the conclusions are drawn and the limitations of the work are highlighted. Finally, an outlook over the field with a prediction of possible future research directions is provided. In chapters 3 to 7, five scientific publications are presented, according to the order shown in Table 1.5. Fig. 1.1 explains the structure of the thesis together with the relation of each scientific article to the formulated objectives of this work.

In chapter 3, short-channel flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs are first reviewed. Then, vertical TFT (VTFT) structures are introduced and applied to fabricate flexible IGZO devices with channel lengths down to 500 nm. The realization of even shorter channel lengths of 300 nm by means of quasi-vertical TFT (QVTFT) architectures is presented in chapter 4. In chapter 5, the focus is on solution-processed metal oxide semiconductors for flexible devices. In particular, flexible TFTs and unipolar logic circuits based on spray-coated

Table 1.5: Publications and corresponding chapters in this thesis.

Chapter	Publication
3	Mechanically flexible vertically integrated a-IGZO thin-film transistors with 500 nm channel length fab- ricated on free standing plastic foil L. Petti, P. Aguirre, N. Münzenrieder, G.A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, A. Frutiger, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, and G. Tröster IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM, San Francisco, USA, pp. 11.4.1-11.4.4, 2013
4	 Flexible quasi-vertical In-Ga-Zn-O thin-film transistor with 300 nm channel length L. Petti, A. Frutiger, N. Münzenrieder, G.A. Salvatore, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Cantarella, and G. Tröster IEEE Electron Device Letters, 36 (5), pp. 475-477, 2015
5	Low-temperature spray-deposited indium oxide for flexible thin-film transistors and integrated circuits L. Petti, H. Faber, N. Münzenrieder, G. Cantarella, P.A. Pat- salas, G. Tröster, and T.D. Anthopoulos Applied Physics Letters, 106 (9), p. 092105, 2015
6	Influence of mechanical bending on flexible InGaZnO-based ferroelectric memory TFTs L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G.A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Büthe, and G. Tröster IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, 61 (4), pp. 1085- 1092, 2014
7	Integration of solution-processed (7,5) SWCNTs with sputtered and spray-coated metal oxides for flexible complementary inverters L. Petti, F. Bottacchi, N. Münzenrieder, H. Faber, G. Cantarella, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, I. Namal, F. Späth, T. Her- tel, T.D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM, San Francisco, USA, pp. 26.4.1-26.4.4, 2014



Figure 1.1: Outline of the thesis, structured into seven chapters.

 In_2O_3 are demonstrated. The last two chapters 6 and 7 deal with the application of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible electronics. In chapter 6, non-volatile memory TFTs based on IGZO active layers and ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics are described. To evaluate the use of the memory TFTs in flexible applications, the influence of mechanical strain on the device performance is also explained in detail. Finally, chapter 7 shows the realization of flexible complementary logic circuits based on the integration of SWCNTs and metal oxide semiconductors (either IGZO or spray-coated In_2O_3).

1.5 Additional Publications

The following publications have been written in addition to those presented in this thesis:

• L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Vogt, H. Faber, L. Büthe, G. Cantarella, F. Bottacchi, T. D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster, Metal Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors for Flexible Electronics. Accepted in *Applied Physics Review*, 2016.

- G. Cantarella, C. Vogt, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, L. Petti, A. Daus, L. Büthe, S. Knobelspies and G. Tröster. Tunable wrinkle formation of PDMS for stretchable IGZO TFTs. In *12th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC)*, [best poster award], 2016.
- A. Daus, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, S. Knobelspies, G. Cantarella, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Low-voltage flexible memory thin-film transistor based on charge generation from Fowler-Nordheim tunnel stress. In *12th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC)*, 2016.
- R. Shabanpour, C. Carta, K. Ishida, T. Meister, B. K. Boroujeni, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore, G. Tröster and F. Ellinger. Baseband amplifiers in a-IGZO TFT technology for flexible audio systems. In *International Symposium on Intelligent Signal Processing and Communication Systems (ISPACS)*, pages 357–361, 2015.
- C. Vogt, L. Büthe, L. Petti, G. Cantarella, N. Münzenrieder, A. Daus and G. Tröster. Design and simulation of a 800 Mbit/s data link for magnetic resonance imaging wearables. In *37th Annual International Conference of the IEEE in Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC)*, pages 1323–1326, 2015.
- F. Ellinger, K. Ishida, R. Shabanpour, T. Meister, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore, G. Tröster, N. Münzenrieder. Radio frequency electronics on plastic. In *SBMO/IEEE MTT-S International Conference on Microwave and Optoelectronics Conference* (*IMOC*), pages 1–5, 2015.
- K. Ishida, R. Shabanpour, T. Meister, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, G. Tröster and F. Ellinger. 15 dB conversion gain, 20 MHz carrier frequency AM receiver in flexible a-IGZO TFT technology with textile antennas. In *Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI Technology)*, pages C194–C195, 2015.
- R. Shabanpour, K. Ishida, T. Meister, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, G.Tröster and F. Ellinger. A 70° phase margin OPAMP with positive feedback in flexible a-IGZO TFT technology. In *IEEE 58th International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, pages 1–4, 2015.

- R. Shabanpour, C. Carta, T. Meister, K. Ishida, B. K. Boroujeni, F. Ellinger, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, L. Petti and G. Tröster. A fully integrated audio amplifier in flexible a-IGZO TFT technology for printed piezoelectric loudspeakers. In *European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design (ECCTD)*, pages 1–4, 2015.
- T. Meister, K. Ishida, R. Shabanpour, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, F. Ellinger, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore, G. Tröster, M. Wagner, P. Ghesquiere, S. Kiefl and M. Krebs. Bendable energy-harvesting module with organic photovoltaic, rechargeable battery and a-IGZO TFT charging electronics. In *European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design (ECCTD)*, pages 1–4, 2015.
- G. Cantarella, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, A. Daus and G. Tröster. Wrinkled IGZO-TFTs on Flexible PDMS Substrate. In *11th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC)*, 2015.
- F. Bottacchi, L. Petti, F. Späth, I. Namal, G. Tröster, T. Hertel, T. D. Anthopoulos. Solution-based (6, 5) single walled carbon nanotubes for low-voltage flexible thin film transistors and inverters. In 11th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC), 2015.
- L. Büthe, C. Vogt, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. Cantarella, A. Daus, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Bendable tilt switch with microspheres. In *581*. WE-Heraeus-Seminar on Flexible, Stretchable and Printable High Performance Electronics, [best poster award], 2015.
- L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, F. Bottacchi, H. Faber, C. Zysset, G. Cantarella, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, T. D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster. Flexible integrated circuits on plastic substrates. In 581. WE-Heraeus-Seminar on Flexible, Stretchable and Printable High Performance Electronics, [invited], 2015.
- D. Karnaushenko, N. Münzenrieder, D. D. Karnaushenko, B. Koch, L. Petti, S. Baunack, D. Makarov, G. Tröster and O. G. Schmidt. Interactive flexible electronics. In 581. WE-Heraeus-Seminar on Flexible, Stretchable and Printable High Performance Electronics, 2015.
- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, G. Cantarella, G. A. Salvatore, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, A. Daus and G. Tröster. Oxide semiconductor transis-

32 Chapter 1: Introduction

tors for conformal systems. In *581*. *WE-Heraeus-Seminar on Flexible, Stretchable and Printable High Performance Electronics*, [invited], 2015.

- D. Karnaushenko, N. Münzenrieder, D. D. Karnaushenko, B. Koch, A. K. Meyer, S. Baunack, L. Petti, G. Tröster, D. Makarov and O. G. Schmidt. Biomimetic Microelectronics for Regenerative Neuronal Cuff Implants. In *Advanced Materials*, 27 (43), pages 6797–6805, 2015.
- L. Büthe, C. Vogt, L. Petti, G. Cantarella, N. Münzenrieder and G. Tröster. Digital output flexible tilt sensor with conductive microspheres. In *Proceedings of the IEEE Sensors*, pages 1–4, 2015.
- D. Karnaushenko, N. Münzenrieder, D. D. Karnaushenko, B. Koch, A. K. Meyer, S. Baunack, L. Petti, O. G. Schmidt, G. Tröster and D. Makarov. Compact biomimetic microelectronics for regenerative neuronal cuff implants. In 2015 Fall Meeting of the Material Research Society (MRS), 2015.
- G. Cantarella, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, A. Daus and G. Tröster. Flexible In-Ga-Zn-O Thin-Film Transistors on elastomeric substrate bent to 2.3%. In *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 36 (5), pages 475–477, 2015.
- F. Bottacchi, L. Petti, F. Späth, I. Namal, G. Tröster, T. Hertel and T. D. Anthopoulos. Polymer-sorted (6,5) single-walled carbon nanotubes for solution-processed low-voltage flexible microelectronics. In *Applied Physics Letters*, 106 (19), page 193302, 2015.
- N. Münzenrieder, G. Cantarella, C. Vogt, L. Petti, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, Y. Fang, R. Andri, Y. Lam, R. Libanori, D. Widner, A. Studart and G. Tröster. Stretchable and Conformable Oxide Thin-Film Electronics. In *Advanced Electronic Materials*, 1 (3), page 1400038, 2015.
- L. Petti, A. Frutiger, N. Münzenrieder, P. Aguirre, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Salvatore, and G. Tröster. Flexible IGZO TFTs with 300 nm Quasi-Vertical Channels. In *10th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC)*, 2014.
- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. A. Salvatore, G. Cantarella, and G. Tröster. Flexible oxide

semiconductor electronics for wearable devices. In 25th Edgar Lüscher Seminar, [invited], 2014.

- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, G. A. Salvatore, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Cantarella, and G. Tröster. Flexible electronics for wearable devices. In *Japan-Finland Printed Electronics Symposium*, [invited], 2014.
- F. Bottacchi, L. Petti, F. Späth, I. Namal, G. Tröster, T. Hertel and T.D. Anthopoulos. Solution-Processed Semiconducting Single-Walled Carbon Nanotubes for Plastic Microelectronics. In 2014 Fall Meeting of the Material Research Society (MRS), 2014.
- K. Ishida, R. Shabanpour, B. K. Boroujeni, T. Meister, C. Carta, F. Ellinger, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. 22.5 dB open-loop gain, 31 kHz GBW pseudo-CMOS based operational amplifier with a-IGZO TFTs on a flexible film. In *IEEE Asian Solid-State Circuits Conference (A-SSCC)*, pages 313–316, 2014.
- L. Büthe, C. Vogt, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. A Mechanically Flexible Tilt Switch On Kapton Foil With Microspheres As A Pendulum. In *Proceedings of the 17th ITG/GMA Symposium on Sensors and Measuring Systems*, pages 1–4, 2014.
- R. Shabanpour, T. Meister, K. Ishida, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, U. Jörges, F. Ellinger, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Cherry-Hooper amplifiers with 33 dB gain at 400 kHz BW and 10 dB gain at 3.5 MHz BW in flexible self-aligned a-IGZO TFT technology. In *International Symposium on Intelligent Signal Processing and Communication Systems (ISPACS)*, pages 271–274, 2014.
- N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Cantarella and G. Tröster. Contact resistance and overlapping capacitance in flexible sub-micron long oxide thinfilm transistors for above 100 MHz operation. In *Applied Physics Letters*, 105 (26), page 263504, 2014.
- L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Büthe, C. Vogt and G. Tröster. Flexible electronics based on oxide semiconductors. In 21st International Workshop of the IEEE on

Active-Matrix Flatpanel Displays and Devices (AM-FPD), [invited], pages 323–326, 2014.

- N. Münzenrieder, P. Voser, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Flexible Self-Aligned Double-Gate IGZO TFT. In *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 35 (1), pages 69–71, 2014.
- R. Shabanpour, T. Meister, K. Ishida, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, B. K. Boroujeni, C. Carta, G. Tröster and F. Ellinger. High gain amplifiers in flexible self-aligned a-IGZO thin-film-transistor technology. In 21st IEEE International Conference on Electronics, Circuits and Systems (ICECS), pages 108–111, 2014.
- G. A. Salvatore, N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti and G. Tröster. High performance flexible electronics for biomedical devices. In 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE in Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), [invited], pages 4176–4179, 2014.
- G. A. Salvatore, N. Münzenrieder, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti, C. Zysset, I. Strebel, L. Büthe and G. Tröster. Wafer-scale design of lightweight and transparent electronics that wraps around hair. In *Nature Communications*, 5 (2982), pages 1–8, 2014.
- N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, L. Petti, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Flexible double gate a-IGZO TFT fabricated on free standing polyimide foil. In *Solid-State Electronics*, 84, pages 198–204, 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, L. Petti, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Room temperature fabricated flexible NiO/IGZO pn diode under mechanical strain. In *Solid-State Electronics*, 87, pages 17–20, 2013.
- C. Zysset, N. Nasseri, L. Büthe, N. Münzenrieder, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti, S. Kleiser, G. A. Salvatore, M. Wolf and and G. Tröster. Textile Integrated Sensors and Actuators for Near-Infrared Spectroscopy. In *Optics Express*, 21 (3), pages 3213–3224, 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, L. Petti, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Flexible self-aligned amorphous InGaZnO thinfilm transistors with sub-micrometer channel length and a transit

frequency of 135 MHz. In *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, 60 (9), pages 2815–2820, 2013.

- C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Combining electronics on flexible plastic strips with textiles. In *Textile Research Journal*, 83 (11), pages 1130–1142, 2013.
- R. Shabanpour, K. Ishida, C. Perumal, B. K. Boroujeni, T. Meister, C. Carta, F. Ellinger, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. A 2.62 MHz 762 μW Cascode Amplifier in Flexible a-IGZO Thin-Film Technology for Textile and Wearable-Electronics Applications. In *International Semiconductor Conference Dresden Grenoble (ISCDG)*, pages 1–4, 2013.
- C. Perumal, K. Ishida, R. Shabanpour, B. K. Boroujeni, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, C. Carta, G. Tröster and F. Ellinger. A Compact a-IGZO TFT Model Based on MOSFET SPICE Level=3 Template for Analog/RF Circuit Designs. In *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, 34 (11), pages 1391–1393, 2013.
- G. A. Salvatore, N. Münzenrieder, C. Barraud, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, K. Ensslin and G. Tröster. Fabrication and Transfer of Flexible Few-Layers MoS₂ Thin Film Transistors to Any Arbitrary Substrate. In ACS Nano, 7 (10), pages 8809–8815, 2013.
- C. Zysset, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. IGZO TFT-Based All-Enhancement Operational Amplifier Bent to a Radius of 5 mm. In *Electron Device Letters*, 34 (11), pages 1394–1396, 2013.
- L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Mechanically flexible InGaZnO-based ferroelectric memory thin-film-transistors. In *International Device Physics Young Scientists Symposium (IDYS)*, [invited], 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, D. Görk, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Investigation of gate material ductility enables flexible a-IGZO TFTs bendable to a radius of 1.7 mm. In 43rd European Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC13), pages 362–365, 2013.

36 Chapter 1: Introduction

- L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, S. Gähler, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Effect of active layer thickness on the performance and stability of flexible InGaZnO thin-film transistors. In *International Symposium on Flexible Electronics*, 2013.
- C. Zysset, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Mechanically flexible IGZO differential stage bent to a radius of 3.5 mm. In *International Symposium on Flexible Electronics*, 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Performance and bendability of flexible and transparent all-oxide TFTs. In *International Symposium on Flexible Electronics*, 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe and G. Tröster. InGaZnO TFTs on a Flexible Membrane Transferred to a Curved Surface with a Radius of 2 mm. In *71st Device Research Conference (DRC)*, pages 165–166, 2013.
- L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Influence of Mechanical Strain on Flexible IGZO-Based Ferroelectric Memory TFTs. In *9th International Thin-Film Transistor Conference (ITC)*, [best paper award], 2013.
- N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti, G. A. Salvatore and G. Tröster. Mechanically Flexible Double Gate a-IGZO TFTs. In 42nd European Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESS-DERC12), pages 133–136, 2012.
- T. Kinkeldei, C. Zysset, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti and G. Tröster. In Tube Integrated Electronic Nose System on a Flexible Polymer Substrate. In *Sensors*, 12(10), pages 13684–13693, 2012.
- N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, G. A. Salvatore, T. Kinkeldei, C. Perumal, C. Carta, F. Ellinger and G. Tröster. Flexible a-IGZO TFT amplifier fabricated on a free standing polyimide foil operating at 1.2 MHz while bent to a radius of 5 mm. In *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, pages 96–99, 2012.

2

Thesis Summary

2.1 Contributions

In this section, the contributions of this work are summarized. In the first part, novel device structures and fabrication processes for flexible short-channel IGZO TFTs based on VTFT and QVTFT geometries, as well as on DLW-defined channels are described. In the second part, low-temperature and scalable spray pyrolysis is employed to realize flexible n-type In₂O₃ TFTs and unipolar circuits. Additionally, also inorganic CuSCN and organic SWCNT p-type solution-processable semiconductors are integrated into flexible TFTs and unipolar circuits. Finally, the application of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for non-volatile memories and complementary circuits is tackled. The majority of the data shown (VTFTs, QVTFTs, spray-coated In₂O₃ TFTs, memory TFTs, complementary circuits) is further presented in detail in the chapters 3 to 7. Other results (TFTs with DLW-defined channels, solution-deposited CuSCN TFTs) are based on unpublished data, while solution-processed SWCNT TFTs are further described in [101].

2.1.1 Flexible short-channel device structures

Realizing flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs with sub-500 nm feature sizes is difficult, due to the following reasons:

- Photolithography with glass masks and mask aligners combined with lift-off processes limit the minimum channel lengths achievable on flexible foils to $\approx 1 \ \mu m$ [75];
- The minimum feature sizes that can be obtained are also limited by the deformation that the flexible foils undergo during the manufacturing process: typically a 7.6 x 7.6 cm² large PI substrate expands of $\approx 25 \,\mu m$ during a standard 150 °C fabrication process [20]. Due to this deformation, tolerances of approximately 10 μm are necessary on the photolithographic masks, especially when aligning the gate contact to the source/drain electrodes [20];
- Self-aligned lithography (using back-side illumination through the flexible foil) allows overcoming the problem of thermalinduced substrate expansion and enables smaller total gate to source/drain overlaps of $\approx 3 \,\mu$ m [20]. Nevertheless, channel lengths $\leq 500 \,$ nm are not possible and long illumination times in the order of 30 min have to be utilized [20];

• For channel lengths $\leq 2 \mu m$ (defined by either conventional or self-aligned lithographic lift-off), the corresponding channel widths are also limited to $\leq 50 \mu m$, due to the mechanical stability of the thin lift-off resist stripes utilized to define the channels.

In this work, flexible IGZO TFTs with sub-500 nm channel lengths have been fabricated by exploring alternative device structures. In particular, three different device geometries based on VTFT (chapter 3, page 85) and QVTFT (chapter 4, page 97) architectures, as well as on TG structures with DLW-defined channels are proposed. In particular for each of the three approaches, the device structure and fabrication process employed, together with the electrical performance and mechanical properties of the resulting devices are described.

2.1.1.1 Vertical IGZO TFTs

As described in chapter 3 (page 85), VTFT geometries represent an attractive alternative to planar devices especially when short channels are required. Main advantages of VTFTs include:

- a channel defined by the thickness of a device layer and not limited anymore by photolithographic constrains, allowing sub-500 nm channel lengths;
- large channel widths ≥50 µm even for short channel lengths ≤500 nm, leading to large W/L ratio and thus high TFT drain current;
- a ≈3x smaller device area compared to planar transistors, allowing higher device-packing densities [102].

In this thesis, vertical device structures have been explored, and flexible IGZO VTFTs with 500 nm channel lengths have been fabricated and characterized.

Device structure and fabrication: The VTFT geometry used to fabricated flexible IGZO TFTs with 500 nm channel length is shown in Fig. 2.1. The channel was formed on a multi-layer stack constituted by the source contacts, a dielectric spacing layer, and the drain electrodes. The manufacturing process of flexible IGZO VTFTs is described in



Figure 2.1: Schematic cross section of flexible IGZO vertical TFTs (VTFTs) with 500 nm channel length fabricated directly on a free-standing polyimide (PI) foil. More details are available in section 3.2 (page 87).

section 3.2 (page 87) and was optimized aiming at devices with high electrical performance, long-term reliability and stability, as well as good mechanical bendability. In particular, the following materials and fabrication steps were employed:

As a substrate a 50 μ m-thick free-standing Kapton® E PI foil (surface area 3 x 3 cm²) was utilized.

50 nm SiN_x layers were grown by PECVD (at 150 °C) on both sides of the PI foil to increase the adhesion between the substrate and the successive device layers, and at the same time to reduce the outgassing of the foil during the fabrication process.

As source contacts, a metallic multi-layer constituted by 10 nm Cr, 60 nm Au and 10 nm Cr deposited by e-beam evaporation was employed. Here, the multi-layer electrodes offer a compromise between good adhesion and high electrical conductivity, with Cr acting as an adhesion layer and Au providing a high conductivity. The Cr/Au/Cr multi-layer was structured using standard UV photolithography (photolithographic mask 1) and lift-off.

Since SiN_x offers a high breakdown voltage $\geq 500 \text{ V/}\mu\text{m}$ and can be easily structured by reactive ion etching (RIE), SiN_x deposited by PECVD (at 150 °C) was used to realize the 500 nm-thick spacing layer.

The drain contacts were realized by 10 nm Cr/60 nm Au/10 nm Cr deposited by e-beam evaporation and structured by lift-off (mask 2). The drain electrodes were successively utilized as a hard mask to etch the 500 nm-thick SiN_x spacer by RIE, using a CF4/O₂ plasma.

100 nm amorphous IGZO (a-IGZO) were deposited using roomtemperature RF magnetron sputtering from a ceramic InGaZnO₄ tar-



Figure 2.2: Optical micrograph of flexible IGZO VTFT with 500 nm channel length fabricated directly on a free-standing PI foil. The enlargement on the channel area displays the SEM image of a focused ion beam (FIB) cross section through the VTFT channel. More details are available in section 3.2 (page 87).

get. The thickness was optimized to ensure coverage across the vertical sidewall. The IGZO layer was patterned into islands by photolithography (mask 3) and wet etching in diluted hydrochloric acid.

As gate dielectric, 25 nm ALD-grown Al₂O₃ layers were utilized. Main advantages of Al₂O₃ are the conformability, the relatively high dielectric constant ($\epsilon_R \approx 9.5$), and the low pinhole density. The Al₂O₃ is grown at 150 °C, which is the highest temperature employed during the entire TFT fabrication process. Drain and source vias were opened by photolithography (mask 4) and wet etching [103]. In this case, the Al₂O₃ acts also as a passivation for the IGZO layer.

Since Cu provides a good ductility (thin film rupture strain $\epsilon_r \approx 4.5\%$) [45], and can also be easily patterned by wet etching, the TG electrodes were formed by a 200 nm-thick Cu layer deposited by ebeam evaporation. The Cu thickness and the 30° substrate tilt used during the deposition ensured a wide coverage of the gate contact on top of the 500 nm-long vertical sidewall.

Fig. 2.2 displays an optical micrograph of the device, which uses a ground-signal-ground (GSG) layout to allow AC characterization. The flexible IGZO VTFT presented has a channel length L = 500 nm and a width W = $60 \,\mu$ m. The enlargement on the channel area in Fig. 2.2 shows the scanning electron microscopy (SEM) cross sectional image of the VTFT channel taken after focused ion beam (FIB) milling.

TFT electrical performance: Flexible IGZO VTFTs have been characterized according to their DC and AC performance (section 3.3, page 87), as well as their electrical stability (chapter 3.4, page 91).

DC performance: Fig. 2.3 shows the I_D -V_{GS} transfer and I_D -V_{DS} output characteristic of a flexible IGZO VTFT with 500 nm channel length, measured under ambient conditions. Based on these measurements, the following DC performance parameters were extracted using the Shichman-Hodges model [104]: an effective saturation field-effect mobility μ_{SAT} of $0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, a V_{TH} of 2.2 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 2 x 10⁷, a SS of 0.6 V/dec, and a g_m of 4.9 μ S (at V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 5 V). The μ_{SAT} values obtained for flexible IGZO VTFTs are lower than the Hall mobility $\mu_H \approx 11.8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ of the deposited IGZO layers and the $\mu_{SAT} = 7.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ of flexible planar IGZO TFTs with similarly short channel lengths [20]. This drop can be explained considering the effective mobility model of short-channel IGZO TFTs presented in [75]:

$$\mu_{FE} = \frac{\mu_H}{1 + \mu_H \cdot C_{ox} \cdot \frac{W}{L} \cdot (V_{GS} - V_{TH}) \cdot R_{C\{Lov\}}},$$
(2.1)

where C_{ox} is the specific gate dielectric capacitance and R_C the contact resistance, which is a function of the total overlap length between gate and source/drain electrodes (L_{OV}) [75]. Based on this model, the degraded μ_{FE} can be attributed to the high R_C at the interface between source/drain and IGZO [75] (width-normalized contact resistance $r_C \approx 3 \, k\Omega \, \text{cm}$), caused by oxidation and contamination of the Cr surface during the RIE etching. Optimization of the source/drain contacts (60x smaller r_C) leading to a larger μ_{SAT} (10x larger μ_{SAT}) in quasivertical TFT geometries is briefly presented in the next paragraph 2.1.1.2 (page 44), and more in detail in subsection 4.3.1 (page 101).

AC performance: C_G -V_{GS} measurements (Fig. 3.5, page 90) of flexible IGZO VTFTs (W/L = 60 µm/0.5 µm) highlight a large value of the gate capacitance ($C_G/W = 163 \text{ fF}\mu\text{m}^{-1}$), which is attributed to the presence of a significant overlap between the gate and the source/drain ($L_{OV} \approx 13.7 \mu\text{m}$), as well as between the gate and the IGZO island (\approx 57 µm), as shown in the top-view micrograph of Fig. 2.2. From



Figure 2.3: Transfer characteristic of flexible IGZO VTFT with 500 nm channel length and 60 μ m channel width measured at a source-drain voltages V_{DS} of 0.1 V (linear regime) and 5 V (saturation regime). The inset displays the corresponding output characteristic. More details are available in section 3.3 (page 87).

the extracted capacitance ($C_G/W = 163 \text{ fF}\mu\text{m}^{-1}$) and transconductance ($g_m/W = 0.08 \ \mu\text{S}\mu\text{m}^{-1}$ at $V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 5 \text{ V}$) values, the transit frequency was estimated to be $f_T \approx 80 \text{ kHz}$. This frequency is lower than previously published values of 49 MHz for flexible IGZO BG TFTs ($\mu_{FE} = 14 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $L = 1 \ \mu\text{m}$, $L_{OV} = 10 \ \mu\text{m}$) [75] and 135 MHz for flexible self-aligned IGZO BG TFTs ($\mu_{FE} = 7.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, L = 500 nm, $L_{OV} = 3.1 \ \mu\text{m}$) [20]. Such large difference in the achieved frequency, is attributed to the degraded μ_{FE} of vertical flexible IGZO VTFTs, as well as to the large overlap lengths. The next paragraph 2.1.1.2 (page 44) and more specifically chapter 4 (page 97) describe process and material optimizations that enabled a 60 fold reduction of R_C in flexible IGZO QVTFTs with even shorter channel, leading to an $\approx 19x$ higher f_T .

TFT mechanical properties: The mechanical properties of flexible IGZO VTFTs were investigated in section 3.5 (page 91), where issues like maximum strain resistance, influence of strain on the electrical performance, as well as resistance to mechanical fatigue are addressed.

44 Chapter 2: Thesis Summary

Strain resistance and influence of strain: To characterize the maximum strain resistance and the influence of strain on the electrical performance of IGZO VTFTs, the device substrate was wound around cylindrical rods of 10, 6 and 5 mm bending radius (see Fig. 3.7a, page 92). In this way, tensile strain ϵ of 0.25%, 0.4%, and 0.5% (calculated using equation 1.2 [87]) was induced parallel to the channel width. The VTFTs were functional while bent to radii of 5 mm and after re-flattening, whereas bending to smaller radii induced cracks perpendicular to the applied strain that permanently damaged the devices. The slightly reduced bendability of flexible IGZO VTFTs compared to planar IGZO TG TFTs made of similar device materials (but without spacer) [105] is attributed primarily to the brittle and thick SiN_x spacing layer. Bending the flexible IGZO VTFTs up to a tensile strain of 0.5 % results in a decreased μ_{SAT} (down to -2 % at ϵ = 0.5 %) and in a positive V_{TH} shift (up to +97 mV at $\epsilon = 0.5$ %). Compared to previously published measurements on flexible planar IGZO TFTs (both BG and TG) [105, 106], the observed shifts correspond to compressive strain in the device channel. This is due to the Poisson effect, which induces compressive strain perpendicular to the externally applied strain, and thus parallel to the VTFT channel. Comparable results were also observed for IGZO QVTFTs (see subsection 4.3.2, page 103).

Resistance to mechanical fatigue: To evaluate long-term bendability of flexible IGZO VTFTs, a custom-built bending tester (see Fig. 3.10, page 94) was utilized. The VTFTs were characterized before and after 1000 cycles of repeated bending ($\epsilon = 0.25$ %) and re-flattening, corresponding to ≈15 h of continuous bending. The VTFTs were functional after 1000 bending cycles, yielding a V_{TH} shift of ≈-460 mV and an almost constant μ_{SAT} (±0.3%).

2.1.1.2 Quasi-vertical IGZO TFTs

In chapter 4 (page 97), the standard VTFT geometry based on a multilayer stack of source-spacer-drain (see paragraph 2.1.1.1 and chapter 3) is analyzed in detail and compared to alternative vertical device structures with the channel defined by the gate [107, 108] or the semiconductor [109] thickness. In particular, VTFTs with channels defined by the gate thickness are not considered a valid alternative to standard vertical geometries, due to their large gate to source/drain capacitance, which limits the TFT AC performance [107, 108]. At the same time, also



Figure 2.4: Schematic cross section of flexible IGZO quasi-vertical TFT (QVTFT) with 300 nm channel length fabricated directly on a free-standing PI foil. More details are available in section 4.2 (page 99).

VTFTs with the channel length defined by the semiconductor thickness are not a viable option, owing to their poor electrostatic control over the channel [109]. Nevertheless, the dry etching process typically utilized to fabricate the vertical sidewalls of standard VTFTs results in under-cut profiles and contaminated source/drain contacts, leading to degraded TFT performance [110, 111, 52]. Even if contact contamination in VTFTs can be overcome by defining the vertical profile by means of wet etching [52], the under-cut profile is still present. To overcome these limitations, chapter 4 (page 97) explores a novel fabrication process of the source/spacer/drain stack of standard VTFTs based on a bi-layer lift-off of the spacing layer and the drain contacts on top of the source electrode. This results in the reliable formation of a tilted vertical sidewall, which ensures also a conformable deposition of the successive device layers. Compared to the previously described IGZO VTFTs (chapter 3, page 85), the resulting flexible IGZO QVTFTs present an even shorter channel length of 300 nm, as well as a reduced contact resistance ($\approx 60x$ lower), which results in an enhanced DC and AC performance (approximately a 10x larger μ_{FE} and a 19x higher f_T).

Device structure and fabrication: Section 4.2 (page 99) describes in detail the fabrication process of flexible IGZO QVTFTs with 300 nm channel length (Fig. 2.4). Compared to the previously described fabrication process of flexible IGZO VTFTs (see paragraph 2.1.1.1 and section 3.2), there are four main differences:

• The source and drain contacts are constituted by 10 nm Ti/60 nm Pd and 60 nm Pd, respectively. Pd was chosen as opposed to Au,

mainly due to its good adhesion to other materials. By employing Pd, it is indeed possible to avoid additional Cr [111] or Ti [105] layers, which are typically more prone to oxidation in ambient air [111]. Furthermore, Pd is expected to form an ohmic contact with IGZO sputtered in a pure Ar plasma [112] (as in our case).

- In this case, the SiN_x spacer is not anymore structured by dry etching, but rather by a bi-layer lift-off process. After the e-beam evaporation and lift-off of the Ti/Pd source contacts, a bi-layer resist made of 4.1 µm LOR-5B and 2 µm SU-8 was spin-coated and structured into drain electrodes by standard UV photolithography. Deposition and structuring of the bi-layer were optimized to achieve an under-cut between the SU-8 and the LOR-5B (\approx 4.1 µm). During the subsequent deposition of the 130 nm-thick SiN_x spacer (PECVD) and Pd drain electrodes (e-beam evaporation), the suspended SU-8 layer collapsed on the substrate in the under-cut area and SiN_x/Pd were uniformly deposited around the SU-8. The successive controlled rupture of the thin SiN_x layer during lift-off yielded a tilted sidewall with a length of 300 nm and a perfectly aligned Pd drain contact.
- As already anticipated, compared to flexible IGZO VTFTs (Fig. 2.1), a ≈3.85x thinner SiN_x spacing layer was employed. Thicker spacing layers ≥130 nm cannot be utilized in this process, due to resulting non-uniform rupture of the SiN_x layer during lift-off. Thinner SiN_x films down to 95 nm can be utilized, at a cost of higher off currents (flowing between source and drain electrodes). Furthermore, the PECVD process temperature was reduced from 150 °C to 120 °C, to avoid any damage to the underlying LOR-5B and SU-8 resist layers.
- Thanks to the quasi-vertical sidewall, a standard IGZO thickness of 15 nm (typically used in flexible TFTs [20]) could be employed, while still ensuring a conformal coverage over the vertical stack.

Fig. 2.5 shows an optical micrograph of the QVTFT, which employes a GSG layout to allow AC measurements. The flexible IGZO QVTFT presented has a channel length L = 300 nm and a width W = $55 \mu \text{m}$. The enlargement on the channel area displays the SEM image of the QVTFT channel taken after forming a hole with FIB milling. The



Figure 2.5: Optical micrograph of flexible IGZO QVTFT with 300 nm channel length fabricated directly on a free-standing PI foil. The enlargement on the channel area displays the SEM image of a FIB cross section through the QVTFT channel. More details are available in section 4.2 (page 99).

image shows how the quasi-vertical profile ensures a good coverage of the IGZO, Al_2O_3 and Cu device layers.

TFT electrical performance: The DC and AC performance of flexible IGZO QVTFTs has been characterized in subsection 4.3.1 (page 101).

DC performance: Flexible IGZO QVTFTs with 300 nm channel length yield the following DC performance parameters: a μ_{SAT} of $0.2 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, a V_{TH} of 1.5 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 10⁴, a SS of 0.4 V/dec, and a g_m of 40 μ S ($V_{GS} = 5 V$, $V_{DS} = 5 V$). Even if flexible IGZO QVTFTs exhibit a 10x larger μ_{SAT} if compared to IGZO VTFTs, the μ_{SAT} values obtained are still lower than the Hall mobility $\mu_H \approx 11.8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ of the deposited IGZO layers. Such degraded μ_{FE} was attributed to the still high contact resistance ($r_c \approx 45 \Omega$ cm), expected to be originated from process-induced surface contamination of the Pd contacts. Anyway, due to the \approx 60x reduced contact resistance, compared to VTFTs flexible IGZO QVTFTs present a 9x larger $g_m/W = 0.73 \,\mu\text{S}\mu\text{m}^{-1}$. Furthermore, compared to planar devices, QVTFTs enable higher drain currents densities. In particular, if fabricated with tolerances resulting in a total yield significantly above 90%, the channel area of a planar IGZO TFT is able to switch a current of $\approx 1 \text{ mA}$ over an area of $\approx 40\,000\,\mu\text{m}^2$. If an IGZO QVTFT is used, the effective area can be reduced to $\approx 4000 \,\mu\text{m}^2$. The obtained on/off current ratio of 10^4 is significantly lower compared to flexible vertical [111] and planar IGZO TFTs [20]. This is due to the large I_{OFF} (2 nA) caused by leakage between source and drain contacts through the low-temperature deposited SiN_x spacer. Smaller I_{OFF} and larger I_{ON}/I_{OFF} can be achieved by reducing the source/drain overlap.

AC performance: The flexible IGZO QVTFT exhibits a widthnormalized gate capacitance of 76 fF μ m⁻¹, which is dominated by the capacitance of the still large overlap between gate and source/drain (17.8 µm), and between gate and IGZO (74 µm). From the extracted C_G and g_m values, an f_T of 1.52 MHz was calculated. A more precise value of the f_T = 1.5 MHz was derived measuring the S-parameters and extracting the frequency-dependent current gain h₂₁ (see Fig. 2.6). Due to the improved transconductance and gate capacitance, flexible QVTFTs exhibit a 19x enhanced f_T if compared to flexible IGZO VTFTs.

TFT mechanical properties: The mechanical properties of flexible IGZO QVTFTs were investigated in subsection 4.3.2 (page 103). Flexible IGZO QVTFTs were shown to be operational while bent down to a tensile radius of 5 mm (tensile strain $\epsilon = 0.48$ % parallel to the channel width calculated using equation 1.2 [87]), and after re-flattening. Tensile bending results only in small variations of the device performance (μ_{SAT} changes by -5% and V_{TH} by +126 mV). These values are in line with the previously presented strain-induced shifts of IGZO VTFTs (section 3.5, page 91). Bending to smaller radii below 5 mm was not possible, due to delamination of the Cu TG contacts.

2.1.1.3 Top-gate IGZO TFTs

As explained in the previous paragraphs 2.1.1.1 and 2.1.1.2, vertically integrated device structures allow achieving short channel lengths down to 300 nm. Nevertheless, process-induced source/drain contact contamination results in large R_C values, which degrade both the DC and the AC TFT performance. In general, also in planar IGZO TFTs, when the channel length is reduced below $\approx 1 \,\mu$ m, the channel resistance becomes smaller than the contact resistance, which results in a drop of the μ_{FE} (see equation 2.1 [75]). Nevertheless, the degradation of the μ_{FE} encountered in flexible planar IGZO TFTs is not as pronounced as in vertically integrated devices: the minimum μ_{FE} reported for flexible planar IGZO TFTs is of $5 \,\mathrm{cm}^2 \mathrm{V}^{-1} \mathrm{s}^{-1}$ for a device



Figure 2.6: Absolute value of the small-signal current gain h_{21} extracted from S-parameters measurements of a flexible IGZO QVTFT with 300 nm channel length ($V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 5$ V). More details are available in subsection 4.3.1 (page 101).

with a channel length of 500 nm [75]. Furthermore, as visible in equation 1.1. and 2.1, the overlap length between the gate contact and the source/drain electrodes (L_{OV}) is another key parameter in determining the f_T , as it influences both R_C and C_G [75]. Compared to planar TFTs, in vertical devices the optimization of the L_{OV} is further complicated by the VTFT structure with source and drain deposited, structured and aligned in separated process steps. For these reasons, it is important to explore alternative fabrication processes enabling short channel lengths also in flexible planar TFTs. To this regard, two-photon DLW [113] has been proposed as an attractive tool for the fabrication of threedimensional (3D) microstructures for various application fields, ranging from optical interconnects [114], photonics [115], micro-fluidics [116], to cell scaffolds and biomimetics [117]. Recently, also conductive 3D Au-based microstructures have been realized by two-photon DLW [118]. Strangely, two-photon DLW has not yet been employed to fabricate short-channel TFTs. In this work, we explore the use of DLW for the realization of flexible IGZO TG TFTs with 280 nm channel lengths.

Device structure and fabrication: Fig. 2.7 shows the manufacturing process of IGZO TFTs fabricated on a free-standing 50 µm-thick PI foil



Figure 2.7: Manufacturing process flow of flexible IGZO top-gate bottom-contact (TG-BC) TFT with channel length defined via two-photon direct laser writing (DLW): a) DLW illumination and development of photoresist, b) e-beam evaporation of Ti/Au/Ti source and drain contacts, c) channel structuring by lift-off, d) RF magnetron sputtering and wet etching of IGZO semiconductor, e) ALD deposition and wet etching of Al₂O₃ gate dielectric, f) e-beam evaporation and wet etching of Cu TG electrode. The fabrication process is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

(area 2.5 x 2.5 cm²). The devices are based on a top-gate bottom-contact (TG-BC) TFT structure:

First, a 50 nm SiN_x was deposited by PECVD on both sides of the substrate, to increase the adhesion to the following device layers.

Next, to allow the structuring of the TFT channels by DLW photolithography, the PI substrate was attached to a glass carrier and subsequently coated with a drop-casted IP-Dip photoresist. IP-Dip is a negative photoresist, which behaves similarly to SU-8 and other acrylate-based negative photoresists [119]. In particular, IP-Dip is specifically suited for two-photon DLW photolithography [120], allowing minimum line widths of 150 nm [119]. For the DLW process, the photonic professional system from NanoScribe GmbH was utilized¹. NanoScribe is the first commercial DLW system based on two-photon polymerization with ultra-short laser pulses [121]. Differently to other conventional additive manufacturing technologies, in the NanoScribe process the microstructures are written following 3D paths connected from the beginning to the end of the writing process [119]. Therefore, an optimized computer-aided design (CAD) of the desired channel structures was generated and converted to a suitable writing scheme, including 3D writing paths that do not overlap with each other (to avoid writing through already exposed photoresist areas [119]). The channel structures displayed in Fig. 2.7a were patterned into the IP-Dip photoresist by directly exposing the photoresist -using the so-called dip-in-lithography (DILL) configuration [120]-with an optimized laser power of 4.6 µW. Afterward, the PI foil was detached from the glass carrier and the photoresist was developed, leading to channel structures with lengths down to 280 nm patterned in the IP-Dip photoresist (Fig. 2.7a).

Following the two-photon DLW photolithography, 10 nm/60 nm/ 10 nm Ti/Au/Ti were e-beam evaporated on the substrate (Fig. 2.7b). A lift-off process was performed to remove the IP-Dip photoresist and define the channel areas and the source and drain contacts (Fig. 2.7c).

Subsequently, a 15 nm-thick IGZO film was RF magnetron sputtered (at room temperature) and structured into 19 x 20 μ m² semiconductor islands by wet etching (Fig. 2.7d). Then, an 80 nm-thick Al₂O₃ film was grown by ALD and wet etched to open source/drain contact holes (Fig. 2.7e). In this case, the 80 nm-thick Al₂O₃ dielectrics represents a trade-off between high μ_{FE} (see μ_{FE} dependance with C_{ox} in equation 2.1) and low-voltage operation.

Finally, 100 nm of Cu were e-beam evaporated and patterned in gate contacts using wet etching (Fig. 2.7f).

Fig. 2.8 displays an optical micrograph of the device, which uses a GSG layout to allow AC characterization. The inset in Fig. 2.8 shows enlargements of the TFT channel taken by optical microscopy and SEM.

¹www.nanoscribe.de



Figure 2.8: Optical micrograph of a flexible IGZO TG-BC TFT with 280 nm channel length defined via DLW fabricated directly on a free-standing PI foil. The enlargements display both an optical micrograph and an SEM image of the channel area. The images are based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

The flexible IGZO TFT presented has a channel length L = 280 nm and a width W = 17 μ m. On each 2.5 x 2.5 cm² PI foil, up to 9 different GSG devices with diverse channel lengths and widths can be realized with the presented manufacturing process (Fig. 2.7). A larger number of TFTs can hardly be accomplished within this process, due to long DLW processes up to 5 hours, as well as complicated alignment of the NanoScribe laser over larger areas (above 2 x 2 mm²). Nevertheless, standard IGZO TG TFTs with channels lengths $\geq 1 \mu$ m could be realized on the same substrate by utilizing Cr/Au/Cr source/drain contacts and integrating an additional UV photolithographic and wet etching step after the lift-off process of the channel structures (Fig. 2.7c).

TFT electrical performance: The DC and AC performance of flexible IGZO TFTs with channels defined via DLW has been characterized.

DC performance: Fig. 2.9 shows the I_D - V_{GS} transfer and I_D - V_{DS} output characteristic of a flexible IGZO TFT with 280 nm channel length, measured under ambient conditions. Based on these measure-



Figure 2.9: Transfer characteristic of flexible IGZO TG-BC TFT with 280 nm channel length defined via DLW (channel width W = 17 μ m) measured at a V_{DS} of 0.1 V and 2.1 V. The inset displays the corresponding output characteristic. The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

ments, the following DC performance parameters were extracted: a μ_{SAT} of 1.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of 3 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 10³, a SS of 2 V/dec, and a $g_m = 250 \,\mu\text{S}$ (V_{GS} = 9 V, V_{DS} = 5.1 V). As expected, flexible planar short-channel IGZO TFTs exhibit significantly larger μ_{SAT} if compared to flexible IGZO QVTFTs with similarly short channel lengths. This is mainly due to approximately halved contact resistance ($r_c = 22 \Omega cm$) that planar IGZO TFTs (L = 280 nm) yield compared to IGZO QVTFTs (L = 300 nm). The extracted r_C is indeed only slightly higher than stateof-the-art values of 12.5Ω cm obtained for flexible self-aligned IGZO BG TFTs (L = 500 nm) [20, 75]. The larger r_c can be attributed to the \approx 2x lower average μ_{FE} of IGZO TG TFTs if compared to BG devices made of the same material stack [105]. This, combined with a channel length of 280 nm explains the achieved μ_{SAT} value of 1.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. As shown in Fig. 2.9, I_{OFF} always exceeds 100 pA, and further increases for increasing V_{DS} (up to $I_{OFF} = 1 \,\mu A$ at $V_{DS} = 5.1 \,V$). Such large off current (leading to small I_{ON}/I_{OFF}) is due to the still large IGZO semiconductor islands (19 x $20 \,\mu m^2$), which provide an additional current path between source and drain contacts.



Figure 2.10: Gate capacitance of flexible IGZO TG-BC TFT with 280 nm channel length defined via DLW, measured with source/drain contacts grounded. The measurement was performed at a frequency of 1 MHz. The inset displays the corresponding measurement setup. The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

AC performance: From C-V measurements (Fig. 2.10), a gate capacitance of 32.47 fF μ m⁻¹ was extracted. Such low C_G value has been obtained despite the 80 nm-thick Al₂O₃ dielectric, mainly due to the short channel length of 280 nm, combined with a small total overlap between gate and source/drain (L_{OV} = 5.2 µm). From the h₂₁ plot (Fig. 2.11), an f_T of 80 MHz was derived. The measured f_T nicely agrees with the value of 81 MHz estimated from g_m and C_G data. Compared to IGZO QVTFTs (L = 300 nm), flexible IGZO TFTs with DLW-defined channels yield an ≈53x higher f_T. Even if the obtained frequency is lower than the f_T = 135 MHz reported for flexible self-aligned IGZO TFTs (L = 500 nm) [20], future optimization of the source/drain contacts, combined with shorter channel lengths promises to enable transit frequencies above 135 MHz. Already based on these preliminary results, DLW photolithography offers a viable and promising route for the realization of flexible short-channel and high-frequency devices.

TFT mechanical properties: Flexible IGZO TFTs with 280 nm channel lengths were demonstrated to be operational while bent to a tensile radius of 10 mm ($\epsilon = 0.2$ % calculated using equation 1.2 [87]), showing



Figure 2.11: Absolute value of h_{21} extracted from S-parameters measurements of a flexible IGZO TG-BC TFT with 280 nm channel length defined via DLW ($V_{GS} = 8.5$ V and $V_{DS} = 9$ V). The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

small variations in the performance parameters (μ_{SAT} changes by -4% and V_{TH} by +130 mV). These changes can be explained by the under tensile increased resistance of the metallic contacts, which becomes dominant for small channel resistances [122]. Bending to smaller radii leads to the formation of cracks in the extended Ti/Au/Ti metallic surface, which cause permanent parameter shifts at 6 mm radii and device failure at radii ≤ 5 mm.

2.1.2 Solution-processed materials and processes

The possibility to replace standard vacuum-processing techniques with higher throughput continuous processes is especially attractive in view of novel large-area and cost-effective applications, such as foldable and printable displays, disposable smart labels and intelligent packaging [74]. To this aim, solution processing methods of both nand p-type semiconductors are attracting an increasing interest [74].

In this work, In_2O_3 films were deposited by spray pyrolysis at process temperature ≤ 250 °C and incorporated into rigid and flexible n-type TFTs and circuits (chapter 5, page 105). Additionally, p-type

inorganic CuSCN and organic SWCNTs were grown by spin-coating at low temperatures and integrated into flexible TFTs and circuits.

2.1.2.1 In₂O₃ TFTs and circuits

Among solution-processable metal oxide semiconductors, In_2O_3 is especially attractive since it can be grown employing a diverse range of processes like ink-jet printing [123], spray pyrolysis [124], and spincasting [125, 51, 126, 127, 128]. Employing neat In_2O_3 layers spin-casted and annealed at temperatures ≤ 250 °C, flexible devices with μ_{FE} ranging from $1.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ to $4 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ have been shown [63, 51]. Recently, the Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics at Imperial College has demonstrated optimized precursor material formulations and processing protocols, allowing the spray deposition of In_2O_3 at 250 °C [73]. The so-formed electron conducting In_2O_3 active layers have also been incorporated in rigid TFTs [73].

In this thesis, In_2O_3 films have been spray-deposited at 250 °C and incorporated into TFTs and logic circuits (section 5.2, page 108). The resulting TFTs and circuits have then been characterized (section 5.3, page 108). The results shown have been obtained in a collaboration between Imperial College London (Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics), ETH Zurich, and Aristotle University of Thessaloniki (Laboratory of Applied Physics).

Device structure and fabrication: Fig. 2.12a displays the device structure and fabrication process employed to realize bottom-gate bottom-contact (BG-BC) In_2O_3 TFTs on a free-standing 50 µm-thick PI foil (surface area 7.6 x 7.6 cm²):

First, a 50 nm-thick SiN_x layer was deposited by PECVD on both sides of the flexible foil.

Next, 30 nm of Cr were e-beam evaporated and structured into gate contacts using standard UV photolithography and wet etching.

Following, a 50 nm-thick Al_2O_3 gate dielectric was deposited by ALD at 150 °C. Gate contact holes through the Al_2O_3 were patterned by standard UV photolithography and wet etching.

Subsequently, 10 nm/50 nm of Ti/Au were e-beam evaporated and patterned into source/drain contacts using a lift-off process.

Prior to the active layer deposition, the substrate was diced into $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$ -large chips to allow multiple depositions with different pro-



Figure 2.12: a) Schematic device cross section of flexible BG bottomcontact (BG-BC) TFT based on spray-deposited In_2O_3 fabricated on a free-standing PI foil. b) Atomic force microscopy (AFM) surface topography image of In_2O_3 film processed on Si/SiO₂/SiN_x/Cr/Al₂O₃ surface. More details are available in section 5.2 (page 108).

cess protocols. The diced chips were then cleaned by ultra-sonication in acetone and isopropanol for 5 min, and subjected to 30 min UV/ozone treatment. The deposition was carried out using ultrasonic spray pyrolysis and an In₂O₃ solution constituted by 30 mg/mL indium nitrate hydrate (In(NO₃)₃·H₂O) dissolved in deionized water. The deposition was performed in ambient air at 250 °C. During spray pyrolysis, the flexible chip was mechanically clamped on the border with a heavy stencil mask (mass of ~30g). The resulting ~15 nm-thick In₂O₃ active layer was left unstructured and unpassivated.

Employing the same BG-BC device structure and fabrication process, rigid In_2O_3 TFTs were also realized on a 4-in. Si substrate with 1 µm thermally grown SiO₂ acting as isolation layer (Fig. 5.1a, page 109). Additionally, also bottom-gate top-contact (BG-TC) In_2O_3 TFTs were fabricated onto a p-type doped Si wafer acting as common gate electrode with 400 nm-thick SiO₂ films as gate dielectric (Fig. 5.1b, page 109). In this case, the In_2O_3 active layer was processed using the previously described protocols followed by the thermal evaporation (with shadow mask) of top Al source/drain electrodes in high vacuum (10^{-6} mbar) . The channel dimensions of the resulting In_2O_3 devices are: W/L of 1400 µm/20 µm, 500 µm/10 µm and 1000 µm/50 µm for flexible BG-BC, rigid BG-BC and rigid BG-TC TFTs, respectively.

Fig. 2.12b shows the atomic force microscopy (AFM) image of the

surface topography of a ~15 nm-thick In_2O_3 film deposited by spray pyrolysis. The film appears continuous and smooth with a surface roughness of ~1.1 nm. X-ray diffraction (XRD) measurements in Bragg-Brentano geometry of the spray-deposited In_2O_3 layers (Fig. 5.1d, page 109) reveal a polycrystalline structure.

TFT electrical performance: The DC performance of flexible BG-BC, rigid BG-BC and rigid BG-TC TFTs has been characterized in section 5.3 (page 108). Fig. 2.13 shows the I_D -V_{GS} transfer and I_D -V_{DS} output characteristic of a flexible BG-BC In₂O₃ TFT, measured in nitrogen. Based on these measurements, the following DC performance parameters were extracted: a μ_{SAT} of 0.2 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of 5.29 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 6 x 10^3 , and a SS of 0.9 V/dec. The gate leakage current I_C is always below 20 nA. The large $I_{OFF} \leq 10$ nA is attributed to the unpatterned semiconductor. Compared to flexible In₂O₃ TFTs, rigid BG-BC and BG-TC devices yield a higher μ_{SAT} of 1.25 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and 16 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, respectively, as well as larger $I_{ON}/I_{OFF} > 10^4$. The better performance of BG-BC devices on rigid substrates, compared to TFTs on flexible foils, is most likely attributed to the comparatively lower thermal conductivity of PI that hinders the precursor conversion during the spraying process, as well as to the increased dielectric/semiconductor interface roughness. The even higher μ_{FE} of rigid BG-TC devices, compared to BG-BC TFTs, can be explained by the different TFT structure combined with low work function Al S/D electrodes.

TFT mechanical properties: The mechanical properties of flexible In_2O_3 devices were investigated in subsection 5.3.4 (page 112). Flexible In_2O_3 TFTs were shown to be operational while bent down to a tensile radius of 4 mm ($\epsilon = 0.65$ % parallel to the TFT channel calculated using equation 1.2 [87]), and after re-flattening. Tensile bending results in an increase of μ_{SAT} by 13 % and a shift of V_{TH} by -230 mV. These values are in good agreement with previously reported strain-induced shifts of IGZO and IZO devices [106, 129], and can be explained by the enhanced conductivity of In_2O_3 films induced under tensile strain. Bending to smaller radii leads to the formation of cracks in the brittle Cr gate that permanently harm the device operation.

Circuits: To exploit the potential of spray-deposited In_2O_3 TFTs, logic circuits were explored (see subsection 5.3.3, page 110). Unipo-



Figure 2.13: Transfer characteristic of flexible BG-BC TFT based on spray-deposited In_2O_3 (W/L = 1400 µm/20 µm) measured at a V_{DS} of 2 V (linear regime) and 10 V (saturation regime) in nitrogen atmosphere. The inset displays the corresponding output characteristic. More details are available in section 5.3 (page 108).

lar In₂O₃ inverters comprising one driving In₂O₃ BG-BC TFT (W/L = 1400 μm/20 μm) and one passive load (metal thin-film resistor with R = 160 kΩ) were fabricated on both rigid and flexible substrates. The circuit schematic is displayed in the inset of Fig. 2.20 (page 68). Compared to the TFT manufacturing process, the circuit fabrication does not require additional steps, since the interconnections were integrated into the Ti/Au source/drain metallization layer and the resistor was implemented using the Cr gate metal. Rigid unipolar inverters (Fig. 5.3, page 113) exhibit a gain G = 5.3 V/V and an almost centered midpoint voltage V_M = 5.8 V (when the input voltage V_{IN} is swept from 0 V to 10 V at a supply voltage V_{DD} = 10 V). Flexible inverters yield a comparatively lower gain of 1.2 V/V, which is attributed to the worse performance of flexible In₂O₃ TFTs (compared to rigid devices). Higher gains ≥22 V/V can be realized by complementing n-type In₂O₃ with p-type SWCNT TFTs, as presented later and in chapter 7 (page 135).

2.1.2.2 CuSCN TFTs and circuits

To date, it is difficult to realize p-type metal oxide semiconductors, especially at low process temperatures. This is why, only few reports on flexible p-type metal oxide semiconductor TFTs are available [34, 67, 84, 130, 68, 99, 85]. Among these, there is no report on solution-processed p-type metal oxide semiconductors. CuSCN –an inorganic metal pseudohalide compound– is an attractive p-type semiconductor, owing to its hole transporting characteristics and solution-processability at 80 °C [69]. Recently, the Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics at Imperial College London has demonstrated rigid TFTs based on CuSCN spin-casted at 80 °C (μ_{FE} close to $0.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$) [69].

In this thesis, CuSCN films spin-casted at 80 °C have been incorporated into flexible TFTs and circuits. The electrical and mechanical performance of the resulting devices has been characterized. The results shown have been obtained in a collaboration between Imperial College London (Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics), ETH Zurich, and the Hong Kong Polytechnic University (Department of Applied Physics and Materials Research Center).

Device structure and fabrication: Fig. 2.14a displays the device structure and fabrication process employed to realize CuSCN TG-BC TFTs on a free-standing 50 μ m-thick PI foil (surface area 1.5 x 1.5 cm²):

First, a 50 nm-thick SiN_x layer was deposited by PECVD on both sides of the flexible foil.

Next, 50 nm of Au were deposited by thermal evaporation in high vacuum (10^{-6} mbar) and structured into source and drain contacts using shadow masking.

The active layer solution was prepared by dissolving the CuSCN precursor (Aldrich) in dipropyl sulfide (Merck, 99 %) at a concentration of 20 mg/mL. Undissolved material was removed by stirring, centrifugating, and filtering the CuSCN solution at room temperature. The resulting solution was then spin-casted (800 rpm for 60 s at room temperature) and annealed at 80 °C in nitrogen. The resulting 15 nm-thick CuSCN film was left unstructured.

As gate dielectric, poly(vinylidene fluoride-trifluoroethylenechlorofluoroethylene) [P(VDF-TrFE-CFE)] layers were utilized. P(VDF-TrFE-CFE) is a high-k relaxor ferroelectric polymeric dielectric (ϵ_R up



Figure 2.14: a) Schematic device cross section of flexible TG-BC TFT based on spin-casted CuSCN fabricated on a free-standing PI foil. b) AFM surface topography image of CuSCN film processed on a $Si/SiO_2/SiN_x/Cr/Al_2O_3$ surface. The fabrication process and AFM image are based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

to ≈ 60), which can be solution-processed at low temperatures [69, 131]. The gate dielectric solution (6/36.5/7.5 mol%) was first synthesized and then dissolved in methyl-ethyl-ketone (MEK). As spin-coated P(VDF-TrFE-CFE) films were annealed at 60 °C for 3 h. The resulting 160 nm-thick P(VDF-TrFE-CFE) gate dielectric was left unpatterned.

Finally, 60 nm of Al were deposited by thermal evaporation in high vacuum and patterned into gate electrodes using shadow masking.

Additionally, also flexible BG-BC CuSCN TFTs were realized, employing the device architecture shown in Fig. 2.12a (page 57) with CuSCN active layers and 25 nm Al_2O_3 gate dielectrics. The channel dimensions of the resulting CuSCN devices are: W/L of 1400 μ m/20 μ m and 1500 μ m/40 μ m for flexible BG-BC and TG-BC TFTs, respectively.

Fig. 2.14b shows the AFM image of the surface topography of a \sim 15 nm-thick CuSCN film deposited by spin-casting. The film appears homogeneous and smooth with a surface roughness of \sim 1.5 nm.

TFT electrical performance: The I_D -V_{GS} transfer and I_D -V_{DS} output characteristics of flexible CuSCN BG-BC devices measured in nitrogen atmosphere are shown in Fig. 2.15. Based on these measurements, the following DC performance parameters were extracted: a μ_{SAT} of 0.0013 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of -1 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 5 x 10², and a SS of



Figure 2.15: Transfer characteristic of flexible BG-BC TFT based on spin-casted CuSCN (W/L = $1400 \,\mu\text{m}/20 \,\mu\text{m}$) measured at a V_{DS} of - 0.35 V (linear regime) and -3.5 V (saturation regime) in nitrogen atmosphere. The inset displays the corresponding output characteristic. The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

1.7 V/dec. I_G is always below 10 nA. When measured with a double sweep of V_{GS}, the CuSCN TFTs present a counter-clockwise hysteresis <250 mV, which is attributed to the presence of traps at the interface CuSCN/Al₂O₃. If measured in ambient atmosphere, flexible CuSCN BG-BC TFTs yield a lower μ_{SAT} of 0.0007 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and a negatively shifted V_{TH} of -1.2 V. TG-BC TFTs (Fig. 2.16) yield a μ_{SAT} of 0.0012 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of -3.13 V, and I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 2 x 10³. Compared to BG-BC devices with Al₂O₃ gate dielectrics, TG-BC TFTs present a significantly reduced hysteresis <25 mV, which is explained by the improved interface between CuSCN and P(VDF-TrFE-CFE) in the TG-BC structure [69]. Compared to the average μ_{SAT} of 0.01-0.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ of rigid CuSCN TFTs [69], the obtained μ_{FE} is lower. Such degraded value is most likely attributed to the worse thermal conductivity of PI foils that prevents the precursor conversion, as well as to the increased dielectric/semiconductor interface roughness.

TFT mechanical properties: Flexible CuSCN TFTs (both BG-BC and TG-BC) were demonstrated to be operational while bent down to tensile radii of 4 mm ($\epsilon = 0.58$ % calculated using equation 1.2 [87]).


Figure 2.16: Transfer characteristic of flexible TG-BC TFT based on spin-casted CuSCN (W/L = $1500 \,\mu\text{m}/40 \,\mu\text{m}$) measured at a V_{DS} of - 0.1 V (linear regime) and -10 V (saturation regime), while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm. The inset displays a photograph of the actual flexible CuSCN TFT bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm. The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

Fig. 2.16 shows the transfer characteristic of a flexible CuSCN TG-BC TFT measured while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm. Bending to a radius of 4 mm results in a decrease of μ_{SAT} by -16% and in a positive shift of V_{TH} by +30 mV. Also BG-BC devices are operational at bending radii of 4 mm ($\epsilon = 0.58$ %), showing similar strain-induced variations: a μ_{SAT} decrease by -23% and a V_{TH} shift of -100 mV. Bending to smaller radii leads to crack formation in the brittle Cr gate contacts.

Circuits: Fig. 2.17 displays the voltage transfer characteristic (VTC) and the static gain of a flexible CuSCN-based unipolar voltage inverter based on one driving CuSCN BG-BC TFT (W/L = $3200 \,\mu\text{m}/20 \,\mu\text{m}$) and a TFT (W/L = $450 \,\mu\text{m}/20 \,\mu\text{m}$) in diode-load configuration, as shown in the inset of Fig. 2.17. Flexible unipolar inverters exhibit a G = $3.4 \,\text{V/V}$ and an almost centered V_M = $-1.5 \,\text{V}$ (when V_{IN} is swept from 0 V to $-3.5 \,\text{V}$ at a V_{DD} = $-3.5 \,\text{V}$). Bending the flexible CuSCN inverters to 4 mm results in a shift of V_M of $-100 \,\text{mV}$ and an increase of the gain of $0.1 \,\text{V/V}$, as shown in Fig. 2.17. These changes are explained by the variations in the μ_{SAT} and V_{TH} of the flexible CuSCN TFTs.



Figure 2.17: Voltage transfer characteristic (VTC) and corresponding static gain of a flexible CuSCN-based unipolar voltage inverter (measured at a supply voltage $V_{DD} = -3.5$ V), while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm. The inset shows a schematic of the circuitry used: it comprises a driving CuSCN BG-BC TFT (W/L = $3200 \,\mu$ m/20 μ m) and a TFT (W/L = $450 \,\mu$ m/20 μ m) in diode-load configuration. The data is based on unpublished results obtained during this thesis.

2.1.2.3 SWCNT TFTs and circuits²

Besides CuSCN, also SWCNTs are an attractive solution-processable p-type semiconductor. Flexible devices based on SWCNTs drop-casted [97], dip-coated [132, 100, 133], or ink-jet printed [134] yield average μ_{FE} from 2 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ to 50 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. Among these methods, one of the main difficulty is represented by the purification and separation of the semiconducting nanotubes from the metallic ones (before deposition). To this end, it has been recently shown that conjugated polymers like polyfluorene-based derivates allow successfully sorting SWCNTs with specific diameters [135, 136], which at the same time have a specific semiconducting or metallic characteristic [137].

In this thesis, polymer-sorted semiconducting SWCNT films spin-

²This paragraph is based on: F. Bottacchi, L. Petti, F. Späth, I. Namal, G. Tröster, and T.D. Anthopoulos, Polymer-sorted (6,5) single-walled carbon nanotubes for solution-processed low-voltage flexible microelectronics. In *Applied Physics Letter*, 106. © 2015 AIP.

casted at 90 °C have been incorporated into flexible TFTs and unipolar inverters. The electrical and mechanical performance of the resulting TFTs and circuits has been characterized. The results shown have been obtained in a collaboration between Imperial College London (Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics), ETH Zurich, and Julius-Maximilian University of Würzburg (Institute of Physical and Theoretical Chemistry).

Device structure and fabrication: SWCNT TFTs were manufactured on a free-standing 50 μ m-thick PI foil employing the same device structure (BG-BC) and fabrication process previously described for In₂O₃ TFTs (see Fig. 2.12a, page 57). The only difference is represented by the semiconducting material and deposition process:

The active layer solution was prepared by mixing 100 mg CoMoCat SWCNTs (Sigma-Aldrich) and 200 mg poly[(9,9-dioctylfluorenyl-2,7-diyl)-alt-co-(6,6'-2,2'-bipyridine)] PFO-BPy (American Dye Source) in 200 mL of toluene. The so-formed mixture was subjected to ultrasonication for 14 h, centrifugation, and vacuum filtering to remove the excess polymer. The resulting single chirality (6,5) SWCNTs were then re-dispersed in chlorobenzene, spin-casted (1000 rpm for 30 s at room temperature), and annealed at 90 °C in nitrogen. The resulting 10 nm-thick (6,5) SWCNT film was left unstructured. Additionally, by employing PFO instead of PFO-BPy, also SWCNTs with a different chirality (7,5) can be achieved (see chapter 7, page 135).

The channel width over length ratio (W/L) of the resulting flexible BG-BC SWCNT devices is of $280 \,\mu\text{m}/35 \,\mu\text{m}$.

Fig. 2.18a displays the absorption spectrum of the polymer/SWCNT solution in chlorobenzene, measured using an UV-Vis-NIR spectrophotometer in absorbance mode and 1 mm light path cuvette. Single chirality (6,5) is proven by the presence of the two sharp absorption peaks at 1000 nm and 575 nm, which correspond respectively to the first and second excitonic transitions of the (6,5) diameter SWCNT [138]. Fig. 2.18b shows the AFM image of the surface topography of a ~10 nm-thick polymer-wrapped spin-casted SWCNT film. From Fig. 2.18b, the randomly oriented SWCNT network is visible.

TFT electrical performance: The I_D - V_{GS} transfer and I_D - V_{DS} output characteristics of flexible SWCNT BG-BC devices measured in



Figure 2.18: a) Absorption spectrum of the SWCNT solution in clorobenzene. b) AFM surface topography image of SWCNT film spin-casted on Si/SiO₂/SiN_x/Cr/Al₂O₃. More details are available in [101].

nitrogen atmosphere are shown in Fig. 2.19. Based on these measurements, the following DC performance parameters were extracted: a μ_{SAT} of 8.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of -3.1 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} >10⁴, and a SS of 1.1 V/dec. When measured with a double sweep of V_{GS}, the SWCNT TFTs present a large counter-clockwise hysteresis in the drain current <1.7 V, which is caused by the polymeric presence in the SWCNT solution, whereas the slightly ambipolar behavior is due to the intrinsic properties of the SWCNTs. The obtained performance, especially the hole μ_{FE} of 8.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, demonstrate that polymer-sorted semiconducting SWCNTs are a particularly appealing option to realize flexible complementary circuits.

TFT mechanical properties: Flexible SWCNT TFTs were demonstrated to be operational while bent down to tensile radii of 4 mm ($\epsilon = 0.63$ % calculated using equation 1.2 [87]). Bending to 4 mm results in a decrease of μ_{SAT} by -6% and in a shift of V_{TH} by -50 mV. Smaller bending radii are not possible due to the formation of cracks in the brittle Cr gate.

Circuits: Fig. 2.20 displays the VTC and the corresponding static gain of a flexible SWCNT-based unipolar voltage inverter constituted by one driving SWCNT BG-BC TFT (W/L = $1400 \,\mu$ m/20 μ m) and a passive load (metal thin-film resistor with R = $160 \,k\Omega$), as shown in the inset



Figure 2.19: Transfer characteristic of flexible BG-BC TFT based on spin-casted (6,5) SWCNTs (W/L = $280 \,\mu\text{m}/35 \,\mu\text{m}$) measured at a V_{DS} of -1 V (linear regime) and -10 V (saturation regime) in nitrogen atmosphere. The inset displays the corresponding output characteristic. More details are available in [101].

of Fig. 2.20. Flexible unipolar inverters exhibit a G = 5.3 V/V and a perfectly centered $V_M = -1 \text{ V}$ (when V_{IN} is swept from 0 V to -2 V at a $V_{DD} = -2 \text{ V}$). Higher gains $\geq 87 \text{ V/V}$ (22 V/V) can be realized in flexible inverters by complementing p-type solution-processed SWCNT TFTs with n-type IGZO (In₂O₃), as presented in the next section 2.1.3 and in chapter 7 (page 135).

2.1.3 Material and device integration and application

In this subsection, the integration of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible electronic applications is tackled. In particular, flexible non-volatile IGZO memory TFTs are first investigated. Then, the integration of n-type metal oxide semiconductors (either IGZO or spray-coated In_2O_3) and p-type solution-processed SWCNTs for the realization of flexible complementary (CMOS) circuits is presented.



Figure 2.20: VTC and corresponding static gain of a flexible (6,5) SWCNT-based unipolar voltage inverter (measured at a $V_{DD} = -2$ V). The inset shows a schematic of the circuitry used: it comprises a driving SWCNT BG-BC TFT (W/L = 1400 μ m/20 μ m) and one metal thin-film resistor (R = 160 kΩ). More details are available in [101].

2.1.3.1 IGZO memory TFTs

To enable novel flexible electronic applications, non-volatile memory devices that combine mechanical flexibility and low-power dissipation are required. To this aim, ferroelectric gate dielectrics, in particular P(VDF-TrFE), are especially attractive, owing to their high spontaneous polarization of 50-100 mC/m² and their solution-processability at process temperature <140 °C [139]. The reversible polarization of P(VDF-TrFE) can be used in metal oxide semiconductor ferroelectric TFTs (Fe-TFTs) to realize single transistor non-volatile memory devices [140, 21, 141, 142, 85]. To employ these memory devices in flexible applications, it is crucial to understand their behavior under mechanical strain. Such study is particularly important considering that P(VDF-TrFE) is not only a ferroelectric, but also a piezoelectric polymer [143].

In this thesis, flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs have been characterized at tensile and compressive bending radii down to 5.5 mm.

Fabrication: Section 6.2 (page 119) describes the device structure and fabrication process of flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs with P(VDF-TrFE)





Figure 2.21: Schematic cross section of flexible IGZO memory TFT with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric fabricated directly on a PI foil. More details are available in section 6.2 (page 119).

dielectrics (Fig. 2.21). The IGZO Fe-TFTs are based on the same device structure (TG-BC) previously described for IGZO TFTs with DLW-defined channel, with the following difference:

As a gate dielectric, a hybrid multi-layer constituted by 10 nm Al_2O_3 and 100 nm P(VDF-TrFE) was employed. The $Al_2O_3/P(VDF-TrFE)$ multi-layer dielectric ensures a low gate leakage current and at the same time a good interface with the active IGZO layer [144]. The Al_2O_3 was first grown by ALD and patterned by standard UV photolithography and wet etching. Subsequently, 1 wt% VDF (70 mol%) and TrFE (30 mol%) were dissolved in MEK, spin-coated and crystallized at 140 °C in ambient air.

In addition to IGZO Fe-TFTs, also reference IGZO TG-BC with 25 nm Al_2O_3 gate dielectrics were fabricated on the same substrate. The reference TFTs have a W/L = 280 µm/115 µm, whereas the Fe-TFTs have a W/L = 1400 µm/20 µm to partially compensate for the different gate capacitance per area. For the bending measurements, the TFT masks were designed to allow cutting the process substrate (area 7.6 x 7.6 cm²) into stripes with one TFT per stripe.

Electrical performance: The electrical performance of flexible IGZO ferroelectric memory TFTs, as well as reference devices, has been characterized in section 6.3 (page 121).

DC performance: Flexible IGZO TG-BC reference TFTs yield the following DC performance parameters: an effective linear field-effect mobility μ_{LIN} of 7.5 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, a V_{TH} of 0.3 V, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 2.2×10⁷,



Figure 2.22: Flexible IGZO memory TFT with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric (W/L = 1400 μ m/20 μ m): a) hysteretic transfer characteristic (at V_{DS} = 0.1 V). Indicated blue arrows describe the direction of the transfer curve measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} between -6 V and 6 V. More details are available in section 6.3 (page 121).

and a SS of 106 mV/dec. Compared to flexible IGZO BG TFTs with the same gate stack materials [45], the $\approx 2x$ lower μ_{LIN} is attributed to a less clean IGZO/Al₂O₃ interface in the TG-BC geometry. When measured with a double sweep of V_{GS}, reference TFTs present a clockwise hysteresis <25 mV. Fig. 2.22 shows the I_D -V_{GS} hysteretic transfer characteristic of a flexible IGZO Fe-TFT, measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} between -6 V and 6 V, at $V_{DS} = 0.1$ V. The ferroelectric-driven memory operation is demonstrated by the counter-clockwise hysteresis of the drain current (see blue arrows in Fig. 2.22). Due to the hysteresis, the transfer curve presents a forward (V_{GS} from -6 to 6 V) and a reverse (V_{GS} from 6 to -6 V) branch. This leads to two different values of the threshold voltage V_{TH} of 1.3 V (forward) and -1.9 V (reverse). The memory window MW, which is defined as the difference of V_{TH} under the forward and the reverse operation, is therefore 3.2 V. The memory on/off ratio, which is the ratio between the memory on-value $I_{D,REV}$ (V_{GS} = 0 V) and off-value $I_{D,FOR}$ (V_{GS} = 0 V) is 1.5 x 10⁶. Furthermore, the IGZO Fe-TFT exhibits a μ_{LIN} of 8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, an I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of 1.7×10^7 , and a SS of 152 mV/dec. These parameters are comparable to those of previously reported flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs [140, 21, 141, 142].

The programming and retention characteristics of flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs were evaluated in subsection 6.3.2 (page 122). Applying V_{GS} pulses of 6 V (set memory state <1>) and -6 V (set memory state <0>) for 1 s, an initial memory on/off ratio of more than 10^3 (at V_{GS} = 0 V) was obtained, and still remained to be more than 50 after 100 s. This is comparable to previous reports on metal oxide semiconductor Fe-TFTs with Al₂O₃/P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric [145, 146]. Larger values can be obtained by utilizing single-layer high-quality P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics (without Al₂O₃) [142].

Mechanical performance: The mechanical properties of flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs (and reference devices) were investigated in section 6.4 (page 124) using a custom-built bending setup to measure the devices at arbitrary bending radii while connected to the parameter analyzer.

Setup: To measure the influence of bending, a mask layout with contact pads 1 cm away from the channel was utilized. Each single TFT/Fe-TFT was cut from the process substrate and attached to a flexible carrier substrate. Contact pads on the TFTs/Fe-TFTs were electrically connected to the carrier interconnections using glued Cu wires [106]. Interconnections on the carrier were subsequently connected to the parameter analyzer to be able to constantly monitor the device characteristics at arbitrary bending radii, without the need of probe tips. The carrier substrate was then placed between two movable plates in a custom build bending tester (see inset of Fig. 2.23). The substrate was positioned with the Fe-TFT/TFT facing upward (downward) to apply tensile (compressive) strain parallel to the channel length. The actual bending radius was defined by moving the plates, and was measured by fitting circles to images taken by an optical camera.

Influence of strain: Flexible IGZO TG-BC reference TFTs were bent down to tensile (compressive) radii of 5.5 mm, resulting in tensile (compressive) strain $\epsilon = 0.64 \%$ (-0.59 %) calculated using equation 1.2 [87]. As expected, tensile and compressive bending results in opposite variations: for tensile (compressive) strain $\epsilon = 0.64 \%$ (-0.59 %), the maximum drain current I_{D,MAX} changes by +10 % (-11 %) and V_{TH} shifts by -90 mV (+90 mV). These values are in good agreement with previous reports on flexible IGZO BG and TG devices [106, 147, 45, 148],

72



Figure 2.23: Transfer characteristic of flexible IGZO memory TFT with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric (W/L = 1400 μ m/20 μ m), measured while flat, bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm (ϵ = 0.65 %) and bent to a compressive radius of 5.5 mm (ϵ = -0.6 %) at V_{DS} = 0.1 V. The inset shows a photograph of the custom-built bending tester utilized for the measurement. More details are available in section 6.4 (page 124).

and are attributed to the under tensile (compressive) strain-induced increase (decrease) of the IGZO mobility and carrier density [106]. Fig. 2.23 shows the linear transfer characteristic of a flexible IGZO Fe-TFT, measured while flat, bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm ($\epsilon = 0.65$ %) and then bent to a compressive radius of 5.5 mm (ϵ = -0.6 %). Like for reference TFTs, the transfer curve presents shifts in opposite directions for tensile and compressive bending. Nevertheless, for Fe-TFTs, the measured changes are larger than those observed for reference TFTs. Bending IGZO Fe-TFTs at tensile (compressive) strain $\epsilon = 0.65\%$ (-0.6%) results indeed in the following changes: the I_{D,MAX} varies by 177 % (-24 %), the forward V_{TH} shifts by -810 mV (-40 mV), whereas the reverse V_{TH} changes by -580 mV (-10 mV). Since V_{TH} shifts in the same direction for the forward and the reverse branch, the memory window is not significantly affected by bending. On the other hand, the memory on/off ratio changes up to +318% (-28%) for tensile (compressive) strain $\epsilon = 0.65 \%$ (-0.6 %). The observed behavior can be explained considering that P(VDF-TrFE) is not only ferroelectric, but also piezoelectric [143], therefore its polarization depends on the applied mechanical strain.

In subsection 6.4.3 (page 127), the mechanism behind the observed bending-induced variations of flexible IGZO Fe-TFTs are investigated thoroughly, and explained by a superposition of the strain-induced dependence of the polarization in the piezoelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer, and the strain-dependent IGZO properties. These shifts need to be considered when designing future flexible memories. Memory operation down to bending radii of 5.5 mm demonstrates that these devices are feasible for next-generation large-area highly functional flexible electronic systems.

2.1.3.2 Complementary circuits

To realize low-power and compact circuitry with metal oxide semiconductor devices, complementary circuits based on both n- with p-type TFTs are required. Nevertheless, the scarce availability and performance of p-type metal oxide semiconductor TFTs limits the realization of a complementary technology. For this reason, to date, there are only a few reports on flexible circuits based on n- and p-type metal oxide semiconductors [34, 67, 99, 35]. Recently, solution-based SWCNTs are drawing a considerable attention for flexible electronics [97, 100, 133].

In this work, spin-coated highly-selected semiconducting (7,5) SWCNTs have been integrated with sputtered IGZO and spray-coated In_2O_3 to fabricate complementary logic inverters. The results shown have been obtained in a collaboration between Imperial College London (Centre for Plastic Electronics and Department of Physics), ETH Zurich, and Julius-Maximilian University of Würzburg (Institute of Physical and Theoretical Chemistry).

Fabrication: Section 7.2 (page 137) describes the fabrication process of flexible complementary inverters based on SWCNTs and sputtered IGZO or spray-coated In_2O_3 . Fig. 2.24 shows the schematic cross section and the circuit diagram of the flexible inverters fabricated on a free-standing 50 µm-thick PI foil (area 7.6 x 7.6 cm²). The inverters are based on the BG-BC device structure previously described for flexible In_2O_3 and SWCNT single TFTs. In this case, after the Ti/Au top metallization e-beam evaporation and lift-off:

The foil was diced into chips of $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$ to allow multiple depositions at different process conditions. Then, either RF sputtered IGZO or spray-coated In₂O₃ were deposited using the already de-

Chapter 2: Thesis Summary

74



Figure 2.24: Flexible complementary inverter based on solutionprocessed SWCNT TFTs and metal oxide semiconductor TFTs on a free-standing PI foil: schematic cross section and b) circuit layout. More details are available in section 7.2 (page 137).

scribed process conditions. In the case of IGZO n-type active layers, semiconductor islands were formed by wet etching and passivated with photoresist (AZ1518®). For In_2O_3 , the n-type semiconductor was patterned during the automated spray process using shadow masking, and subsequently passivated with a Cytop® layer.

To complement the n-type IGZO and In_2O_3 , a semiconducting (7,5) SWCNT solution, behaving as p-type active layer, was used. The unstructured and unpassivated (7,5) SWCNT film was obtained with the same process protocol previously presented for single SWCNT devices. In this case, (7,5) chirality was achieved by means of PFO-wrapping.

All TFTs have a channel length of $25 \,\mu$ m, with an interdigitated channel, as visible in Fig. 2.24b. The complementary inverters were realized using the circuit schematic shown in the inset of Fig. 2.26.

Electrical performance: The electrical performance of flexible IGZO, In_2O_3 and SWCNT single TFTs, as well as flexible IGZO/SWCNT and In_2O_3 /SWCNT complementary inverters has been characterized in sections 7.3 (page 138) and 7.4 (page 142). Fig. 2.25 displays the VTC and the static gain of flexible IGZO/SWCNT complementary inverters mea-



Figure 2.25: VTC of a flexible IGZO/SWCNT complementary inverter (measured at a $V_{DD} = 10$ V in nitrogen atmosphere), while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 1 cm. The inset shows both the corresponding static gain and a photograph of the flexible inverter measured while bent to 1 cm. The circuit comprises an n-type IGZO TFT (W/L = $1000 \,\mu$ m/25 μ m) and a p-type SWCNT TFT (W/L = $10000 \,\mu$ m/25 μ m). More details are available in section 7.3 (page 138).

sured at a $V_{DD} = 10$ V in nitrogen (when V_{IN} is swept from 0 V to 10 V). At $V_{DD} = 10$ V, the flexible inverter exhibits a $V_M = 4.39$ V, a G = 87 V/V, and a rail-to-rail output swing from 0.29 V to 9.93 V. To exploit the potential of solution-processed semiconductors, spin-coated SWCNTs were also integrated with spray-coated In₂O₃. Fig. 2.26 displays the VTC and the static gain of flexible In₂O₃/SWCNT complementary inverters measured at a $V_{DD} = 10$ V in nitrogen (when V_{IN} is swept from 0 V to 10 V). At a $V_{DD} = 10$ V, the flexible inverter yields a $V_M = 3.97$ V, a G = 22 V/V, and an output swing from 0.3 V to 9.2 V.

Mechanical performance: The mechanical performance of flexible IGZO and SWCNT single TFTs, as well as flexible IGZO/SWCNT complementary inverters has been characterized in section 7.3 (page 138). Fig. 2.25 shows the VTC and the static gain of flexible IGZO/SWCNT complementary inverters, measured while flat and bent to 1 cm tensile radius ($\epsilon \approx 0.29$ % parallel to the channels calculated using equation 1.2 [87]) at a V_{DD} = 10 V. Flexible IGZO/SWCNT inverters are func-



Figure 2.26: VTC and corresponding static gain of a flexible $In_2O_3/SWCNT$ complementary inverter (measured at a $V_{DD} = 10 V$ in nitrogen atmosphere). The inset shows a schematic of the circuitry used: it comprises an n-type In_2O_3 TFT ($W/L = 2500 \mu m/25 \mu m$) and a p-type SWCNT TFT ($W/L = 10\,000 \mu m/25 \mu m$). More details are available in section 7.4 (page 142).

tional while bent and exhibit only small changes in V_M (+40 mV) and G (-1.6 %), which are due to the variations in the μ_{FE} and V_{TH} of the n-and p-type TFTs.

2.2 Conclusion

This thesis focuses on the development of metal oxide semiconductor TFTs for flexible electronics. A wide range of materials, device structures, and fabrication processes have been utilized to manufacture flexible TFTs, as summarized in Table 2.1. In particular, advanced device structures and fabrication processes have been employed to realize flexible IGZO TFTs with channel lengths down to 280 nm; lowtemperature and scalable spray pyrolysis has been employed to fabricate flexible n-type In₂O₃ TFTs and unipolar logic inverters; inorganic (CuSCN) and organic (SWCNT) p-type semiconductors have been solution-deposited at low temperatures and incorporated in flexible TFTs and unipolar logic inverters; the influence of mechanical strain on the performance of non-volatile ferroelectric IGZO memory

Bending Cycles	1000		ı	,	,	,	,	
Strain (%)	0.5	0.48	0.2	0.65	0.58	0.63	0.65	s thesis
Bending Radius (mm)	5	5	10	4	4	4	5.5	ted in thi
Channel Length (µm)	0.5	0.3	0.28	20	20	35	20	Ts repoi
f _T (MHz)	0.08	1.5	80	ı	ı	ı	ı	xible TH
Ion/Ioff	2×10^7	1×10^{4}	1×10^3	6×10^{3}	5×10^{2}	1×10^4	2×10^7	om the fle
$\begin{array}{c} \mathrm{V}_{TH} \ \mathrm{(V)} \end{array}$	2.2	1.5	3	5.29	-1	-3.1	1.3/-1.9	racted fr
$({ m cm}^2{ m V}^{-1}{ m s}^{-1})$	0.02	0.2	1.1	0.2	0.0013	8.1	8	ameters ext
Device Type	N-type	N-type	N-type	N-type	P-type	P-type	N-type	ance par
Max. Temp. (°C)	150	150	150	250	150	150	150	rform
Semicond. Deposition	RF sputtering	RF sputtering	RF sputtering	Spray pyrolysis	Spin casting	Spin casting	RF sputtering	1: Set of pe
	IGZO VTFT,	IGZO QVTFT,	IGZO TG TFT with DLW,	In ₂ O ₃ BG TFT,	CuSCN BG TFT,	(6,5) SWCNT BG TFT,	IGZO Fe-TFT.	Table 2

ġ. Ч

2.2. Conclusion 77

TFTs has been investigated; flexible complementary inverters based on n-type metal oxide semiconductors (both sputtered IGZO and spraycoated In_2O_3) and p-type SWCNTs have been demonstrated. Based on the summary of the contributions presented in section 2.1, the following conclusions can be drawn:

• Short channel lengths below 500 nm are necessary to fabricate flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs with small footprint and high transit frequency for e.g. transceivers, RFID tags, or AM radios. The realization of sub-micrometer feature sizes on flexible substrates is challenging. State of the art conventional and self-aligned photolithography on flexible foils are limited to TFT channel lengths of $1 \,\mu m$ and $500 \,nm$, respectively [20, 75]. To obtain smaller feature sizes on flexible substrates, vertically integrated device structures were explored. Vertical devices not only enable shorter channel lengths, but also higher drain current densities (if compared to planar TFTs). Among the possible vertical-type TFTs, the VTFT geometry based on a multi-layer source-spacer-drain stack was identified as the most performing in terms of DC and AC performance. To realize IGZO VTFTs with this structure, two different fabrication processes based on dry etching and bi-layer lift-off of the vertical sidewall were proposed and compared. While dry etching resulted in an under-cut vertical profile and in strong source/drain contact contamination, the bi-layer lift-off process led to the reliable formation of a quasi-vertical sidewall and to the conformal coverage of the successive device layers. Even if channel lengths down to 300 nm were demonstrated for flexible IGZO QVTFTs, the still existing (even if reduced) process-induced source/drain contamination resulted in large contact resistance, which degraded μ_{FE} and f_T to values of $0.2 \,\mathrm{cm}^2 \mathrm{V}^{-1} \mathrm{s}^{-1}$ and $1.5 \,\mathrm{MHz}$, respectively. Despite also planar IGZO TFTs with 500 nm channel lengths exhibit a degraded contact resistance, the less pronounced effect allows higher μ_{FE} and transit frequency [20, 75]. This is why, alternative structuring techniques based on DLW photolithography were explored and successfully employed to fabricate flexible planar IGZO TFTs. The resulting TG devices exhibit a channel length as small as 280 nm. Nevertheless, compared to self-aligned IGZO BG TFTs (L = 500 nm), flexible IGZO TG devices (L = 280 nm) still yield slightly lower μ_{FE} and f_T of $1.1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and 80 MHz, respectively. This worse performance is not only attributed to

the further degraded contact resistance of flexible IGZO devices with even shorter channels, but also to the $\approx 2x$ lower average μ_{FE} of IGZO TG devices, compared to BG TFTs made of the same materials [105]. Nonetheless, already based on these first results, DLW photolithography seems to be a promising technique for flexible short-channel and high-frequency metal oxide semiconductor-based electronics.

- Cost-effective, large-area and high-throughput manufacturing techniques of flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs are required for applications like foldable and printable displays, disposable smart labels, and intelligent packaging. To this aim, simple and scalable solution processes like spray pyrolysis on large-area flexible substrates are especially desirable. Nevertheless, solution processing of metal oxide semiconductors typically requires high process temperatures (>>250-350 °C for spray pyrolysis) incompatible with temperature-sensitive flexible plastic substrates. The use of new precursor material formulations and optimized processing protocols allowed spray-coating In₂O₃ films on flexible foils at 250 °C. The resulting spray-deposited In₂O₃ active layers were successfully incorporated in flexible TFTs with μ_{FE} of $0.2 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, as well as in unipolar inverters. Device operation at tensile bending radii of 4mm demonstrated the potential of spray pyrolysis as a simple and scalable deposition tool for the manufacturing of flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based electronics.
- P-type semiconductor TFTs are necessary for the development of a flexible complementary thin-film technology. Applications like smart labels and intelligent packaging, as well as wearable sensory systems would certainly profit from the availability of high-performance, low-power, compact and flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based CMOS circuits. Nevertheless, to date, it is still difficult to achieve p-type metal oxide semiconductors, especially at low process temperatures. To this aim, promising solution-processable inorganic (CuSCN) and organic (SWCNT) p-type semiconductors were explored. Flexible p-type TFTs based on spin-casted CuSCN exhibited an μ_{FE} of 0.0013 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, whereas flexible devices with spin-casted SWCNT yielded a significantly higher value of 8.1 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. Employing solution-processed CuSCN and SWCNT TFTs, also

flexible unipolar inverters with gains of at least 3.4 V/V were realized. Notably larger gains of 87 V/V were achieved by complementing n-type IGZO with p-type SWCNTs on flexible substrates. Circuit operation at tensile bending radii of 10 mm proved the potential of flexible hybrid CMOS circuits. Additionally, to exploit the advantages of solution-processed semiconductors, flexible CMOS inverters based on spin-coated SWCNTs and spraycoated In_2O_3 with gains of 22 V/V were demonstrated. These results pave the way towards large-area and high-performance solution-processable flexible electronics.

 Besides logic, also memory functionality is important in applications like smart labels, intelligent packaging, and wearable sensoric systems. At this regard, non-volatile memories combining low-power dissipation and mechanical flexibility are desirable. IGZO TFTs with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectrics offer an attractive technological platform to realize non-volatile flexible memories. Nevertheless, to use these devices in flexible applications, it is crucial to understand their behavior under applied mechanical strain, especially considering that P(VDF-TrFE) is not only a ferroelectric, but also a piezoelectric polymer. The influence of tensile and compressive strain (up to $\epsilon \approx \pm 0.6$ %) on the performance of flexible IGZO memory TFTs with ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) dielectrics was investigated thoroughly. The observed variations were explained by the superposition of the strain-induced dependence of the polarization in the piezoelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer and the strain-dependent IGZO properties. These shifts need to be considered when designing future flexible memories. Memory operation down to bending radii of 5.5 mm demonstrated that non-volatile ferroelectric memory devices are feasible for next-generation large-area flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based electronics.

2.3 Limitations

This thesis demonstrates the successful development of metal oxide semiconductor devices for flexible electronic applications. Nonetheless, the following limitations were identified:

• The realization of short-channel flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs presents the following limitations: 1) First of all, the device structures (and fabrication processes) are limited to less favorable vertical or top-gate architectures. Compared to BG TFTs, flexible IGZO VTFTs require additional device layers (e.g. SiN_x spacer) and process steps (e.g. spacer structuring), which result in process-induced source/drain contamination. Compared to BG devices, also flexible IGZO TG TFTs require complicated and time-consuming fabrication (especially for DLW), which at the same time results in a more contaminated IGZO/Al₂O₃ interface. Unfortunately, BG devices cannot be realized with DLW photolithography. Indeed, the DLW photoresist encounters polymerization issues (e.g. absorbance and/or reflection of laser wavelengths by different layers) if opaque BG contacts are used, whereas transparent gate electrodes do not allow a correct alignment of the laser. All these issues, combined with the already high contact resistance of short-channel IGZO BG TFTs (L = 500 nm) in the order of 10Ω cm [20, 75], leads to the limited μ_{FE} values $\leq 1.1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ shown for flexible IGZO TFTs with sub-500 nm channel lengths. 2) At the same time, the process-induced thermal expansion of the flexible plastic foils limits the minimum overlap length (L_{OV}) between gate contacts and source/drain electrodes, and thus of the minimum gate capacitance (C_G) that can be achieved. This effect is especially dominant in VTFTs, where the source and drain contacts are deposited and structured in two different steps, leading to large $L_{OV} \ge 13 \,\mu\text{m}$ (over an active TFT area of $3 \times 3 \,\text{cm}^2$). This overlap, combined with an even larger overlap between the gate electrodes and the IGZO islands, results in $C_G/W \ge 70 \, \text{fF} \mu \text{m}^{-1}$ in flexible IGZO VTFTs. On the other side, in IGZO TG TFTs, the overlap between gate contacts and source/drain electrodes (deposited and structured in the same step) is only limited to 5.2 µm (over a lower active TFT area of $\approx 2 \times 2 \text{ mm}^2$), while C_G/W is 32.47 fFµm⁻¹. All these issues lead to the reported transit frequencies $\leq 80 \text{ MHz}$, as well as to time-consuming processes up to 5 hours (for devices with DLW-defined channels). 3) The integration of flexible short-channel IGZO devices over circuits with a large count of TFTs (even with long channels $\geq 1 \,\mu m$) is limited with the currently presented fabrication processes. As regards flexible IGZO VTFTs, the channel lengths are limited to values between 220 nm (with QVTFTs and 95 nm spacer) and 500 nm, whereas in the case of TG TFTs the limit is given by the low TFT

82 Chapter 2: Thesis Summary

count and by the reduced laser alignment area.

- There are limitations also on the performance of the demonstrated TFTs. Due to the different semiconductors, gate dielectrics and passivation layers employed (combined with diverse device structures and channel lengths), a large range of effective mobilities was obtained. On one hand, TG long-channel IGZO TFTs with Al₂O₃ gate dielectrics yielded standard μ_{SAT} of 7.5 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, I_{ON}/I_{OFF} \geq 10⁷ and small hysteresis <25 mV at low voltages of 5 V. On the other hand, depending on the device material, structure and fabrication process employed, significantly lower μ_{SAT} and I_{ON}/I_{OFF}, as well as larger hysteresis were obtained (sometimes even at higher voltages). Furthermore, the reduced stability in ambient air of solution-processed semiconductors poses a limit to their applications.
- Unobtrusive integration of flexible devices calls for cheap, largearea, transparent, ultra-thin, flexible, stretchable, and even biocompatible substrates. Here, PI foils were chosen due to their excellent thermal, chemical and mechanical stability, as well as low surface roughness. Other flexible substrates with higher optical transparency and which are at the same time cheaper and more easily available (e.g. PET and PEN), ultra-thin and biocompatible (e.g. parylene), or stretchable and biocompatible (e.g. PDMS) require significant device material and process modifications.
- Both IGZO and In₂O₃ metal oxide semiconductors are based on In, which might be expensive in the future due to its scarcity.

2.4 Outlook

Flexible electronics in general, and metal oxide semiconductor-based devices in particular, promise to enable an unobtrusive integration into everyday objects, and thereby change the future daily life of billion of people in the world. Listed here are some additional research questions that could assist in achieving this goal:

• Flexible short-channel metal oxide semiconductor devices with small footprint and high transit frequency in the GHz regime would have a large effect on the commercialization of flexible electronic circuits and systems. To achieve this, first of all the

source and drain contacts need to be optimized by selecting optimized materials (e.g. sputtered Mo electrodes) and processing conditions (e.g. thermal annealing). Moreover, also the overlap length requires further reductions, for example by self-aligning the gate electrodes to the source and drain contacts in flexible TG TFTs with DLW-defined channels. Additionally, alternative structuring techniques allowing short-channel BG TFTs (which yield an $\approx 2x \mu_{FE}$ compared to TG devices) have also to be explored. One attractive possibility to realize sub-300 nm in BG devices is offered by FIB-induced milling of the channel area in appropriately selected source/drain contacts. Alternatively, also the use of e-beam photolithography could be investigated, especially on substrates with flat surface and small area. Such properties could be achieved either by attaching a flexible foil to a rigid carrier, or more promisingly by spin-coating a thin polymeric film on top of a rigid Si or glass substrate. This second approach would also allow increasing the bendability of the resulting short-channel devices.

• The future success of flexible metal oxide semiconductor-based electronics strongly depends on the reliable and robust integration of single devices into large-area circuits and systems. For what concerns applications like transceivers, RFID tags, or AM radios, it is necessary to integrate on the same substrate (and within the same process) flexible TFTs with short and long channels. To this regard, modifications to the existing fabrication processes need to be explored, e.g. in DLW-based devices by employing wet etchable source/drain contacts (with optimized work function). This would allow realizing on the same substrate also TG TFTs (with long channels defined by standard UV photolithography and wet etching), improving at the same time also the mechanical bendability of the devices. Similar integration approaches could also be utilized for devices with FIBdefined channels. At the same time, large-area analog and digital CMOS circuits are necessary to boost the performance of metal oxide semiconductor-based flexible electronics. Here, a hybrid approach based on metal oxide semiconductors and SWCNTs was proposed and demonstrated for CMOS inverters. Future work should be devoted to decrease the device hysteresis (e.g. by reducing or suppressing the polymeric content in SWCNTs) and increase air-stability (e.g. using suitable encapsulation layers). Such improvements could pave the way to high-performance and large-area flexible complementary systems based on sensors, circuits, memories, display elements, and power supplies.

- Future commercialization of flexible metal oxide semiconductor electronics calls for a reduction of the manufacturing cost. To this aim, scalable and high-throughput solution processing techniques on large-area flexible substrates need to be optimized, aiming at printed or roll-to-roll manufacturing processes. To achieve this, further material and processing protocols improvements are required for the semiconducting layers. At the same time, also solution-deposited gate dielectrics (e.g. spin-casted Al₂O₃) and contacts (e.g. spin-casted ITO) need to be developed and integrated into flexible, high-performance and fully solution-processed TFTs and circuits.
- To allow a completely unobtrusive integration of electronic devices everywhere, flexible metal oxide semiconductor TFTs and circuits have to become transparent, thin, flexible, conformable, stretchable, biocompatible and/or even biodegradable. To this aim, further efforts need to be devoted to combine advanced flexible substrates (e.g. biocompatible parylene or PDMS) with suitable device layers (e.g. biocompatible IGZO, SiO₂, and Mg), in order to realize for example electronics that can be implanted into the body. At the same time, also implantable metal oxide semiconductor-based wireless data- and power-transmission systems need to be developed and integrated.

3

Vertical TFTs

Luisa Petti, Paulina Aguirre, Niko Münzenrieder, Giovanni A. Salvatore, Christoph Zysset, Andreas Frutiger, Lars Büthe, Christian Vogt, and Gerhard Tröster

Mechanically flexible vertically integrated a-IGZO thin-film transistors with 500 nm channel length fabricated on free standing plastic foil

Electron Device Meeting (IEDM), 2013 IEEE International, pp. 11.4.1-11.4.4, 2013 10.1109/IEDM.2013.6724609 © 2013 IEEE.

Abstract

We report the first mechanically flexible amorphous Indium-Gallium-Zinc-Oxide (a-IGZO) vertical thin-film transistors (VTFTs) with 500 nm channel length, fabricated on a free-standing plastic foil, using a low temperature process <150 °C. The VTFTs exhibit a well-shaped transfer characteristic, with an on/off current ratio >10⁷ and a threshold voltage of 2.2 V. We demonstrate full device functionality down to 5 mm bending radius, even after 1000 bending cycles. These results proof that VTFTs are feasible for realizing compact and bendable electronic systems.

3.1 Introduction

Future large-area electronic applications, such as bendable AM radios and radio frequency identification (RFID) tags require flexible devices operating in the MHz regime. Amorphous semiconductors, especially a-IGZO [10], are promising materials due to the high carrier mobility $>10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and the low deposition temperatures. To achieve high-frequency TFTs, channel length scaling in the sub-micron regime is required. However, due to the dimensional instability of plastic substrates, the channel lengths of flexible amorphous semiconductorbased TFTs are limited to several micrometers [31, 122]. One possibility to reduce the channel length is constituted by the self-alignment technique [149], which allows realizing flexible TFTs with sub-micron length [20]. Nevertheless, this method still suffers from photolithographic constrains, which limit further scaling of the channel length. An attractive alternative is to adopt vertical-type TFTs, where the channel length is defined by the thickness of a dielectric layer, and hence, not limited by lithography resolution and alignment [150]. This enables lengths in the nanoscale regime [102], and at the same time, much higher device-packing densities. To date, amorphous semiconductor VTFTs based on a-Si [150, 102, 151], ZnO [107], and a-IGZO [110] have been reported. However, to our best knowledge, all existing VTFTs have been realized on rigid substrates.

In this work, we advance current state-of-the-art, by reporting the first mechanically flexible amorphous semiconductor-based VTFTs with a channel length of 500 nm fabricated on a free-standing polyimide foil. These results demonstrate that VTFTs are amenable to realize compact, portable and bendable electronic systems. Future improvements promise to further gain advantage of the short channels and enable the realization of fast, small-area bendable devices.

3.2 Fabrication

We fabricated flexible a-IGZO VTFTs with 500 nm channel length on a $50 \,\mu\text{m}$ -thick polyimide foil (surface area $3 \,\text{x} \,3 \,\text{cm}^2$). Maximum process temperature is 150 °C. Materials and thickness were optimized for high performance, long term reliability, and bendability. We first deposited 50 nm-thick SiN_x adhesion layers using PECVD. Next, 10 nm Cr/60 nm Au/10 nm Cr source contacts were deposited by e-beam evaporation and structured by lift-off (lithographic mask 1). Following, 500 nm SiN_x were deposited by PECVD. Subsequently, we deposited 10 nm Cr/60 nm Au/10 nm Cr drain contacts (mask 2). Lift-off structured drain contacts were then used as a hard mask to etch the 500 nm thick SiN_r layer by reactive ion etching (RIE), using a CF4/O2 plasma. Next, we deposited 100 nm a-IGZO using RF magnetron sputtering from a ceramic InGaZnO₄ target. The IGZO was patterned into islands by lithography (mask 3) and diluted hydrochloric acid. Afterward, 25 nm Al₂O₃ gate dielectric were deposited by ALD at 150 °C. Drain and source vias were opened using lithography (mask 4) and wet etching. Finally, we deposited 200 nm Cu by e-beam evaporation, tilting the substrate 30° to obtain uniform coverage across the VTFT stack. We patterned gates using lithography (mask 5) and wet etching. Fig. 3.1 shows: a) the process flow and b) the device cross section. Fig. 3.2 displays: a) a micrograph and b) an SEM image of a focused ion beam (FIB) cross section. A yield of 80 % was achieved over the entire $3 \times 3 \text{ cm}^2$ substrate.

3.3 TFT Characteristic

The I_D-V_{GS} characteristic (Fig. 3.3b) of the fabricated VTFTs (W/L = $60 \ \mu m/0.5 \ \mu m$) shows an on/off current ratio of 2 x 10^7 , a threshold voltage V_{TH} of 2.2 V, a subthreshold swing SS of 0.6 V/dec, and a gate leakage current I_G < $10 \ p$ A. The deposited a-IGZO layers, exhibit a Hall mobility μ_H of 11.8 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. Together with a contact resistance R_C \approx 500 k Ω (at the interface between source/drain and IGZO), we extract a transconductance g_m (Fig. 3.4) of 4.9 μ S (V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 5V). This relatively high contact resistance value is attributed to the oxidation of the Cr contacts, as well as to the contamination of the metal surface during

88 Chapter 3: Vertical TFTs



Figure 3.1: Flexible a-IGZO vertical TFTs (VTFTs) with 500 nm channel length fabricated directly on a free-standing plastic foil (3 x 3 cm²): a) process flow and b) schematic cross section.



Figure 3.2: Fabricated flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \mu m/0.5 \mu m$): a) micrograph and b) SEM image of the focused ion beam (FIB) cross section through the VTFT channel.

the RIE etching. From I_D - V_{DS} data (Fig. 3.3a), we derive an output conductance g_{ds} (Fig. 3.4) of $0.13 \,\mu\text{S}$ ($V_{GS} = V_{DS} = 5\text{V}$), resulting in excellent intrinsic gain $g_m/g_{ds} \geq 38$. The C-V measurements (Fig. 3.5) highlight a relatively high value of the gate capacitance $C_G \approx 9.8 \,\text{pF}$, which is explained by the presence of a parasitic capacitance between gate contact and IGZO, as visible in Fig. 3.2a. This value can be reduced by an optimized layout design with smaller IGZO islands. From the extracted C_G and g_m values, we estimate a transit frequency of $\approx 80 \,\text{kHz}$.



Figure 3.3: DC characteristic of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \mu m/0.5 \mu m$): a) output and b) transfer characteristic. The inset in b) shows the performance parameters extracted using standard MOS-FET equations to model the transistor current. VTFTs do not exhibit hysteresis when the gate-source voltage V_{GS} is swept from -2 V to 5 V (forward) and from 5 V to -2 V (reverse).

This frequency is lower than previously published values of 10 MHz for flexible bottom-gate a-IGZO TFTs [122] and 135 MHz for flexible bottom-gate self-aligned a-IGZO TFTs [20]. However, we believe our VTFTs have a great potential of improvement. Especially, process and layout optimization will enable a reduction of both R_C and C_G , and thus higher frequencies.



Figure 3.4: Transconductance g_m and output conductance g_{ds} (extracted from data shown in Figure 3.3) of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \mu m/0.5 \mu m$). The inset displays the derivation of the drain current I_D (transconductance g_m) measured at $V_{DS} = 5V$. The intrinsic gain (g_m/g_{ds}) exhibits excellent values of 63, always exceeding a value of 38.



Figure 3.5: Flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \mu m/0.5 \mu m$): gate capacitance C_G measured with source/drain contacts grounded. The measurement was performed at a frequency of 10 kHz. A relatively high capacitance value of C_G \approx 9.8 pF is explained by the presence of a parasitic capacitance between gate contact and IGZO (Fig. 3.2a). This value can be reduced by adopting an optimized layout design with smaller IGZO islands.



Figure 3.6: Electrical stability of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \,\mu$ m/0.5 μ m): threshold voltage shift ΔV_{TH} induced by different bias stress fields applied to the gate contact for a time period of 300 s. For the measurement, source and drain contacts were grounded.

3.4 Stability

To study the electrical stability of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs, I_D -V_{GS} characteristics are measured before and after applying a gate bias stress field between 4 MV/m (V_{GS} = 0.1 V) and 300 MV/m (V_{GS} = 7.5 V) for a time period of 300 s. The VTFTs exhibit a positive threshold voltage shift ΔV_{TH} (Fig. 3.6), caused by carrier injection into the gate dielectric. The maximum observed shift of 0.9 V is comparable with typical shifts in bottom-gate a-IGZO devices [152]. Additionally, our flexible VTFTs have a shelf lifetime of more than 100 days.

3.5 Bendability

Mechanical stability is investigated by winding the substrate around cylindrical rods of 10, 6 and 5 mm bending radius (Fig. 3.7a). This corresponds to tensile strain ϵ of 0.25 %, 0.4 %, and 0.5 % [87] in the direction given in Fig. 3.7b. Fig. 3.8 shows I_D-V_{DS} and I_D-V_{GS} characteristics measured while the substrate is flat and bent to 5 mm. Bending to 5 mm changes V_{TH} by +97 mV and the saturation field effect mobility μ_{SAT} by -2 %. Fig. 3.9 displays the evolution of the threshold voltage shift ΔV_{TH} and of the normalized saturation mobility $\mu_{SAT}/\mu_{SAT,0}$ as a function of the bending radius. Compared to previously published measurements on flexible bottom-gate a-IGZO devices [106], the observed shifts cor-



Figure 3.7: a) Photograph of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs contacted and bent around a cylindrical rod of 5 mm bending radius. Tensile strain is applied in the direction shown in b).

respond to compressive strain in the TFT channel. This is due to the Poisson effect, which causes compressive strain perpendicular to the externally applied strain, and thus parallel to the VTFT channel. After re-flattening, the VTFTs stay fully functional; while bending to smaller radii induces cracks perpendicular to the applied strain that permanently harm the devices. Long-term bendability is evaluated by characterizing the VTFTs before and after 1000 cycles of repeated bending ($\epsilon = 0.25$ %) and re-flattening. This corresponds to 15 h of continuous bending using the custom-build bending machine displayed in Fig. 3.10. Fig. 3.11 shows the I_D-V_{DS} and I_D-V_{GS} characteristics of the VTFTs before and after 1000 bending cycles, the VTFTs are fully operational, with a threshold voltage shift $\Delta V_{TH} \approx -460$ mV and an almost constant saturation mobility μ_{SAT} (±0.3%).

3.6 Conclusion

We present mechanically flexible a-IGZO VTFTs with 500 nm vertical channels fabricated on a free-standing plastic foil, using a low temperature process <150 °C. Our a-IGZO VTFTs are electrically and mechanically stable down to a 5 mm bending radius, withstanding also 1000 cycles of repeated bending and re-flattening. To our knowledge, these are the first mechanically flexible amorphous semiconductor-based VTFTs. These results proof that VTFTs are amenable to realize compact, portable and bendable electronic systems. Furthermore, we foresee potential for future improvements in the fabrication process and in the device layout. In particular, reducing source/drain contact



Figure 3.8: DC characteristic of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \,\mu$ m/0.5 μ m) while flat and bent to 5 mm (tensile strain ϵ of 0.5 % applied in the direction given in Fig. 3.7b): a) output and b) transfer characteristic. Bending to 5 mm changes V_{TH} by +97 mV and μ_{SAT} by -2 %.

resistance and parasitic capacitances promises enhanced DC and AC performance. This opens the way to high-speed densely-packed flexible devices for bendable AM radios, ultra-sound devices and LF-RFID tags.



Figure 3.9: Bendability of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $60 \mu m/0.5 \mu m$): threshold voltage shift ΔV_{TH} and normalized saturation mobility $\mu_{SAT}/\mu_{SAT,0}$ while flat and bent to 10, 6, and 5 mm (strain ϵ of 0.25 %, 0.4 %, and 0.5 %).



Figure 3.10: Photograph of the custom-built bending tester used for the multiple bending experiments. The actual bending radius was measured by fitting circles to images taken by an optical camera.

95



Figure 3.11: DC characteristic of flexible a-IGZO VTFTs (W/L = $45 \,\mu$ m/0.5 μ m) before and after 1000 cycles of repeated bending (r = $10 \,\text{mm}, \epsilon = 0.25 \,\%$) and re-flattening: a) output and b) transfer characteristic. After 1000 bending cycles, the threshold voltage V_{TH} changes by -460 mV, while the saturation mobility μ_{SAT} stays almost constant (±0.3 %).

4

Quasi-Vertical TFTs

Luisa Petti, Andreas Frutiger, Niko Münzenrieder, Giovanni A. Salvatore, Lars Büthe, Christian Vogt, Giuseppe Cantarella, and Gerhard Tröster

Flexible Quasi-Vertical In-Ga-Zn-O Thin-Film Transistor with 300-nm Channel Length

IEEE Electron Device Letter, vol. 36, no. 5, pp. 475-477, 2015 10.1109/LED.2015.2418295 © 2015 IEEE.

Abstract

In this letter, we report a flexible Indium-Gallium-Zinc-Oxide quasivertical thin-film transistor (QVTFT) with 300 nm channel length, fabricated on a free-standing polyimide foil, using a low temperature process <150 °C. A bi-layer lift-off process is used to structure a spacing layer with a tilted sidewall and the drain contact on top of the source electrode. The resulting quasi-vertical profile ensures a good coverage of the successive device layers. The fabricated flexible QVTFT exhibits an on/off current ratio of 10^4 , a threshold voltage of 1.5 V, a maximum transconductance of 0.73 µSµm⁻¹, and a total gate capacitance of 76 fFµm⁻¹. From S-parameters measurements, we extracted a transit frequency of 1.5 MHz. Furthermore, the flexible QVTFT is fully operational when bent to a tensile radius of 5 mm.

4.1 Introduction

Bendable thin-film transistors (TFTs) are the fundamental building block for new electronic applications, such as rollable displays, sensory skin, or e-textiles [2]. To enable these, there is strong demand for flexible TFTs with high frequency operation, large current densities and small areas, which can be fabricated using low-temperature processes. In the last decades, vertical TFTs (VTFTs) [150] have emerged as an attractive alternative to planar devices, owing to:

- a channel defined by non-photolithographic methods, allowing nanoscaled lengths and high frequencies [102];
- large W/L ratios, leading to high current densities;
- \approx 3x smaller device area, compared to planar TFTs [102].

First examples of VTFTs with mobilities $<0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ have been realized employing amorphous Silicon (a-Si) [150, 102] and organic semiconductors [153]. Compared to a-Si and organic materials, oxide semiconductors, especially Indium-Gallium-Zinc-Oxide (IGZO), offer carrier mobilities $>10 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ even if deposited at room temperature [10]. Several types of oxide-based VTFTs have been demonstrated, by using either standard structures with the channel formed on a multilayer stack of source-spacer-drain [110, 111, 52], or alternative architectures with the channel defined by the gate [107, 108] or the semiconductor [109] thickness. To date, IGZO VTFTs with standard structures have
been realized using dry etched sidewalls [110, 111]. However, such dry etching approaches are difficult to optimize in order to avoid under-cut profiles and contaminated source/drain contacts, which degrade TFT performance. Contact contamination can be overcome by wet etching or photolithographic techniques, yet the under-cut in the profile is still present allowing only the use of uniformly layered semiconductors like ALD-deposited ZnO [52]. Alternative structures with channels defined by the gate thickness lead to better DC performance, but cause large gate/source-drain capacitances, limiting AC performance [107, 108]. Additionally, VTFTs with lengths defined by the IGZO thickness yield poor electrostatic control [109].

To overcome these issues, we propose a VTFT structure with a quasi-vertical sidewall, realized by a bi-layer lift-off of spacing layer and drain contact. This approach circumvents the problems related to wet and dry etched profiles, leading to a reliable sidewall formation and a conformal deposition of all device layers. The resulting IGZO VTFT exhibits 300 nm channel length, well-shaped characteristics and megahertz operation. In addition, the flexible substrate enables device operation at 5 mm radius.

4.2 Device Structure and Fabrication

An IGZO quasi-vertical TFT (QVTFT) (Fig. 4.1a) was fabricated on a free-standing 50 μ m-thick polyimide foil (area 3 x 3 cm²). Both sides of the substrate were covered with 50 nm PECVD-deposited SiN_x as adhesion layer. Next, 10 nm Ti/ 60 nm Pd were deposited by e-beam evaporation and structured into source contacts using a lift-off process. Subsequently, we spin-coated 4 µm LOR-5B (MicroChem Corp.) at 400 rpm for 4 sec, followed by 4000 rpm for 45 sec, and baking at 115 °C for 2 min. Then, 2 µm SU-8 2002 (MicroChem Corp.) was spin-coated at 500 rpm for 10 sec, followed by 2000 rpm for 50 sec, and baking at 95 °C for 90 sec. Successively, the bi-layer was structured into drain contacts by photolithography. Post-lithographic procedures included development in Ethylactate for 60 sec, post-baking at 170 °C for 10 min and development of LOR-5B in MA-D533s (90 sec). Deposition and structuring of the bi-layer were optimized to achieve an under-cut between SU-8 and LOR-5B (\approx 4.1 µm). During the subsequent deposition of a 130 nm-thick SiN_x (PECVD, 120 °C) and 60 nm-thick Pd (e-beam evaporation), the suspended SU-8 layer collapsed on the substrate (in



Figure 4.1: Flexible IGZO QVTFT with 300 nm channel length: a) schematic device cross section, b) SEM image of the focused ion beam (FIB) cross section through the channel, and c) optical micrograph.

the under-cut area) and SiN_x/Pd were uniformly deposited around the SU-8. The successive controlled rupture of the SiN_x layer during lift-off yielded a tilted sidewall with a length of 300 nm and a perfectly aligned Pd drain contact. Here, we chose Pd (as opposed to Au [111, 105]) as contact material, because it provides directly good adhesion to the other materials without the need of additional Cr [111] or Ti [105] layers, which are more prone to oxidation in ambient air. Subsequently, an IGZO layer (≈12 nm at the sidewall) was deposited by RF magnetron sputtering (InGaZnO₄ target) in a pure Ar atmosphere and patterned into islands by wet etching. The semiconductor was then electrically insulated by 25 nm Al₂O₃ (dielectric constant: 9.5) deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD, 150 °C). Contact holes for source/drain electrodes were opened by wet etching. Finally, 200 nm Cu were e-beam evaporated (30° tilt), and patterned into gate contacts by wet etching. Fig. 4.1b displays the SEM picture of a focused ion beam (FIB) cross section through the QVTFT channel. The image shows how the quasi-vertical profile ensures a good coverage of the IGZO, Al₂O₃ and Cu layers. Fig. 4.1c displays a micrograph of the device, which uses a ground-signal-ground layout to allow AC measurements. The QVTFT presented has a length of 300 nm and a width of 55 µm. QVTFTs with

different lengths (220 nm-300 nm) can be realized by controlling the spacer thickness (95 nm-130 nm). Thinner or thicker SiN_x either results in large off-currents or non uniform rupturing of the SiN_x layer during lift-off. However, top-gate devices with longer channels can be integrated on the same substrate without additional lithography and deposition steps [105].

4.3 Results and Discussion

TFT characterization was performed under ambient conditions using an HP 8753E network analyzer and an Agilent technologies B1500A parameter analyzer. TFT performance parameters were extracted using standard MOSFET equations.

4.3.1 Electrical Performance

The transfer and output characteristics of the flexible IGZO QVTFT are shown in Fig. 4.2. The QVTFT exhibited well-shaped transfer characteristic and clear current saturation, with threshold voltage $V_{TH} = 1.5 V$ and sub-threshold swing SS = 0.4 V/dec. Gate current I_G is <300 pA, which is 10^3 larger than standard values (<0.1 pA) reported for planar IGZO devices [20]. The QVTFT yielded an on/off current ratio ION/IOFF of 10⁴, which is large enough for analog circuit applications. Nevertheless, this value is significantly lower compared to standard I_{ON}/I_{OFF} of $\approx 10^9$ of flexible small-channel planar IGZO TFTs [20]. This is due to the large I_{OFF} (2 nA) caused by leakage through the thin SiN_x spacing layer between source and drain contacts. Smaller I_{OFF} and therefore larger I_{ON}/I_{OFF} can be achieved by reducing the source/drain overlap. The saturation field-effect mobility μ_{SAT} was $0.2 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, which is lower than the Hall mobility $\mu_H \approx 11.8 \,\mathrm{cm}^2 \mathrm{V}^{-1} \mathrm{s}^{-1}$ of the IGZO layer and the mobility $\mu_{SAT} = 7.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ of flexible small-channel planar IGZO TFTs [20]. This degradation was attributed to the high contact resistance at the IGZO/Pd interface. Even though Pd is known to form a Schottky barrier with IGZO sputtered at high O₂ partial pressures, if a pure Ar plasma is used (as in our case) an ohmic contact is expected [112]. The high normalized contact resistance $r_{\rm C} = 45 \,\Omega$ cm, estimated based on the TFT DC and AC performance using the method described in [75], is expected to be originated from process-induced surface contamination of the Pd contacts. Similar contact resistance issues with even more pronounced effects were reported for IGZO VTFTs with n-



Figure 4.2: Transfer (a) and output (b) characteristics of a flexible IGZO QVTFT measured in the linear and saturation regime.

type Si [110] and Cr/Au/Cr [111] contacts. Nevertheless, the presented QVTFT yielded improved characteristics if compared to other flexible IGZO VTFTs [111, 109]. Future optimization of the source/drain contacts will allow larger μ_{SAT} . A way to achieve this is the use of sputtered Mo source/drain contacts, which were reported to form the lowest contact resistance with amorphous oxides [154]. From I_D-V_{GS} data (Fig. 4.2a), we derived a transconductance $g_m/W = 0.73 \,\mu S \mu m^{-1}$ $(V_{GS} = 5 V, V_{DS} = 5 V)$ (Fig. 4.3a). The improved g_m/W , compared to our previously reported value of $\approx 0.08 \,\mu\text{S}\mu\text{m}^{-1}$ for IGZO VTFT with dry etched sidewall and Cr/Au/Cr contacts [111] is a result of the by a factor of ≈ 60 reduced r_C. The gate capacitance C_G (at 1 MHz) is displayed in Fig. 4.3b. The QVTFT presented a gate/source-drain overlap capacitance of 29 fF μ m⁻¹ (V_{GS} = -1 Vs) and a total gate capacitance of 76 fF μ m⁻¹ (V_{GS} = 5 V). C_G is dominated by the capacitance of the overlap between gate and source/drain $(17.8 \,\mu\text{m})$, and between gate and IGZO (74 µm) (Fig. 4.1c). An optimized layout with reduced IGZO islands and channel length is expected to decrease C_G. Furthermore, the



Figure 4.3: Transconductance (up to 5 V) (a), total gate capacitance (b), and measured current gain (c) of a flexible IGZO QVTFT.

use of a transparent ITO source contact [155] can potentially allow the self-alignment of the gate to the drain contact, and thus lead to smaller overlap capacitances. The frequency-dependent current gain h_{21} calculated from the S-parameters is plotted in Fig. 4.3c. From this plot, we derived a transit frequency f_T of 1.5 MHz, which nicely agreed with the $f_T = 1.52$ MHz calculated from g_m and C_G values. Due to improved g_m and C_G , our QVTFT exhibits a 19x enhanced f_T compared to our previously reported value of ≈ 80 kHz for IGZO VTFTs.

4.3.2 Bending

To demonstrate the QVTFT bendability, we wound the device around a cylindrical rod with 5 mm radius (tensile strain of 0.48 % parallel to the channel width). The QVTFT stayed fully functional when bent, and after re-flattening. The I_D - V_{GS} curve measured while flat and bent, as well as a photograph of the bent substrate is shown in Fig. 4.4. Bending to 5 mm radius changed μ_{SAT} by -5 % and V_{TH} by +126 mV. These values are comparable to previously published strain-induced



Figure 4.4: Transfer characteristic of a flexible IGZO QVTFT measured while flat and subsequently bent to a tensile radius of 5 mm (strain: 0.48%).

shifts of IGZO VTFTs [111]. Bending to radii <5 mm was not possible, due to delamination of the Cu gate contact. The use of better adhering gate metals promises smaller radii.

4.4 Conclusion

A flexible IGZO QVTFT with 300 nm channel length was fabricated by a low temperature process <150 °C. A lift-off process to structure the SiN_x spacing layer and the Pd drain contact enabled the realization of a tilted sidewall on top of a Ti/Pd source electrode. Conformal coverage of the IGZO active layer, Al₂O₃ gate dielectric, and Cu gate electrode was possible thanks to the quasi-vertical profile of the underlying layers. Our QVTFT yielded an on/off current ratio of 10^4 , a threshold voltage of 1.5 V, a maximum transconductance of $40 \,\mu$ S, and a transit frequency of 1.5 MHz. Furthermore, the flexible device remained functional even when bent to 5 mm radius. These results confirm QVTFTs as a promising technology for small-area bendable integrated circuits.

Solution-Processed TFTs and Circuits

Luisa Petti, Hendrik Faber, Niko Münzenrieder, Giuseppe Cantarella, Panos A. Patsalas, Gerhard Tröster, and Thomas D. Anthopoulos

Low-temperature spray-deposited indium oxide for flexible thin-film transistors and integrated circuits

Applied Physics Letters, vol. 106, no. 9, p. 092105, 2015 10.1063/1.4914085 © 2015 AIP Publishing LLC

Abstract

Indium oxide (In₂O₃) films were deposited by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis in ambient air and incorporated into bottom-gate coplanar and staggered thin-film transistors. As-fabricated devices exhibited electron-transporting characteristics with mobility values of $1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and $16 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ for coplanar and staggered architectures, respectively. Integration of In₂O₃ transistors enabled realization of unipolar inverters with high gain (5.3 V/V) and low-voltage operation. The low temperature deposition ($\leq 250 \text{ °C}$) of In₂O₃ also allowed transistor fabrication on free-standing 50 µm-thick polyimide foils. The resulting flexible In₂O₃ transistors exhibit good characteristics and remain fully functional even when bent to tensile radii of 4 mm.

5.1 Introduction

Thin-film transistors (TFTs) based on transparent metal oxide semiconductors [156, 157] hold great promise for a host of future largearea, large-volume electronic applications including flexible radiofrequency identification (RFID) tags [3], flexible and paper-like displays [158], and electronic skin [159]. To this end, recent year have witnessed the development of a range of high-mobility metal oxide semiconductors and devices that can be manufactured over large areas employing simple and low-temperature fabrication methods [160]. Among the various deposition techniques demonstrated, solution processing offers a scalable and cost effective route for high throughput and large-area deposition of various oxide materials including ZnO, In_2O_3 , and SnO_x to name a few [161, 74]. Among those, In_2O_3 –a simple binary metal oxide-has attracted an increasing interest in the last years owing to its large electron mobility (up to 160 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ in single crystal device grown from vapor-phase at 1000 °C [162]) and the high optical transparency (>90 %) given by its wide band gap (\sim 3.1 eV [162]). A significant advantage associated with the application of In_2O_3 in thin-film devices is that it can be grown at relatively low temperatures employing a diverse range of vapor-phase techniques [163, 164, 165], as well as solution-based methods [123, 166, 167, 125]. To date, solutionprocessed In₂O₃-based devices have been demonstrated by ink-jet printing [123] and spin-casting [167, 125, 168, 169]. Tremendous advances have been made to realize solution-processed TFTs at low temperatures (170-400 °C) with field effect electron mobility values ranging from $0.01 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ up to $44 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ [123, 167, 125, 168, 169]. Despite the huge promise, however, accurate control over the morphology and the chemical composition of solution-grown In₂O₃ still remains very challenging, leading to significant device-to-device variations. Recently spray pyrolysis (SP) has demonstrated to be a particularly appealing technology, enabling a simple and scalable deposition of a large variety of oxide semiconductors, from n-type ZnO [170, 171], IZO [172], ZTO [173], and Ga₂O₃ [174] to p-type Cu_xO [175]. Furthermore, addition of suitable dopants in the precursor solution has also allowed the demonstration of Be-doped ZnO transistors and integrated circuits with optimized operating characteristics [176]. Despite the tremendous potential, however, deposition of semiconducting metal oxides by spray pyrolysis has so far been limited to high processing temperatures typically in the excess of >350 °C, hence rendering the technology incompatible with inexpensive, temperature-sensitive substrate materials such as plastic. In order to overcome this rather serious bottleneck, development of new material formulations and optimized processing protocols would be needed.

Here, we report the development of low-voltage In₂O₃-based TFTs and inverters using ambient ultrasonic spray pyrolysis (SP) and indium nitrate hydrate as the precursor. Optimal process conditions enable the growth of high-quality electron-transporting In₂O₃ layers and the realization of low-voltage bottom-gate, bottom-contact (BG-BC) as well as bottom-gate, top-contact (BG-TC) TFTs with electron mobility of $\sim 1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and $\sim 16 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, depending on the particular device configuration employed. Use of the application relevant BG-BC transistor architecture allows the fabrication of fully functional unipolar inverters with excellent operating characteristics. Finally, by taking advantage of the moderate process temperature (~250 °C), fabrication of fully functional and bendable In₂O₃-based TFTs on plastic substrate is also demonstrated. Although the use on In-based oxide semiconductors may ultimately prove expensive for application in future large-volume electronics due to the scarcity of In, our work highlights the potential of spray pyrolysis as a viable large-area deposition tool even for plastic microelectronics.

5.2 Device Structure and Fabrication

Bottom-gate coplanar transistors were fabricated on a 4-in. silicon substrate with 1 μ m thermally grown SiO₂ acting as isolation layer. Fig. 5.1a shows the schematic device cross section. The substrate was covered by 500 nm of SiN_x grown via Plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). Next, 30 nm-thick e-beam evaporated Cr was structured into bottom-gate contacts using standard photolithographic etching. Following, a 50 nm thick Al₂O₃ gate dielectric layer (dielectric constant: 9.5) was deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD) at 150 °C. Gate contact holes through the Al₂O₃ were patterned by photolithography and wet chemistry [103]. Subsequently, 10 nm/60 nm of Ti/Au were e-beam evaporated and structured into source/drain (S/D) contacts using a lift-off process. Prior to the semiconductor deposition, the substrate was diced into chips of $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$. The diced chips were then cleaned by ultra-sonication in acetone and IPA for 5 min, and submitted to 30 min UV/ozone treatment. The In₂O₃ deposition was carried out by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis using a 30mg/mL indium nitrate hydrate ($In(NO_3)_3 \cdot H_2O$) in deionized water solution. The deposition was performed in ambient air at 250 °C. The resulting transistors have channel length (L) and width (W) of $10 \,\mu\text{m}$ and $500 \,\mu\text{m}$, respectively. Bottom-gate, staggered transistors (Fig. 5.1b) were fabricated onto doped Si⁺⁺ wafers acting as the common gate electrode with a 400 nm-thick SiO₂ layer as the gate dielectric. In_2O_3 was processed using the identical protocols followed by the thermal evaporation of top Al source/drain electrodes in high vacuum (10^{-6} mbar).

5.3 Results and Discussion

X-ray diffraction (XRD) in Bragg-Brentano geometry were performed using a Bruker D8-Advance X-ray diffractometer. The surface morphology of the films was investigated by intermittent contact mode atomic force microscopy (AFM). Electrical measurements were performed in nitrogen atmosphere using a semiconductor parameter analyzer. Finally, the charge carrier field-effect mobility values were extracted using the standard gradual channel approximation model [177].



Figure 5.1: Schematic cross sections of a) the coplanar, bottom-gate, bottom contact and b) staggered bottom-gate, top-contact indium oxide (In_2O_3) TFTs fabricated on Si/SiO₂ substrates. c) AFM surface topography image of an In_2O_3 film processed on Si/SiO₂/SiN_x/Cr/Al₂O₃ substrate. d) XRD diffraction patterns of spray-deposited In_2O_3 layers in comparison with peak positions of reference powder diffraction file (JCPDS-PDF 06-0416).

5.3.1 In₂O₃ Characterization

Fig. 5.1c shows a representative AFM image of the surface topography of a ~15 nm-thick In_2O_3 film processed on a Si^{++}/SiO_2 substrate by ultrasonic SP in air. The film appears continuous and extremely smooth with a root mean square (rms) surface roughness of ~1.1 nm. To investigate whether the as-process In_2O_3 films are amorphous, we performed XRD measurements on the same films. Fig. 5.1d displays the measured XRD spectrum of a ~15 nm-thick spray-deposited In_2O_3 layer together with the reference powder diffraction file (JCPDS-PDF 06-0416) for comparison. It can be seen that In_2O_3 films are clearly polycrystalline as the diffraction peaks are in good agreement with the reference powder diffraction data. The mean crystallite size was also calculated from the (222) peak at around 30.5° using the Scherrer method yielding a value of ~9.3 nm.

5.3.2 Rigid In₂O₃ TFTs

In order to investigate the charge transport properties of as-deposited In₂O₃ films, we fabricated coplanar BG-BC transistors (Fig. 5.1a) and electrically characterize them in nitrogen at room temperature. Fig. 5.2a and 5.2b display representative sets of the output and transfer characteristics measured for an In₂O₃ TFT, respectively. All devices operate at low voltages (≤ 8 V) and exhibit electron transporting (nchannel) behaviour with clear channel current saturation. The devices show current on/off ratio (I_{ON}/I_{OFF}) of >10⁴, threshold voltage (V_{TH}) around ~2.5 V, sub-threshold swing (SS) of ~0.9 V/dec, and linear (μ_{LIN}) and saturation (μ_{SAT}) field-effect mobilities of 0.6 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and 1.25 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹, respectively. The mobility values obtained here are generally lower than values reported previously for solution-processed In_2O_3 transistors with comparable high-k dielectrics [167, 125]. This is primarily attributed to the unfavorable coplanar BG-BC transistor architecture and the high work function gold S/D electrodes (-5 eV) used [178]. When similar spray-deposited In_2O_3 channel layers were employed in staggered bottom-gate, top-contact (BG-TC) device structures (Fig. 5.1b) in combination with low work function Al S/D electrodes, the electron mobility reached values up to 16 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ (Fig. 5.2c). Although the latter value is approximately one order of magnitude lower than the Hall electron mobilities reported for single crystals of In₂O₃ prepared at 1000 °C [162], it is amongst the highest field-effect mobilities reported to date for In₂O₃ TFTs prepared from solution at comparable temperatures. Despite the improved performance, however, the staggered BG-TC device architecture is not practical for use in integrated circuits due to the significant complexity associated with the manufacturing and the chemically unstable nature of the low work function Al electrodes.

5.3.3 Rigid In₂O₃ Circuits

Because of these practical issues, we explored the use of coplanar BG-BC In₂O₃ TFTs for fabricating integrated circuits such as unipolar logic NOT gates (Fig. 5.3). Preliminary discrete transistor characterization was used to design NOT gates with centered midpoint voltage $V_M \approx V_{DD}/2$. The inset in Fig. 5.3 displays the schematic diagram of the inverter. The circuit comprises one driving In₂O₃ TFT with W/L of 1400/20 µm and one passive load resistor R = 160 kΩ. The inverter was fabricated with the same process used for single TFTs, with the



Figure 5.2: a) Output and b) transfer characteristic of a coplanar bottom-gate, bottom-contact In_2O_3 TFT fabricated on Si/SiO₂ substrate by spray pyrolysis in air. The channel dimensions for this device were W/L = $500 \,\mu$ m/10 μ m. c) Representative transfer characteristics measured for a staggered bottom-gate, top-contact In_2O_3 TFT fabricated on Si/SiO₂ employing Al S/D electrodes. The channel dimensions for this device were W/L = $1000 \,\mu$ m/50 μ m.

exception that the circuit interconnect lines were integrated directly into the source/drain metallization layer. The required resistor was implemented using the gate metal (Cr, 1.16 x $10^{-6} \Omega$ m), thereby no additional process steps were needed. Fig. 5.3a and Fig. 5.3b show the voltage transfer characteristic (VTC) and the corresponding gain of the unipolar inverter measured at different supply voltages (V_{DD}) of 4, 6, 8, and 10 V. The inverter exhibits a gain >2, even at a low V_{DD} = 4 V. At V_{DD} = 10 V, the inverter yields an almost centered V_M = 5.8 V, and a gain as high as 5.3 V/V. Furthermore, the circuits show good output swing (output high voltage V_{OH} = 9.8 V and output low voltage V_{OL} = 1.1 V) and wide noise margins (noise margin high NM_H = 3.1 V and noise margin low NM_L = 3.68 V).

5.3.4 Flexible In₂O₃ TFTs

To demonstrate the compatibility of spray-deposited In₂O₃ TFTs with temperature-sensitive substrate materials such as plastic, we fabricated BG-BC In₂O₃-transistors directly onto polyimide (PI) foils. We have chosen 50 µm-thick Kapton PI because of its stability against the chemicals used during device fabrication, its relatively low surface roughness (rms ~ 4 nm), the low thermal (12×10^{-5} K) and humidity $(9 \times 10^{-6} \% \text{ RH})$ expansion coefficients, and its high glass transition temperature (T_G ~ 360 °C) [20, 179]. The TFT fabrication on foil followed the same process steps employed on Si/SiO₂ substrates. The inset in Fig. 5.4 shows the schematic device cross section of the flexible In₂O₃ TFTs. To provide a sufficient adhesion of the Cr gate metal and the Al₂O₃ gate dielectric to the polyimide, a 50 nm-thick SiN_x was deposited on both sides of the foil by PECVD. Additionally, during the spray pyrolysis process, the flexible chip was mechanically clamped on the border by employing a heavy stencil mask (mass of ~ 30 g). A typical set of transfer characteristics for a flexible In_2O_3 TFT (W = 1400 μ m and L = 20 μ m) is shown in Fig. 5.4a. Flexible In₂O₃ TFTs exhibit good operating characteristics with an $I_{ON}/I_{OFF} = 6 \times 10^3$ ($I_{OFF} <$ 20 nA), $V_{TH} = 5.29$ V, and $\mu_{SAT} = 0.2$ cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹. The lower on/off current ratio and electron mobility of flexible TFTs, compared to devices made on Si/SiO₂ substrates, are most likely attributed to the comparatively lower thermal conductivity of the polyimide, which limits the precursor conversion during the spray process as well as the increased dielectric/semiconductor interface roughness.



Figure 5.3: a) Voltage transfer characteristic of an In₂O₃-based unipolar voltage inverter (NOT gate) on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured at different supply voltages (V_{DD}). The inset shows a schematic of the inverter circuitry used. The inverter comprises a driving In₂O₃ TFT with W = 1400 μ m and L = 20 μ m and a passive load with resistance R = 160 kΩ. b) Corresponding gains calculated from the voltage transfer characteristics.

Bendability: Beside electrical performance, the mechanical flexibility of future TFT technologies is also expected to be a determinant factor for widespread application of the technology in flexible microelectronics. In an effort to test the effect of mechanical stress on the operating characteristics of our spray deposited In_2O_3 TFTs, discrete devices were attached to double-sided tape and wound around a metallic rod of 4 mm radius, in a configuration that tensile strain was applied parallel to the TFT channel. Fig. 5.4a shows the transfer



Figure 5.4: a) Transfer characteristics of spray-deposited In₂O₃ TFT fabricated on free-standing flexible polyimide foil, measured while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm. The inset shows the schematic device cross section. The TFT dimensions are W = 1400 μ m and L = 20 μ m. b) Photograph of the actual flexible In₂O₃ TFT bent to a tensile radius of 4 mm.

characteristic for a typical device measured (in nitrogen) while flat and subsequently bent to a tensile radius 4 mm, which corresponds to a mechanical strain (ϵ) of ~ 0.65% [87]. Fig. 5.4b displays a photograph of the actual TFT bent to 4 mm radius and contacted with the probe needles. From these measurements, it can be seen that flexible In₂O₃ TFTs are fully operational even when strained to 0.65% with only minor changes in the operating characteristics that are manifested as a negative shift in V_{TH} of -230 mV and an increased μ_{SAT} by 13%. These reversible variations are most likely related to an increase in the elec-

114

tron mobility and hence conductivity of In_2O_3 induced under tensile strain. This finding is in good agreement with previous reports on flexible transistors based on IGZO and IZO [106, 129]. Bending to smaller radii induces cracks in the brittle Cr gate that permanently harm the device operation [45]. These results demonstrate the potential of ultrasonic spray pyrolysis as a simple and scalable deposition tool for the manufacturing of flexible oxide microelectronics and certainly pave the way to future development. Combination of new precursor materials and formulations combined with improved device architectures is anticipated to lead to devices and circuits with improved performance.

5.4 Conclusion

In summary, we have demonstrated n-channel In₂O₃ transistors and unipolar circuits in which the semiconducting layer was deposited by ultrasonic spray pyrolysis at 250 °C. This simple and scalable method enables the fabrication of discrete transistors as well as unipolar inverters with appreciable gain (>5 V/V) and low voltage operation (<10 V). The moderate deposition temperature of 250 °C used for the growth of In₂O₃ renders the method compatible with low-cost plastic substrates. This is demonstrated with the fabrication of In₂O₃ transistors on free-standing 50 µm-thick flexible polyimide foils, which exhibit good operating characteristics even when bent to 4 mm tensile radii ($\epsilon \sim 0.65$ %).

Memory TFTs

Luisa Petti, Niko Münzenrieder, Giovanni A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, Lars Büthe, and Gerhard Tröster

Influence of Mechanical Bending on Flexible InGaZnO-Based Ferroelectric Memory TFTs

IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1085-1092, 2014. 10.1109/TED.2014.2304307 © 2014 IEEE.

Abstract

Future flexible electronic systems require memory devices combining lowpower operation and mechanical bendability. Here, we present a mechanically flexible amorphous InGaZnO (a-IGZO) memory thin-film transistor (TFT) with a ferroelectric poly(vinylidene fluoride-trifluoroethylene) [P(VDF-TrFE)] gate dielectric. Memory operation is demonstrated with a memory window of 3.2 V and a memory on/off ratio of 1.5×10^6 (gatesource voltage sweep of ± 6 V). The measured mobility of $8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and the on/off current ratio of 10^7 are comparable to the values for reference TFTs fabricated on the same substrate. To use memory TFTs in flexible applications, it is crucial to understand their behavior under mechanical strain. Flexible memory and reference TFTs are characterized under bending radii down to 5.5 mm, corresponding to tensile and compressive strain of $\approx \pm 0.6\%$. For both memory and reference TFTs, tensile strain causes negative threshold voltage shifts and increased drain currents, whereas compressive strain results in the opposite effects. However, memory TFTs, compared with reference TFTs, exhibit up to 8× larger threshold voltage shifts and 17× larger drain current variations. It is shown that the straindependent properties of a-IGZO can only explain the shifts observed in reference TFTs, whereas the variations in memory TFTs are mainly caused by the piezoelectric properties of P(VDF-TrFE).

6.1 Introduction

Electronic devices fabricated on plastic substrates enable new applications, such as flexible radio-frequency identification (RFID) tags [3], sensor arrays [180], paper-like displays [181] or smart textiles [2]. Several of these electronic systems require non-volatile memory devices, combining mechanical flexibility and low-power dissipation [182]. Recently, thin-film transistors (TFTs) employing a ferroelectric material as gate dielectric have promised to enable such devices [183, 184]. Among the various ferroelectric materials, the co-polymer poly(vinylidene fluoride-trifluoroethylene) [P(VDF-TrFE)] is the most-suited, due to the high spontaneous polarization of 50-100 mC/m² and the process temperature <140 °C [139]. The ferroelectric properties of P(VDF-TrFE) originate from the intrinsic dipole moments of the molecules that orient themselves according to an externally applied electric field and maintain their orientation when the field is turned off [184]. In a ferroelectric TFT (Fe-TFT), the bistable polarization of the ferroelectric gate dielectric is used for memory operation. Depending on the orientation of the polarization, positive or negative charges are stored at the semiconductor/gate dielectric interface, leading to a charge carrier density modulation in the semiconductor. The corresponding variation in the drain current can be used to define the binary <0> and <1> states of the memory [185]. Several groups have reported Fe-TFTs using organic semiconductors as channel material [183, 186, 187, 188, 182]. However, organic Fe-TFTs exhibit field effect mobilities $\leq 1 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and poor ambient stability [189]. To overcome these limitations, various metal oxide-based Fe-TFTs using Zinc-Oxide [190, 188], Zinc-Indium-Oxide [146], Aluminum-Zinc-Tin-Oxide [145] and Indium-Gallium-Zinc-Oxide (IGZO) [191, 144, 141, 142] channel layers have been demonstrated. Amorphous IGZO (a-IGZO) is especially suitable for the fabrication of devices on temperature-sensitive plastic substrates, due its relative high carrier mobility around 10 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and the high ambient stability, even if deposited at room temperature [10]. Very recently, flexible IGZO-based Fe-TFTs with retention time of 12 days [142] and mechanical flexibility down to a tensile bending radius of 7 mm [141] have been presented. However, to our best knowledge, the influence of tensile and compressive strain on a-IGZO Fe-TFTs has not yet been reported.

Here, we present the results of bending experiments to measure the electrical characteristics of a-IGZO Fe-TFTs under applied tensile and compressive strain down to radii of 5.5 mm. We also compare the effect of mechanical strain for Fe-TFTs and reference TFTs fabricated on the same substrate, and show that the increased influence of bending on Fe-TFTs, compared to reference TFTs is due to the piezoelectric properties of the P(VDF-TrFE) layer.

6.2 Fabrication Process

Reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs were fabricated on a free-standing flexible 50 μ m-thick Kapton E polyimide foil (surface area = 7.6 cm × 7.6 cm). Fig. 6.1 shows the geometry of a: a) top-gate bottom-contact staggered a-IGZO reference TFT and b) a-IGZO memory TFT with a ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer. First, the polyimide substrate was cleaned by sonication in acetone and isopropanol for 5 min and then preshrunk in a vacuum oven at 200 °C for 24 h. Next, 50 nm-thick SiN_x acting



Figure 6.1: Schematic cross section of: a) top-gate bottom-contact staggered a-IGZO reference TFT, b) memory TFT with a ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer.

as adhesion layer was deposited on each side of the substrate using plasma-enhanced chemical vapor deposition (PECVD). Subsequently, 10 nm/60 nm/10 nm Ti/Au/Ti were e-beam evaporated and structured (photolithographic mask 1) into source/drain contacts using a lift-off process. Then, 15 nm a-IGZO was deposited at room temperature using RF magnetron sputtering. Sputter deposition was performed in a pure Ar atmosphere using a ceramic InGaZnO₄ target. Semiconductor islands were patterned by photolithography (mask 2) and wet etching [192]. To fabricate reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs on the same substrate, the polyimide foil was halved. On the first half, the IGZO islands of the reference TFTs were isolated from the successive top-gate using 25 nm Al₂O₃ (relative dielectric constant of \approx 9.5) deposited by atomic layer deposition (ALD) at 150 °C. On the other half, the IGZO islands of the Fe-TFTs were isolated by a 10 nm-thick Al₂O₃ dielectric layer deposited by ALD. This Al₂O₃ buffer layer guarantees a similar interface in reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs and at the same time reduces the gate leakage currents in Fe-TFTs [144]. In both cases, source/drain contact holes were opened by standard lithography (mask 3) and wet chemistry [103]. For the fabrication of the Fe-TFTs, 100 nm-thick P(VDF-TrFE) was formed by spin-coating a solution of 1 wt% VDF (70 mol%) and TrFE (30 mol%)

in Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone (MEK) [193]. The deposited film was crystallized at 140 °C for 15 min in ambient air. The thickness and the recipe of the P(VDF-TrFE) layer were optimized to obtain Fe-TFTs with lowvoltage operation <10 V [193, 191]. Finally, on both reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs, 200 nm of Cu were e-beam evaporated by tilting the substrate by 30°, and patterned in gate contacts using lithography (mask 4) and wet etching. After the etching, the unexposed photoresist was removed by a flood exposure and a successive development step, to avoid any damage of the P(VDF-TrFE) layer. Here, the use of the Al₂O₃ layer allowed utilizing an acid-based wet etchant to structure the Cu, without the risk of diffusing through the P(VDF-TrFE) layer down to the IGZO [144], and thus damaging the channel area. The maximum process temperature was 150 °C.

The reference TFTs have a W/L = $280 \,\mu\text{m}/115 \,\mu\text{m}$, whereas the Fe-TFTs have a W/L = $1400 \,\mu\text{m}/20 \,\mu\text{m}$ to partially compensate for the different gate capacitance per area (C_G). TFT masks were designed to allow cutting the process substrate into stripes with one TFT per stripe.

6.3 Characterization

The devices were characterized under ambient conditions using an Agilent technologies B1500A parameter analyzer. The transfer curves were measured in the linear region, to minimize the influence of the drain-source voltage V_{DS} on the ferroelectric polarization of the Fe-TFT [193]. TFT performance parameters were extracted from the drain current using standard MOSFET equations [177]. The linear field-effect mobility μ_{LIN} was calculated from the slope of the drain current I_D (at $V_{DS} = 0.1 \text{ V}$), using the value of C_G extracted from C-V measurements. With respect to later memory applications, the threshold voltage V_{TH} was defined as the gate-source voltage V_{GS} needed to reach an arbitrary drain current value. We selected a value I_D = 5 x 10⁻⁸ A, that could be easily measured by the parameter analyzer and marked the sub-threshold region in both reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs.

6.3.1 Reference TFTs

Fig. 6.2a shows the transfer characteristic of a flexible a-IGZO reference TFT, measured with a single sweep of V_{GS} from 4 V to -2 V, at $V_{DS} = 0.1$ V. When measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} , reference TFTs present a clockwise hysteresis <25 mV. The performance param-



Figure 6.2: Flexible a-IGZO reference TFT: a) transfer characteristic (measured at $V_{DS} = 0.1 \text{ V}$) and b) output characteristic.

eters are: linear field-effect mobility $\mu_{LIN} = 7.5 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH} = 0.3 \text{ V}$, on/off current ratio $I_{ON}/I_{OFF} = 2.2 \times 10^7$, and sub-threshold swing SS = 106 mV/dec. The gate leakage current I_G is smaller than 10^{-10} A. These parameters are comparable to those achieved for flexible bottom-gate a-IGZO TFTs employing the same gate stack materials [45]. The output characteristic is given in Fig. 6.2b. It shows that I_D saturates for $V_{DS} > V_{CS}-V_{TH}$.

6.3.2 Ferroelectric TFTs

Fig. 6.3a shows the transfer characteristic of a flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFT, measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} between -6 V and 6 V, at $V_{DS} = 0.1 V$. The ferroelectric-driven memory operation is demonstrated by



Figure 6.3: Flexible a-IGZO ferroelectric TFT: a) hysteretic transfer characteristic (measured at $V_{DS} = 0.1$ V). Indicated red arrows describe the direction of the transfer curves measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} between -6 V and 6 V. b) Output characteristic (measured at a $V_{GS} = 0$ V), after V_{GS} has been swept from 0 V to 6 V (black), and from 0 V to -6 V (red).

the counter-clockwise hysteresis of I_D , as shown by the red arrows in Fig. 6.3a. Due to the hysteresis, the transfer characteristic presents two branches, corresponding to the forward (V_{GS} from -6 to 6 V) and the reverse (V_{GS} from 6 to -6 V) sweep. This leads to two different values of V_{TH} of 1.3 V (forward) and -1.9 V (reverse). The memory window MW, which is defined as the difference of V_{TH} under the forward and the reverse operation, is therefore 3.2 V. The memory on/off ratio, which is the ratio between the memory on-value $I_{D,REV}$ ($V_{GS} = 0$ V) and off-value $I_{D,FOR}$ ($V_{GS} = 0$ V) is 1.5 x 10⁶. It is worth mentioning that due to

the symmetry of the hysteretic transfer curve, the two memory states stored in the Fe-TFTs can be read-out at $V_{GS} = 0$ V. The Fe-TFTs exhibit: $\mu_{LIN} = 8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, on/off current ratio =1.7 x 10⁷, and SS = 152 mV/dec. The I_G is confirmed to be smaller than 10⁻¹⁰ A. These parameters are comparable to those of previously reported flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFTs [141, 142]. Additionally, the values of linear mobility and on/off current ratio are comparable to those extracted from reference TFTs (Table 6.1). The 43% larger SS (Table 6.1) of Fe-TFTs, compared to reference TFTs, is due to the by 82% smaller C_G of Fe-TFTs (Table 6.1) [177]. Fig. 6.3b displays the output characteristic, measured at V_{GS} = 0 V, after V_{GS} has been swept from 0 V to 6 V (set memory state <1>) and from 0 V to -6 V (set memory state <0>). The I_D-V_{DS} curves clearly show the memory effect of our devices, with I_D changing from an off- to an on-state depending on the previously applied V_{GS}.

Programming and retention characteristics of our flexible Fe-TFTs were also evaluated. The memory states were programmed with V_{GS} pulses of 6 V (set memory state <1>) and -6 V (set memory state <0>) applied for 1 s. An initial memory on/off ratio of more than 10³ (at $V_{GS} = 0$ V) was obtained, and it still remained to be more than 50 after 100 sec. This is comparable to previous reports on oxide semiconductor-based Fe-TFTs with Al₂O₃/P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric [145, 146]. Such low values can be explained considering that the Al₂O₃ buffer layer induces depolarization in the ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer [188]. Very recently, it has been shown that Fe-TFTs without buffer layer and with high-quality P(VDF-TrFE) exhibit retention times of 12 days, and at the same time gate leakage current <2 nA [142]. However, for the aim of this paper, the Al₂O₃ layer was still employed to ensure comparability between reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs.

6.4 Mechanical Bending

6.4.1 Setup

In order to measure the influence of bending in a reliable way, we designed our masks in a way that the process substrate could be cut into stripes (4.8 mm x 35 mm) with one TFT/Fe-TFT per stripe. On each stripe, the electrodes of the TFTs/Fe-TFTs were connected to 1 cm-long interconnect lines leading to 3 mm x 3 mm-large contact pads. To perform bending experiments, each TFT/Fe-TFT was attached to a

Parameter	Reference TFT	Ferroelectric TFT
Linear mobility (cm ² V ⁻¹ s ⁻¹)	7.5	8
Threshold voltage	0.3	1.3 (forward)
(V)		-1.9 (reverse)
Sub-threshold swing (mV/dec)	106	152
On-off current ratio	2.2 x 10 ⁷	$1.7 \ge 10^7$
Gate capacitance per area (Fm ⁻²)	$3.36 \ge 10^{-3}$	$5.9 \ge 10^{-4}$

Table 6.1: Performance parameters of a flexible reference TFT (W/L = $280 \,\mu\text{m}/115 \,\mu\text{m}$) and a ferroelectric TFT (W/L = $1400 \,\mu\text{m}/20 \,\mu\text{m}$)

reusable flexible carrier substrate with Cu interconnections and pads, using double-sided tape. Next, the contact pads on the stripe were electrically connected to the interconnections on the carrier substrate using conductive adhesive and Cu wires [106] (Fig. 6.4a). Interconnections on the carrier substrates were subsequently connected to the parameter analyzer to to be able to constantly monitor the device characteristics at any arbitrary bending radius, without the need of placing probe tips. Afterward, the carrier substrate with the attached TFT/Fe-TFT was placed between two movable plates in our custom build bending tester (Fig. 6.4b). The substrate was positioned with the Fe-TFT/TFT facing upward (downward) to apply tensile (compressive) strain parallel to the channel length. The actual bending radius was defined by moving the plates, and was measured by fitting circles to images taken by an optical camera. The TFTs/Fe-TFTs were then characterized at different tensile and compressive radii down to 5.5 mm. This radius was selected to avoid breaking of the TFTs/Fe-TFTs at smaller radii. After each measurement at a specific radius and before moving to a new radius, a 5 min interval was waited in order to minimize the influence of electrical stress.

6.4.2 Reference TFTs

The applied bending radii range from infinity (flat substrate) to 5.5 mm, which correspond to tensile strain (ϵ) from 0.09 % to 0.64 % and compressive strain from -0.04 % to -0.59 %, due to the strain built-in the substrate. The strain values are calculated by adapting the strain theory developed in [87] to the layer structure of our TFTs. During the



Figure 6.4: Photograph of: a) Fe-TFT attached to flexible carrier substrate and connected to interconnections, b) carrier substrate with attached Fe-TFT loaded in our custom-built bending tester and bent to a radius of \approx 18 mm. The Fe-TFT is loaded to apply tensile strain parallel to the channel.

bending experiments, the reference TFTs were measured with a single sweep of V_{GS} from 4 V to -2 V, at $V_{DS} = 0.1$ V. Fig. 6.5 shows the transfer characteristics of a flexible reference TFT, measured when it is initially flat, and when it is bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm, and then to a compressive radius of 5.5 mm. As expected, the curve shifts in the opposite directions for tensile and compressive bending. After re-flattening, the reference TFTs are fully operational, whereas bending to radii <4 mm induces cracks in the TFT channel that permanently harm the devices. Fig. 6.6 displays: a) the normalized maximum drain current $I_{D,MAX}$ (measured at $V_{GS} = 4 V$ and $V_{DS} = 0.1 V$) and b) the threshold voltage shift ΔV_{TH} versus applied strain (tensile and compressive). I_{D.MAX} is normalized by its measurement at flat substrate, whereas ΔV_{TH} is given by the difference to the measurement at flat substrate. For tensile strain ϵ of 0.64 %, I_{D.MAX} increases by 10 % and V_{TH} shifts by -90 mV. Compressive strain ($\epsilon = -0.59$ %) on the other hand results in a decrease of $I_{D,MAX}$ by 11 % and a positive shift of V_{TH} by 90 mV. These values are in good agreement with previous reports on flexible a-IGZO bottom-gate [106, 147, 45] and top-gate [148] TFTs. Under tensile bending, the increased $I_{D,MAX}$ and the negative ΔV_{TH} are explained by the strain-induced increase of the IGZO mobility and carrier density. Compressive bending instead leads to a reduction of the mobility and channel conductivity, resulting thus in a decreased



Figure 6.5: Transfer characteristics of a flexible a-IGZO reference TFT (W/L = $280 \,\mu\text{m}/115 \,\mu\text{m}$), measured flat, bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm ($\epsilon = 0.64 \,\%$) and bent a compressive radius of 5.5 mm ($\epsilon = -0.59 \,\%$). All transfer characteristics are measured at V_{DS} = 0.1 V. (Inset) Enlargement of transfer characteristics in logarithmic scale.

 $I_{D,MAX}$ and a positively shifted V_{TH} [106].

6.4.3 Ferroelectric TFTs

Fe-TFTs were measured down to bending radii of 5.5 mm, which correspond to tensile strain $\epsilon = 0.65\%$ and to compressive strain $\epsilon = -0.6\%$. In the bending experiments, Fe-TFTs were measured with a double sweep of V_{GS} between 5 V and -2 V, at V_{DS} = 0.1 V. A smaller interval of V_{GS} was selected to minimize the effect of electrical stress in the measurement. The transfer characteristic of a flexible Fe-TFT, measured when flat, bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm and then bent to a compressive radius of 5.5 mm is displayed in Fig. 6.7. The small variations between the transfer curve (measured flat) and the curve shown in Fig. 6.3 are mainly due to the different V_{GS} intervals. Like for reference TFTs (Fig. 6.5), the transfer characteristic presents parallel shifts in opposite directions for tensile and compressive bending. Nevertheless, for Fe-TFTs the measured changes are larger than those observed for reference TFTs. After re-flattening, the Fe-TFTs are fully functional, whereas bending to radii <4.7 mm induces cracks in the



Figure 6.6: Flexible a-IGZO reference TFT: a) normalized maximum drain current ($V_{GS} = 4 \text{ V}$ and $V_{DS} = 0.1 \text{ V}$) and b) threshold voltage shift for tensile and compressive strain. All values are extracted from the same TFT. The time interval between two consecutive measurement points is 5 min.

channel that permanently harm the devices. Fig. 6.8 displays: a) the normalized $I_{D,MAX}$ (measured at $V_{GS} = 5 \text{ V}$ and $V_{DS} = 0.1 \text{ V}$), b) ΔV_{TH} for both the forward (black line) and the reverse (red line) branch, and c) the normalized memory on/off ratio (black line) and the normalized memory window MW (red line) versus the applied tensile and compressive strain. $I_{D,MAX}$, memory on/off ratio and MW are normalized by their measurement at flat substrate, whereas ΔV_{TH} is given by the difference to its value at flat substrate. Tensile strain ϵ of 0.65% increases $I_{D,MAX}$ by 177%, whereas V_{TH} shifts by -810 mV (forward) and -580 mV



Figure 6.7: Transfer characteristics of flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFTs (W/L = 1400 μ m/20 μ m), measured flat, bent to a tensile radius of 5.5 mm (ϵ = 0.65%) and bent to a compressive radius of 5.5 mm (ϵ = -0.6%). All transfer characteristics are measured at V_{DS} = 0.1 V. (Inset) Enlargement of transfer characteristics in a logarithmic scale.

(reverse). Compressive strain of -0.6 % results in a decrease of I_{D.MAX} by 24 % and a shift of V_{TH} of -40 mV (forward) and -10 mV (reverse). Even though the transfer curve shifts in the positive direction under applied compressive strain (Fig. 6.7), the extracted ΔV_{TH} does not show this trend (Fig. 6.8b). This behaviour can be explained considering that V_{TH} was defined as the V_{GS} value where $I_D = 5 \times 10^{-8}$ A. At this current value, the forward and the reverse branches present small shifts in the negative direction, as visible in Fig. 6.7 (logarithmic scale). These negative V_{TH} shifts are mainly caused by the strain-induced sub-threshold swing variations, as it will be explained afterward. Since V_{TH} shifts in the same direction for the forward and the reverse branch (Fig. 6.8b), the memory window MW = $V_{TH,FOR}$ - $V_{TH,REV}$ (Fig. 6.8c) is not significantly affected by bending. On the other hand, due to the variations of I_D (Fig. 6.7), the memory on/off ratio $I_{D,REV}$ ($V_{GS} = 0 V$)/ $I_{D,FOR}$ ($V_{GS} =$ 0 V) (Fig. 6.8c) is increased by 318% for tensile strain ($\epsilon = 0.65$ %), and decreased by 28% for compressive strain ($\epsilon = -0.6$ %). These changes are caused by the variation of the memory on-value $I_{D,REV}$ ($V_{GS} = 0$ V), while the off-value $I_{D,FOR}$ ($V_{GS} = 0$ V) stays mainly unchanged. Larger changes in $I_{D,REV}$ ($V_{GS} = 0$ V) (Fig. 6.8c), compared to $I_{D,MAX} = I_D(V_{GS} = 0)$

5 V) (Fig. 6.8a) can be explained by a steeper slope of the curve at V_{GS} = 0 V, compared to V_{GS} = 5 V.

The observed behaviour can be explained considering that P(VDF-TrFE) is not only a ferroelectric, but also a piezoelectric polymer [143], therefore its polarization depends on the applied mechanical strain. In these experiments, tensile and compressive strain was applied parallel to the channel length, and therefore perpendicular to the direction of the dipole moments in the P(VDF-TrFE). In piezoelectric materials, the ratio between polarization and strain perpendicular to the direction of polarization is given by the transverse piezoelectric coefficient d_{31} , which is always positive for P(VDF-TrFE) [194]. This means that tensile strain increases the polarization in the P(VDF-TrFE) layer, whereas compressive strain decreases the polarization. Due to the bistable polarization of the P(VDF-TrFE), we have to distinguish the following two cases: 1) if a sufficiently large V_{GS} has been applied, the dipole moments in the P(VDF-TrFE) are aligned in such a way that the negatively charged fluorine atoms point in the direction of the gate and the positively charged hydrogen atoms in the direction of the substrate, as shown in Fig. 6.9a. With this orientation, negative carriers are accumulated in the semiconductor (Fig. 6.9a). 2) If a sufficiently negative V_{GS} has been applied, the dipole moments are aligned in the opposite direction (Fig. 6.9d). With this orientation, depletion is induced in the IGZO. In the following, we will discuss the main mechanisms behind the observed behaviour for $I_{D,MAX}$ and V_{TH} .

6.4.3.1 Maximum Drain Current Variations Induced By Bending:

 $I_{D,MAX}$ is extracted at $V_{GS} = 5 V$, corresponding to the case shown in Fig. 6.9a. If tensile bending is applied, the polarization increases and thereby also the electron density in the channel (Fig. 6.9b). As a consequence, $I_{D,MAX}$ increases under applied tensile strain, as clearly visible from the measurement in Fig. 6.7 and 6.8a. If compressive bending is applied, the polarization reduces the conductivity in the IGZO (Fig. 6.9c), and therefore leads to a decreased $I_{D,MAX}$ (Fig. 6.7 and 6.8a). However, compressive strain results in a smaller effect. Since the influence of strain on the IGZO properties results in shifts in the same direction of the variations due to the strain-dependence of the P(VDF-TrFE) polarization, the two effects sum up.

6.4.3.2 Threshold Voltage Shifts Induced By Bending:

Concerning the V_{TH} , three different effects have to be taken into account: (i) the strain-dependent P(VDF-TrFE) polarization is responsible for charge carrier density modulation in the IGZO; (ii) the strain-dependent P(VDF-TrFE) polarization influences C_G and results in variations of SS; and (iii) the strain-dependent IGZO properties also lead to conductivity variations. In the following, we will investigate the three different effects individually.

(i) The strain-dependent P(VDF-TrFE) polarization leads to a variation in the IGZO carrier density, and therefore to shifts in V_{TH}. However, for this effect we need to consider two different cases depending on the polarization orientation: 1) when we extract the V_{TH} for the forward branch (V_{TH,FOR}), the case shown in Fig. 6.9d applies. With this orientation, the under tensile strain increased polarization leads to a decrease of the channel conductivity (Fig. 6.9e) and therefore to a positive $\Delta V_{TH,FOR}$ (\uparrow). For compressive strain, the negative charge carrier concentration in the IGZO is increased (Fig. 6.9f) and this results in a negative $\Delta V_{TH,FOR}$ (\downarrow). 2) For the reverse sweep, the case shown in Fig. 6.9a applies. Here, tensile bending increases the IGZO conductivity (Fig. 6.9b) and results in a negative $\Delta V_{TH,REV}$ (\downarrow) for the reverse branch. Compressive strain, on the other hand, causes a decreased IGZO carrier concentration (Fig. 6.9c), and thereby a positive $\Delta V_{TH,REV}$ (\uparrow).

(ii) For tensile bending, the polarization is increased and thereby also the ferroelectric capacitance C_{FE} . This results in an increase of C_G , leading thus to a smaller SS [177]. For compressive bending, the decreased polarization leads to a larger SS. This effect is independent from the orientation of the polarization. As a result, under applied tensile strain, the smaller SS leads to a negative ΔV_{TH} (\downarrow) for both forward and reverse branches, as shown in the measurement in Fig. 6.8b. Compressive strain instead results in a positive ΔV_{TH} (\uparrow) for both forward and reverse branches, due to the increased SS. Compressive strain has a smaller effect due to the smaller SS variations ($\leq 1\%$). It is worth mentioning that SS has such direct impact on V_{TH} due the method adopted for its extraction.

(iii) The strain-dependent IGZO carrier density leads to negative ΔV_{TH} (\downarrow) for tensile strain, and a positive ΔV_{TH} (\uparrow) for compressive bending, for both forward and reverse branches. Nevertheless, these shifts are <100 mV, as shown in the measurement of Fig. 6.6b.

For tensile strain, the large changes in the SS (ii) seem to dominate over the other effects, leading to a negative ΔV_{TH} (\downarrow) for both forward and reverse branch. For compressive strain, where the SS changes are smaller, all effects have a similar value, resulting in the shift shown in Fig. 6.8b.

The results of the bending experiments presented in this paper, in contrast to previous publications on flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFTs [141, 142], show that mechanical strain has a significant influence on the performance of Fe-TFTs. We were able to measure the influence of bending due to the use of a custom-built bending machine that allowed the continuous measurement of bent devices, with a defined interval between each measurement and without the need of placing probe tips each time. This setup allowed measuring the impact of mechanical strain independently from other effects, e.g. electrical stability and/or contact resistance.

6.5 Conclusions

In this paper, we presented mechanically flexible a-IGZO memory TFTs with a ferroelectric P(VDF-TrFE) gate dielectric. Memory operation was demonstrated with a memory window of 3.2 V and a memory on/off ratio of 1.5×10^6 , for a gate-source voltage sweep of ± 6 V. Fe-TFTs exhibit a field effect mobility of $8 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$ and an on/off current ratio of 10⁷, which are comparable to values achieved in reference TFTs fabricated on the same substrate. Influence of tensile and compressive strain (minimum bending radius of 5.5 mm) on the device characteristics was estimated. For both reference TFTs and Fe-TFTs, tensile strain causes a negatively shifted threshold voltage and an increased drain current. On the other hand, compressive bending results in a positive threshold voltage shift and a decreased drain current. However, Fe-TFTs, compared with reference TFTs, exhibit strain-induced threshold voltage shifts that are up to 8× larger and drain current variations that are up to 17× larger. Shifts in the Fe-TFTs are caused by a superposition of the strain-induced dependence of the polarization in the piezoelectric P(VDF-TrFE) layer, and the strain-dependent IGZO properties. These shifts need to be considered when designing future flexible memories. Full memory operation down to bending radii of 5.5 mm demonstrates that these devices are feasible for next-generation large-area highly functional flexible electronic systems.



Figure 6.8: Flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFT: a) normalized maximum drain current ($V_{GS} = 5 V$ and $V_{DS} = 0.1 V$), b) threshold voltage shift for the forward (black line) and the reverse (red line) branch, c) normalized memory on/off (black line) and normalized memory window MW (red line) for tensile and compressive strain. All values are extracted from the same Fe-TFT. The time interval between two consecutive measurement points is 5 min.



Figure 6.9: Schematic cross section of gate stack of flexible a-IGZO Fe-TFT: a) with memory state <1> stored when flat, b) bent to tensile strain, c) bent to compressive strain; d) and with memory state <0> stored when flat, e) bent to tensile strain, and f) bent to compressive strain. For each case the orientation and the amplitude of the dipole moments in the P(VDF-TrFE), as well as the charge carriers induced in the IGZO are displayed.
7

Complementary Circuits

Luisa Petti, Francesca Bottacchi, Niko Münzenrieder, Hendrik Faber, Giuseppe Cantarella, Christian Vogt, Lars Büthe, Ingrid Namal, Florian Späth, Tobias Hertel, Thomas D. Anthopoulos, and and Gerhard Tröster

Integration of Solution-Processed (7,5) SWCNTs with Sputtered and Spray-Coated Metal Oxides for Flexible Complementary Inverters

Electron Device Meeting (IEDM), 2014 IEEE International, pp. 26.4.1-26.4.4, 2014 10.1109/IEDM.2014.7047113 © 2014 IEEE.

Abstract

We report the integration of solution-processed high-purity semiconducting (7,5) single walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) with metal oxides for the fabrication of high-performance CMOS inverters on free-standing plastic foils. Flexible inverters based on spin-coated SWCNTs and sputtered amorphous InGaZnO (IGZO) exhibit gains up to 85 V/V, even while bent to a tensile radius of 1 cm. To our knowledge, this is the highest gain ever reported for flexible and strained hybrid inverters, supplied at V_{DD} ≤ 10 V. We also realize flexible inverters based on fully solution-deposited SWCNTs and In₂O₃ semiconductors.

7.1 Introduction

Complementary MOS technology, combining n- and p-type transistors, enables simplification of circuit design whilst lowering power consumption, and minimizing noise. The realization of a thin-film equivalent to silicon CMOS electronics suffers from the lack of complementary organic or inorganic semiconductors with similar performance. To date, several groups have reported logic circuits based on n-type metal oxides and organic [195] or inorganic [34] p-type semiconductors. While n-type metal oxides, especially amorphous IGZO [10], possess high mobility >10 cm²V⁻¹s⁻¹ and ambient stability, organic and inorganic p-type materials with matching performance are difficult to achieve. Recently, solution-based SWCNTs have drawn a considerable attention, owing to their good electrical and mechanical properties. Using ink-jet printing methods, in combination with mixed semiconducting SWCNTs and ZTO, complementary circuits have now been demonstrated [196].

In this paper, we advance the current state-of-the-art, by integrating spin-coated highly-selected semiconducting (7,5) SWCNTs [135] with sputtered and spray-coated n-type metal oxides, offering a route towards flexible and strained complementary inverters with high gains and excellent noise margins.



Figure 7.1: Hybrid complementary inverter based on solutionprocessed (7,5) SWCNT TFTs and metal oxide TFTs: a) process flow and b) schematic cross section. Fabrication process was optimized concerning low temperature fabrication, thickness of brittle materials, and adhesion between the different device layers aiming at good device performance and bendability.

7.2 Fabrication

Hybrid complementary inverters were fabricated on 4-in. Si/SiO₂ wafers and on 50 μ m-thick polyimide foils (7.6 x 7.6 cm²), using a bottom-gate coplanar TFT geometry. Fig. 5.1 shows: a) the fabrication process flow and b) the schematic cross section. Cr gate contacts, Al₂O₃ gate dielectric, and Ti/Au electrodes were realized using standard thin-film deposition methods and UV lithography [122]. Subsequently, the substrates were diced into chips of 1.5 x 1.5 cm². In the case of vacuum-processed metal oxide, a 15 nm-thick IGZO [10] film was deposited at room temperature, using RF magnetron sputtering and a ceramic InGaZnO₄ target. The IGZO was then patterned into islands by wet etching and passivated with photoresist (AZ1518®). For the solution-processed metal oxide, a 10 nm-thick In₂O₃ film was deposited in air via ultrasonic spray pyrolysis, using a solution of 30mg/ml indium nitrate hydrate in deionized water. During the automated spray process, the substrate was heated to 250 °C. The In₂O₃



Figure 7.2: AFM images showing surface topography of: a) IGZO (15 nm), b) In_2O_3 (10 nm), and c) (7,5) SWCNT (10 nm) films on Si/SiO₂/SiN_x/Al₂O₃ surface. d) Absorption spectrum of the (7,5) SWCNT solution.

was patterned using a shadow mask, and then passivated with a Cytop® layer. To complement the n-type IGZO and In_2O_3 , a semiconducting (7,5) SWCNT solution, behaving as p-type material, was used. Single-chirality was achieved by means of polymer-wrapping [135]. The SWCNT solution was spin-coated and annealed at 90 °C in nitrogen (N₂), resulting in a 10 nm-thick layer, which was left unstructured and unpassivated. Fig. 7.2 shows the surface topography of the three semiconductors obtained with atomic force microscopy (AFM). Both metal oxides present a homogeneous structure without any grain boundaries. Fig. 7.2c shows the randomly oriented SWCNT network, exhibiting continuous current percolation paths. Fig. 7.2d displays the absorption spectrum of the SWCNT solution. The peak at $\lambda = 1050$ nm corresponds to the first excitonic transition of the (7,5) diameter, proving that our SWCNTs are single-chirality.

7.3 IGZO/SWCNT TFTs and Inverters

Fig. 7.3 shows the I_D - V_{DS} and I_D - V_{GS} characteristics of the IGZO and SWCNT TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured in nitrogen (N₂). TFT per-



Figure 7.3: Output and transfer characteristics of sputtered IGZO [a) and b)] and spin-coated (7,5) SWCNT [c) and d)] TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate. TFT performance parameters are: $\mu_{FE,n} = 0.7 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,n} = 4 \text{ V}$, SS_n = 0.12 V/dec, $\mu_{FE,p} = 0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,p} = -2.8 \text{ V}$, and SS_p = 0.42 V/dec. Electrical measurements were carried out in nitrogen (N₂).

formance parameters were extracted using standard MOSFET equations. The IGZO TFT exhibits a saturation field-effect mobility $\mu_{FE,n} = 0.7 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, a threshold voltage $V_{TH,n} = 4 \text{ V}$, and a sub-threshold swing SS_n = 0.12 V/dec. The low effective mobility compared to [122] is attributed to the non-annealed IGZO film, as well as to the coplanar TFT structure with Au contacts. The SWCNT TFT yields $\mu_{FE,p} = 0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,p} = -2.8 \text{ V}$, and SS_p = 0.42 V/dec. The hysteresis in the drain current is caused by the polymeric presence in the SWCNT solution, whereas the slightly ambipolar behavior is due to the intrinsic properties of the SWCNTs. The overall process yield of IGZO and SWCNT devices fabricated in multiple runs on $1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ cm}^2$ chips, each containing 20 TFTs, is ≈ 70 %. Process variability results in the following parameter distribution: $V_{TH,n} = (3.2 \pm 0.8) \text{ V}$, $\mu_{FE,n} = (0.7 \pm 0.5) \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,p} = (-2.5 \pm 0.4) \text{ V}$, and $\mu_{FE,p} = (0.026 \pm 0.01) \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$.



Figure 7.4: Circuit diagram (a) and schematic (b) of the fabricated hybrid complementary inverter based on metal oxide TFTs and solution-processed (7,5) SWCNT TFTs. All TFTs have a channel length L of $25 \,\mu$ m, with an interdigitated channel, as visible in a).

The complementary inverter was realized by connecting SWCNT and IGZO TFTs as shown in Fig. 7.4. An extensive TFT characterization was used to design inverters with centered midpoint voltages $V_M \approx$ $V_{DD}/2$. Fig. 7.5 displays: a) the voltage transfer characteristics (VTC) and b) the static gain G, measured at different supply voltages. At V_{DD} = 10 V, the inverter exhibits a V_M = 4.75 V, a G = 60.6 V/V, a rail-to-rail swing (V_{OH} = 9.95 V, V_{OL} = 0.28 V), and excellent noise margins (NM_H = 4.33 V, NM_L = 4 V). When V_{IN} is swept from low to high voltage bias, V_M shifts by +20 mV for $V_{DD} = 5 V$, and by +1.9 V for $V_{DD} = 10 V$. This is attributed to the gate-induced current hysteresis of the SWCNT TFT, which can be reduced by decreasing the polymeric content in the solution. Furthermore, IGZO and SWCNT TFTs are electrically stable. A positive (negative) bias stress up to 100 MV/m for a period of 300 s induces a positive (negative) ΔV_{TH} up to 0.55 (-0.6) V in IGZO (SWCNT) TFTs, due to charge carrier injection in the gate dielectric. The static power dissipation ($V_{DD} = 10 \text{ V}$) is less than $5 \mu \text{W}$ for V_{IN} HIGH or LOW, and reaches a maximum of $17 \mu W$ at $V_{IN} = V_M$. Measurements were carried out in N₂. Fig. 7.6 shows the VTC and the static gain of the inverter measured under ambient conditions. After being exposed to ambient air, the inverter is operational, with $V_M = 5.1 \text{ V}$ and G =51.6 V/V. These variations are due to the changes in the performance of the unpassivated SWCNT TFT, and can be strongly reduced by encapsulating the SWCNT devices. Fig.7.7 shows the transfer characteristics



Figure 7.5: Voltage transfer characteristic (VTC) (a) and static gain (G) (b) of the complementary inverter based on sputtered IGZO and spincoated (7,5) SWCNT TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured at $V_{DD} = 6$, 7, 8, 9, 10 V. The inset shows the bi-stable hysteresis VTC at $V_{DD} = 10$ V. For $V_{DD} = 10$ V, $V_M = 4.75$ V, G = 60.6 V/V, $NM_H = 4.33$ V, and $NM_L = 4$ V.

of the IGZO and SWCNT TFTs on free-standing plastic foil, measured while flat and wound around a rod of 1 cm radius, which induces a tensile strain of ≈ 0.29 % parallel to the channels (Fig. 7.7). The TFTs stay fully functional while bent and show only minor variations in the device performance (V_{TH,n} +30 mV, V_{TH,p} +20 mV, $\mu_{FE,n}$ -0.8%, $\mu_{FE,p}$ +2%, SS_n +3%, and SS_p -3.7%). Compared to electrical stress, mechanical stress results in a smaller effect on the TFT performance. Fig. 7.8 shows the VTC and the static gain of the mechanically flexible complementary inverter, measured while the circuit is flat and bent. A gain of 87 V/V and a midpoint voltage of 4.39 V were obtained. The changes in V_M (+40 mV) and G (-1.6%) are explained by the variations in the



Figure 7.6: VTC and gain (inset) of IGZO/SWCNT complementary inverter on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured at $V_{DD} = 6, 7, 8, 9, 10$ V. For $V_{DD} = 10$ V, $V_M = 5.1$ V and G = 51.6 V/V. Measurements were carried out in ambient conditions.

 V_{TH} , μ_{FE} , and SS of the TFTs.

7.4 In₂O₃/SWCNT TFTs and Inverters

Fig. 7.9 shows the electrical characteristics of In_2O_3 and SWCNT TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured in N₂. N-type In_2O_3 TFT parameters are: $\mu_{FE,n} = 0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,n} = 1.2 \text{ V}$, and SS_n = 1.5 V/dec. High off current hint at large carrier conductivity in the In_2O_3 layer, caused by the generation of intrinsic defects during processing. The slightly different characteristics of the SWCNT TFT in Fig. 7.9, compared to Fig. 7.3, is due to process variability. Fig. 7.10 and 7.11 display the VTCs and static gains of $In_2O_3/SWCNT$ inverters on Si/SiO₂ and polyimide substrates. For $V_{DD} = 10 \text{ V}$, the rigid (flexible) inverter yields $V_M = 5.1 (3.97) \text{ V}$, G = 48.4 (22) V/V, and $V_{OH} = 9.6 (9.2) \text{ V}$. These differences are attributed to the comparatively poor performance of the flexible In_2O_3 TFT, caused by the increased roughness and the lower thermal conductivity of the polyimide when compared to Si/SiO₂.

7.5 Conclusion

Solution-based highly-selected semiconducting (7,5) SWCNTs and metal oxides enabled the fabrication of high-performance CMOS inverters on flexible plastic foils. Flexible complementary inverters based



Figure 7.7: Transfer characteristics of flexible IGZO (a) and SWCNT (b) TFTs on plastic foil, measured while flat and bent to a radius of 1 cm, which corresponds to a tensile strain $\epsilon \approx 0.29$ % parallel to the TFT channels. Bending changes $V_{TH,n}$ by +30 mV, $V_{TH,p}$ by +20 mV, $\mu_{FE,n}$ by -0.8 %, $\mu_{FE,p}$ by +2%, SS_n by 3%, and SS_p by -3.7%. The inset shows a photograph of the processed flexible substrate. Electrical measurements were carried out in N₂.

on spin-coated SWCNT and sputtered IGZO TFTs exhibited gains up to 85 V/V ($V_{DD} = 10$ V), even while bent to a tensile radius of 1 cm. Furthermore, we also integrated SWCNTs with spray-coated In₂O₃ to realize mechanically flexible inverters with fully solutiondeposited semiconductors. These results pave the way toward largearea solution-processed flexible electronics.



Figure 7.8: VTC (a) and static gain (b) of flexible complementary inverter based on IGZO and SWCNT TFTs on plastic foil, measured at $V_{DD} = 7, 8, 9, 10$ V while flat and bent to a tensile radius of 1 cm ($\epsilon \approx 0.29$ % parallel to all TFT channels). For $V_{DD} = 10$ V, $V_M = 4.39$ (4.43) V and G = 87.1 (85.7) V/V for the flat (bent) circuit. The inset shows a photograph of the contacted flexible complementary inverter, bent to a tensile radius r = 1 cm. The changes in V_M (+40 mV) and G (-1.6%) are explained by the variations in V_{TH} , μ_{FE} , and SS of the TFTs. Electrical measurements were carried out in N₂.



Figure 7.9: Output and transfer characteristics of spray-coated In₂O₃ [a) and b)] and spin-coated (7,5) SWCNT [c) and d)] TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate. TFT performance parameters are: $\mu_{FE,n} = 0.02 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,n} = 1.2 \text{ V}$, SS_n = 1.5 V/dec, $\mu_{FE,p} = 0.01 \text{ cm}^2 \text{V}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}$, $V_{TH,p} = -2.4 \text{ V}$, and SS_p = 1.15 V/dec. Electrical measurements were carried out in N₂.



Figure 7.10: VTC and static gain (inset) of rigid complementary inverter with fully solution-processed semiconductors, based on spray-coated In_2O_3 and spin-coated SWCNT TFTs on Si/SiO₂ substrate, measured at $V_{DD} = 6, 7, 8, 9, 10$ V. For $V_{DD} = 10$ V, $V_M = 5.1$ V and G = 48.4 V/V. Electrical measurements were carried out in N₂.



Figure 7.11: VTC and static gain (inset) of flexible inverter with fully solution-processed semiconductors, based on spray-coated In_2O_3 and spin-coated SWCNT TFTs on plastic foil, measured at V_{DD} = 6, 7, 8, 9, 10 V. For V_{DD} = 10 V, V_M = 3.97 V and G = 22 V/V. Measurements were carried out in N₂.

Bibliography

- D. Makarov, M. Melzer, D. Karnaushenko, and O. G. Schmidt, "Shapeable magnetoelectronics," *Applied Physics Review*, vol. 3, p. 011101, 2016.
- [2] K. Cherenack, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, N. Münzenrieder, and G. Tröster, "Woven electronic fibers with sensing and display functions for smart textiles," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 22, no. 45, pp. 5178–5182, 2010.
- [3] A. Nathan, A. Ahnood, M. T. Cole, S. Lee, Y. Suzuki, P. Hiralal, F. Bonaccorso, T. Hasan, L. Garcia-Gancedo, A. Dyadyusha, S. Haque, P. Andrew, S. Hofmann, J. Moultrie, D. Chu, A. J. Flewitt, A. C. Ferrari, M. J. Kelly, J. Robertson, G. A. J. Amaratunga, and W. I. Milne, "Flexible electronics: The next ubiquitous platform," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 100, no. 13, pp. 1486–1517, 2012.
- [4] S. Bauer, "Flexible electronics: Sophisticated skin," Nature Materials, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 871–2, 2013.
- [5] G. Park, H. J. Chung, K. Kim, S. A. Lim, J. Kim, Y. S. Kim, Y. Liu, W. H. Yeo, R. H. Kim, S. S. Kim, J. S. Kim, Y. H. Jung, T. il Kim, C. Yee, J. A. Rogers, and K. M. Lee, "Immunologic and tissue biocompatibility of flexible/stretchable electronics and optoelectronics," *Advanced Healthcare Materials*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 515–525, 2014.
- [6] D. Karnaushenko, N. Münzenrieder, D. D. Karnaushenko, B. Koch, A. K. Meyer, S. Baunack, L. Petti, G. Tröster, D. Makarov, and O. G. Schmidt, "Biomimetic Microelectronics for Regenerative Neuronal Cuff Implants," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 27, pp. 6797–6805, 2015.
- [7] S. Bauer and M. Kaltenbrunner, "Built to disappear," ACS Nano, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 5380–5382, 2014.
- [8] S. Xu, Y. Zhang, L. Jia, K. E. Mathewson, K.-I. Jang, J. Kim, H. Fu, X. Huang, P. Chava, R. Wang, S. Bhole, L. Wang, Y. J. Na, Y. Guan,

M. Flavin, Z. Han, Y. Huang, and J. A. Rogers, "Soft microfluidic assemblies of sensors, circuits, and radios for the skin," *Science*, vol. 344, no. 6179, pp. 70–4, 2014.

- [9] E. Fortunato, P. Barquinha, and R. Martins, "Oxide Semiconductor Thin-Film Transistors: A Review of Recent Advances," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 24, no. 22, pp. 2945–2986, 2012.
- [10] K. Nomura, H. Ohta, A. Takagi, T. Kamiya, M. Hirano, and H. Hosono, "Room-temperature fabrication of transparent flexible Thin-Film Transistors using amorphous Oxide semiconductors," *Nature*, vol. 432, no. 7016, pp. 488–492, 2004.
- [11] Y. Nakajima, M. Nakata, T. Takei, H. Fukagawa, G. Motomura, H. Tsuji, T. Shimizu, Y. Fujisaki, T. Kurita, and T. Yamamoto, "Development of 8-in. Oxide-TFT-driven flexible AMOLED display using high-performance red phosphorescent OLED," *Journal of the Society for Information Display*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 137–143, 2014.
- [12] L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, C. Vogt, H. Faber, L. Büthe, G. Cantarella, F. Bottacchi, T. D. Anthopoulos, and G. Tröster, "Metal oxide semiconductor thin-film transistors for flexible electronics," *Applied Physics Review*, vol. 3, no. 2, 2016.
- [13] P. Heremans, A. K. Tripathi, A. de Jamblinne de Meux, E. C. P. Smits, B. Hou, G. Pourtois, and G. H. Gelinck, "Mechanical and Electronic Properties of Thin-Film Transistors on Plastic, and Their Integration in Flexible Electronic Applications," *Advanced Materials*, pp. 1–17, 2015.
- [14] J. T. Wallmark and H. Johnson, *Field-effect Transistors: physics, technology and applications.* Prentice Hall, 1966.
- [15] A. Pecora, L. Maiolo, M. Cuscunà, D. Simeone, A. Minotti, L. Mariucci, and G. Fortunato, "Low-temperature polysilicon Thin Film Transistors on polyimide substrates for electronics on plastic," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 348–352, 2008.
- [16] J. F. Wager, "Flat-Panel-Display Backplanes: LTPS or IGZO for AMLCDs or AMOLED Displays?" *Information Display*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 26–29, 2014.

- [17] B. S. Lee, S. Jeon, R. Chaji, and A. Nathan, "Transparent Semiconducting Oxide Technology for Touch Free Interactive Flexible Displays," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 103, no. 4, pp. 644–664, 2015.
- [18] H. U. Li and T. N. Jackson, "Oxide Semiconductor Thin Film Transistors on Thin Solution-Cast Flexible Substrates," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 35–37, 2015.
- [19] B. U. Hwang, D. I. Kim, S. W. Cho, M. G. Yun, H. J. Kim, Y. J. Kim, H. K. Cho, and N. E. Lee, "Role of ultrathin Al₂O₃ layer in organic/inorganic hybrid gate dielectrics for flexibility improvement of InGaZnO Thin Film Transistors," *Organic Electronics: physics, materials and applications*, vol. 15, no. 7, pp. 1458–1464, 2014.
- [20] N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Töster, "Flexible self-aligned amorphous InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistors with sub-micrometer channel length and a transit frequency of 135 MHz," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 60, no. 9, pp. 2815–2820, 2013.
- [21] G. H. Gelinck, B. Cobb, A. J. J. M. van Breemen, and K. Myny, "Large scale integration of flexible non-volatile, re-addressable memories using P(VDF-TrFE) and amorphous oxide transistors," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 30, no. 7, p. 074003, 2015.
- [22] J.-I. P. J. V. D. Steen, A. K. Tripathi, J. Maas, K. V. Diesentempelaars, L. V. Leuken, G. D. Haas, B. V. D. Putten, I. Yakimets, F. Li, T. Ellis, K. Myny, P. Vicca, S. Smout, M. Ameys, T. H. Ke, S. Steudel, and M. Nag, "Low-temperature IGZO TFT backplane and its application in flexible AMOLED displays on ultrathin polymer films," in *Proceedings of the International Display Workshops*, 2013, pp. 1568–1569.
- [23] B. Wang, X. Yu, P. Guo, W. Huang, L. Zeng, N. Zhou, L. Chi, M. J. Bedzyk, R. P. H. Chang, T. J. Marks, and A. Facchetti, "Solution-Processed All-Oxide Transparent High-Performance Transistors Fabricated by Spray-Combustion Synthesis," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, 2016.

- [24] H.-H. Hsu, Y.-C. Chiu, P. Chiou, and C.-H. Cheng, "Improvement of dielectric flexibility and electrical properties of mechanically flexible Thin Film devices using Titanium Oxide materials fabricated at a very low temperature of 100C," *Journal of Alloys and Compounds*, vol. 643, no. 1, pp. S133–S136, 2014.
- [25] S.-J. Kim, D.-B. Jeon, J.-H. Park, M.-K. Ryu, J.-H. Yang, C.-S. Hwang, G.-H. Kim, and S.-M. Yoon, "Nonvolatile Memory Thin-Film Transistors Using Biodegradable Chicken Albumen Gate Insulator and Oxide Semiconductor Channel on Eco-Friendly Paper Substrate," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 8, pp. 4869–4874, 2015.
- [26] G. A. Salvatore, N. Münzenrieder, T. Kinkeldei, L. Petti, C. Zysset, I. Strebel, L. Büthe, and G. Tröster, "Wafer-scale design of lightweight and transparent electronics that wraps around hairs," *Nature Communications*, vol. 5, p. 2982, 2014.
- [27] S. Park, K. Cho, K. Yang, and S. Kim, "Electrical characteristics of flexible ZnO Thin-Film Transistors annealed by microwave irradiation," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena*, vol. 32, no. 6, p. 062203, 2014.
- [28] S. H. Jin, S.-K. Kang, I.-T. Cho, S. Y. Han, H. U. Chung, D. J. Lee, J. Shin, G. W. Baek, T.-I. Kim, J.-H. Lee, and J. A. Rogers, "Water-Soluble Thin Film Transistors and Circuits Based on Amorphous Indium–Gallium–Zinc Oxide," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 15, pp. 8268–8274, 2015.
- [29] G. Cantarella, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Vogt, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, A. Daus, and G. Tröster, "Flexible In-Ga-Zn-O Thin-Film Transistors on PDMS substrate bent to 2.3% strain," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 781–783, 2015.
- [30] F. Mahmoudabadi, X. Ma, M. K. Hatalis, K. N. Shah, and T. L. Levendusky, "Amorphous IGZO TFTs and circuits on conformable aluminum substrates," *Solid State Electronics*, vol. 101, pp. 57–62, 2014.
- [31] S. A. Khan, P. C. Kuo, A. Jamshidi Roudbari, and M. Hatalis, "Effect of uniaxial tensile strain on electrical performance of amor-

phous igzo tfts and circuits on flexible metal foils," in 68th Device Research Conference (DRC), 2010, pp. 119–120.

- [32] K.-C. Ok, S.-H. Ko Park, C.-S. Hwang, H. Kim, H. Soo Shin, J. Bae, and J.-S. Park, "The effects of buffer layers on the performance and stability of flexible InGaZnO Thin Film Transistors on polyimide substrates," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 104, no. 6, p. 063508, 2014.
- [33] R. Malay, A. Nandur, J. Hewlett, R. Vaddi, B. E. White, M. D. Poliks, S. M. Garner, M.-H. Huang, and S. C. Pollard, "Active and Passive Integration on Flexible Glass Substrates: Subtractive Single Micron Metal Interposers and High Performance IGZO Thin Film Transistors," in *Electronics Components Technology Conference*, 2015, pp. 691–699.
- [34] R. Martins, A. Nathan, R. Barros, L. Pereira, P. Barquinha, N. Correia, R. Costa, A. Ahnood, I. Ferreira, and E. Fortunato, "Complementary metal oxide semiconductor technology with and on paper," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 23, no. 39, pp. 4491–4496, 2011.
- [35] Y.-S. Li, J.-C. He, S.-M. Hsu, C.-C. Lee, D.-Y. Su, F.-Y. Tsai, and I.-C. Cheng, "Flexible Complementary Oxide – Semiconductor-Based Circuits Employing n-Channel ZnO and p-Channel SnO Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 46–49, 2016.
- [36] N. C. Su, S. J. Wang, C. C. Huang, Y. H. Chen, H. Y. Huang, C. K. Chiang, and A. Chin, "Low-voltage-driven flexible InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistor with small subthreshold swing," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 7, pp. 680–682, 2010.
- [37] H. H. Hsu, C. Y. Chang, and C. H. Cheng, "A flexible IGZO Thin-Film Transistor with stacked TiO₂-based dielectrics fabricated at room temperature," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 6, pp. 768–770, 2013.
- [38] A. Zeumault, S. Ma, and J. Holbery, "Fully inkjet-printed metal-Oxide Thin-Film Transistors on plastic," *Physica Status Solidi A*, vol. 7, pp. 1–7, 2016.
- [39] M.-K. Dai, J.-T. Lian, T.-Y. Lin, and Y.-F. Chen, "Highperformance transparent and flexible inorganic Thin Film Tran-

sistors: a facile integration of graphene nanosheets and amorphous InGaZnO," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 1, no. 33, pp. 5064–5071, 2013.

- [40] G. W. Hyung, J. Park, J. X. Wang, H. W. Lee, Z. H. Li, J. R. Koo, S. J. Kwon, E. S. Cho, W. Y. Kim, and Y. K. Kim, "Amorphous Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide Thin-Film Transistors with a lowtemperature polymeric gate dielectric on a flexible substrate," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 52, no. 7R, p. 071102, 2013.
- [41] V. Pecunia, K. Banger, and H. Sirringhaus, "High-Performance Solution-Processed Amorphous-Oxide-Semiconductor TFTs with Organic Polymeric Gate Dielectrics," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 1, no. 1-2, pp. 1–6, 2015.
- [42] S. H. Kim, J. Yoon, S. O. Yun, Y. Hwang, H. S. Jang, and H. C. Ko, "Ultrathin Sticker-Type ZnO Thin Film Transistors Formed by Transfer Printing via Topological Confinement of Water-Soluble Sacrificial Polymer in Dimple Structure," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 1375–1382, 2012.
- [43] J. Zhou, G. Wu, L. Guo, L. Zhu, and Q. Wan, "Flexible transparent junctionless TFTs with oxygen-tuned Indium-Zinc-Oxide channels," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 7, pp. 888–890, 2013.
- [44] J. Jiang, J. Sun, W. Dou, and Q. Wan, "Junctionless flexible Oxidebased Thin-Film Transistors on paper substrates," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 65–67, 2012.
- [45] N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, D. Görk, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Tröster, "Investigation of gate material ductility enables flexible a-igzo tfts bendable to a radius of 1.7 mm," in *Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC), 2013 Proceedings of the European*, 2013, pp. 362–365.
- [46] K. Myny and S. Steudel, "Flexible Thin-Film NFC Transponder Chip Exhibiting Data Rates Compatible to ISO NFC Standards Using Self-Aligned Metal-Oxide TFTs," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC)*, 2016 IEEE International, 2016, pp. 298–300.
- [47] N. Münzenrieder, C. Zysset, L. Petti, T. Kinkeldei, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Tröster, "Flexible double gate a-IGZO TFT fabricated

on free standing polyimide foil," *Solid State Electronics*, vol. 84, pp. 198–204, 2013.

- [48] J. Park, C.-S. Kim, B. Du Ahn, H. Ryu, and H.-S. Kim, "Flexible In-Ga-Zn-O Thin-Film Transistors fabricated on polyimide substrates and mechanically induced instability under negative bias illumination stress," *Journal of Electroceramics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 106–110, 2015.
- [49] R. M. Erb, K. H. Cherenack, R. E. Stahel, R. Libanori, T. Kinkeldei, N. Münzenrieder, G. Tröster, and A. R. Studart, "Locally reinforced polymer-based composites for elastic electronics," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 2860–2864, 2012.
- [50] W. Lim, J. H. Jang, S.-H. Kim, D. P. Norton, V. Craciun, S. J. Pearton, F. Ren, and H. Shen, "High performance Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide Thin Film Transistors fabricated on polyethylene terephthalate substrates," *Applied Physic Letters*, vol. 93, no. 8, p. 082102, 2008.
- [51] X. Yu, L. Zeng, N. Zhou, P. Guo, F. Shi, D. B. Buchholz, Q. Ma, J. Yu, V. P. Dravid, R. P. H. Chang, M. Bedzyk, T. J. Marks, and A. Facchetti, "Ultra-flexible, "invisible" Thin-Film Transistors enabled by amorphous metal oxide/polymer channel layer blends," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 27, no. 14, pp. 2390–2399, 2015.
- [52] C. S. Hwang, S. H. Park, H. Oh, M. K. Ryu, K. I. Cho, and S. M. Yoon, "Vertical channel ZnO Thin-Film Transistors using an atomic layer deposition method," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 360–362, 2014.
- [53] A. Van Breemen, B. Kam, B. Cobb, F. G. Rodriguez, G. Van Heck, K. Myny, A. Marrani, V. Vinciguerra, and G. Gelinck, "Ferroelectric Transistor memory arrays on flexible foils," *Organic Electronics: physics, materials, applications,* vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 1966–1971, 2013.
- [54] S. Shah, J. Smith, J. Stowell, and J. Blain Christen, "Biosensing platform on a flexible substrate," *Sensors Actuators B Chemistry*, vol. 210, pp. 197–203, 2015.
- [55] H. Xu, J. Pang, M. Xu, M. Li, Y. Guo, Z. Chen, L. Wang, J. Zou, H. Tao, L. Wang, and J. Peng, "Fabrication of Flexible Amorphous

Indium-Gallium-Zinc-Oxide Thin-Film Transistors by a Chemical Vapor Deposition-Free Process on Polyethylene Napthalate," *ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology*, vol. 3, no. 9, pp. Q3035–Q3039, 2014.

- [56] K. Hong, S. H. Kim, K. H. Lee, and C. D. Frisbie, "Printed, sub-2V ZnO Electrolyte Gated Transistors and Inverters on Plastic," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 25, no. 25, pp. 3413–3418, 2013.
- [57] Y. S. Rim, H. Chen, Y. Liu, S.-h. Bae, H. J. Kim, and Y. Yang, "Direct Light Pattern Integration of Low-Temperature Solution-Processed All-Oxide Flexible Electronics," ACS Nano, vol. 8, no. 9, pp. 9680–9686, 2014.
- [58] J.-Y. Kwon, D.-J. Lee, and K.-B. Kim, "Review paper: Transparent amorphous Oxide semiconductor Thin Film Transistor," *Electronic Materials Letters*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–11, 2011.
- [59] A. Chida, K. Hatano, T. Inoue, N. Senda, T. Sakuishi, H. Ikeda, S. Seo, Y. Hirakata, S. Y. S. Yasumoto, M. Sato, Y. Yasuda, S. Okazaki, W. Nakamura, and S. Mitsui, "A 3.4-in. Flexible High-Resolution Full-Color Top-Emitting AMOLED Display," in *SID Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, 2013, pp. 196–198.
- [60] N. Liu, L. Q. Zhu, P. Feng, C. J. Wan, Y. H. Liu, and Y. Shi, "Flexible Sensory Platform Based on an Electrolyte-Gated Oxide Neuron Transistor," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 5, no. 18082, pp. 1–9, 2015.
- [61] F. Huang, D. Han, D. Shan, Y. Tian, S. Zhang, Y. Cong, Y. Wang, L. Liu, X. Zhang, and S. Zhang, "Room-temperature fabrication of flexible Gallium-doped Zinc Oxide Thin-Film Transistors on plastic substrates," in *Electron Devices and Solid-State Circuits* (EDSSC), 2013 IEEE International Conference of, 2013, pp. 1–2.
- [62] W. Jackson, R. Hoffman, and G. Herman, "High-performance flexible Zinc Tin Oxide Field-Effect Transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 87, no. 19, p. 193503, 2005.
- [63] J. H. Park, Y. B. Yoo, K. H. Lee, W. S. Jang, J. Y. Oh, S. S. Chae, H. W. Lee, S. W. Han, and H. K. Baik, "Boron-Doped Peroxo-Zirconium Oxide Dielectric for High-Performance, Low-Temperature, Solution-Processed Indium Oxide Thin-Film Transistor," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 5, no. 16, pp. 8067–8075, 2013.

- [64] C. Y. Lee, M. Y. Lin, W. H. Wu, J. Y. Wang, Y. Chou, W. F. Su, Y. F. Chen, and C. F. Lin, "Flexible ZnO transparent Thin-Film Transistors by a solution-based process at various solution concentrations," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 25, no. 10, p. 105008, 2010.
- [65] Y. Hwan Hwang, J.-S. Seo, J. Moon Yun, H. Park, S. Yang, S.-H. Ko Park, and B.-S. Bae, "An aqueous route for the fabrication of low-temperature-processable Oxide flexible transparent Thin-Film Transistors on plastic substrates," NPG Asia Materials, vol. 5, no. 4, p. e45, 2013.
- [66] S. Jeong, J.-Y. Lee, M.-H. Ham, K. Song, J. Moon, Y.-H. Seo, B.-H. Ryu, and Y. Choi, "Bendable Thin-Film Transistors based on sol-gel derived amorphous Ga-doped In₂O₃ semiconductors," *Superlattices and Microstructures*, vol. 59, pp. 21–28, 2013.
- [67] A. Dindar, J. B. Kim, C. Fuentes-Hernandez, and B. Kippelen, "Metal-Oxide complementary inverters with a vertical geometry fabricated on flexible substrates," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 99, no. 17, p. 172104, 2011.
- [68] J. A. Caraveo-Frescas, P. K. Nayak, H. A. Al-Jawhari, D. B. Granato, U. Schwingenschlögl, and H. N. Alshareef, "Record mobility in transparent p-type tin monoxide films and devices by phase engineering," ACS Nano, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 5160–5167, 2013.
- [69] P. Pattanasattayavong, N. Yaacobi-Gross, K. Zhao, G. O. N. Ndjawa, J. Li, F. Yan, B. C. O'Regan, A. Amassian, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Hole-transporting Transistors and circuits based on the transparent inorganic semiconductor copper (I) thiocyanate (CuSCN) processed from solution at room temperature," Advanced Materials, vol. 25, no. 10, pp. 1504–9, 2013.
- [70] M. Mativenga, D. Geng, B. Kim, and J. Jang, "Fully Transparent and Rollable Electronics," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 1578–1585, 2015.
- [71] C. B. Park, H. I. Na, S. S. Yoo, and K.-S. Park, "Electromechanical properties of amorphous Indium–Gallium–Zinc-Oxide Transistors structured with an island configuration on plastic," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. 031101, 2016.

- [72] S. Thiemann, S. J. Sachnov, F. Pettersson, R. Bollström, R. Österbacka, P. Wasserscheid, and J. Zaumseil, "Cellulose-Based Ionogels for Paper Electronics," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 1–10, 2013.
- [73] H. Faber, Y.-H. Lin, S. R. Thomas, K. Zhao, N. Pliatsikas, M. A. McLachlan, A. Amassian, P. A. Patsalas, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Indium Oxide Thin-Film Transistors Processed at Low Temperature via Ultrasonic Spray Pyrolysis," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 782–790, 2014.
- [74] S. R. Thomas, P. Pattanasattayavong, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Solution-processable metal oxide semiconductors for thin-film transistor applications," *Chemical Society Reviews*, vol. 42, no. 16, pp. 6910–6923, 2013.
- [75] N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Cantarella, and G. Tröster, "Contact resistance and overlapping capacitance in flexible sub-micron long oxide thinfilm transistors for above 100 mhz operation," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 105, no. 26, p. 263504, 2014.
- [76] M.-J. Park, D.-J. Yun, M.-K. Ryu, J.-H. Yang, J.-E. Pi, O.-S. Kwon, G. H. Kim, C.-S. Hwang, J.-Y. Bak, and S.-M. Yoon, "Improvements in the bending performance and bias stability of flexible InGaZnO Thin Film Transistors and optimum barrier structures for plastic poly(ethylene naphthalate) substrates," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 3, no. 18, pp. 4779–4786, 2015.
- [77] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, *Physics of semiconductor devices*. John Wiley & Sons, 2006.
- [78] R. Gregorian and C. T. Gabor, *Analog MOS integrated circuits for signal processing*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1986.
- [79] S. Ju, A. Facchetti, Y. Xuan, J. Liu, F. Ishikawa, P. Ye, C. Zhou, T. J. Marks, and D. B. Janes, "Fabrication of fully transparent nanowire Transistors for transparent and flexible electronics," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 378–384, 2007.
- [80] S. Dasgupta, R. Kruk, N. Mechau, and H. Hahn, "Inkjet Printed, High Mobility Inorganic-Oxide Field Effect Transistors Processed at Room Temperature," ACS Nano, vol. 5, no. 12, pp. 9628–9638, 2011.

- [81] Y.-H. Lin, H. Faber, J. G. Labram, E. Stratakis, L. Sygellou, E. Kymakis, N. A. Hastas, R. Li, K. Zhao, A. Amassian, N. D. Treat, M. McLachlan, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "High electron mobility thin-film transistors based on solution-processed semiconducting metal oxide heterojunctions and quasi-superlattices," *Advanced Science*, vol. 2, no. 7, 2015.
- [82] J.-W. Jo, J. Kim, K.-T. Kim, J.-G. Kang, M.-G. Kim, K.-H. Kim, H. Ko, J. Kim, Y.-H. Kim, and S. K. Park, "Highly stable and imperceptible electronics utilizing photoactivated heterogeneous sol-gel metal-Oxide dielectrics and semiconductors," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 27, no. 7, pp. 1182–8, 2015.
- [83] F. Fleischhaker, V. Wloka, and I. Hennig, "ZnO based Field-Effect Transistors (FETs): solution-processable at low temperatures on flexible substrates," *Journal of Materials Chemistry*, vol. 20, no. 32, pp. 6622–6625, 2010.
- [84] Z. Q. Yao, S. L. Liu, L. Zhang, B. He, A. Kumar, X. Jiang, W. J. Zhang, and G. Shao, "Room temperature fabrication of p-channel Cu₂O Thin-Film Transistors on flexible polyethylene terephthalate substrates," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 101, no. 4, p. 042114, 2012.
- [85] J. A. Caraveo-Frescas, M. A. Khan, and H. N. Alshareef, "Polymer ferroelectric Field-Effect memory device with SnO channel layer exhibits record hole mobility," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 4, p. 5243, 2014.
- [86] N. Münzenrieder, K. Cherenack, and G. Tröster, "Testing of flexible InGaZnO-based Thin-Film Transistors under mechanical strain," *The European Physical Journal Applied Physics*, vol. 55, no. 02, p. 23904, 2011.
- [87] H. Gleskova, S. Wagner, and Z. Suo, "a-si:h thin film transistors after very high strain," *Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids*, vol. 266, pp. 1320–1324, 2000.
- [88] G. J. Lee, J. Kim, J.-H. Kim, S. M. Jeong, J. E. Jang, and J. Jeong, "High performance, transparent a-IGZO TFTs on a flexible thin glass substrate," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 29, no. 3, p. 035003, 2014.

- [89] H.-H. Hsieh and C.-C. Wu, "Amorphous In₂O₃-Ga₂O₃-ZnO Thin Film Transistors and Integrated Circuits on Flexible and Colorless Polyimide Substrates," in *SID Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, 2008, pp. 1207–1210.
- [90] D. Zhao, D. A. Mourey, and T. N. Jackson, "Fast Flexible Plastic Substrate ZnO Circuits," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 323–325, 2010.
- [91] J. Genoe, K. Obata, M. Ameys, K. Myny, T. H. Ke, M. Nag, S. Steudel, S. Schols, J. Maas, A. Tripathi, J.-I. P. J. V. D. Steen, T. Ellis, G. H. Gelinck, and P. Heremans, "Integrated Line Driver for Digital Pulse-Width Modulation Driven AMOLED Displays on Flex," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 282–290, 2015.
- [92] M. Mativenga, M. H. Choi, J. W. Choi, and J. Jang, "Transparent Flexible Circuits Based on Amorphous-Indium–Gallium–Zinc–Oxide Thin-Film Transistors," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 170–172, 2011.
- [93] R. Shabanpour, T. Meister, K. Ishida, B. Kheradmand, C. Carta, U. Jörges, F. Ellinger, L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Tröster, "Cherry-Hooper Amplifiers with 33 dB Gain at 400 kHz BW and 10 dB Gain at 3 .5 MHz BW in Flexible Self-Aligned a-IGZO TFT Technology," in *Intelligent Signal Processing and Communication Systems (ISPACS)*, 2014 International Symposium on, 2014, pp. 271–274.
- [94] C. Zysset, N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, L. Büthe, G. A. Salvatore, and G. Tröster, "IGZO TFT-Based All-Enhancement Operational Amplifier Bent to a Radius of 5 mm," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 1394–1396, 2013.
- [95] M. S. Oh, W. Choi, K. Lee, D. K. Hwang, and S. Im, "Flexible high gain complementary inverter using n-ZnO and p-pentacene channels on polyethersulfone substrate," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 93, no. 3, p. 033510, 2008.
- [96] K. Nomura, T. Aoki, K. Nakamura, T. Kamiya, T. Nakanishi, T. Hasegawa, M. Kimura, T. Kawase, M. Hirano, and H. Hosono, "Three-dimensionally stacked flexible integrated circuit: Amorphous Oxide/polymer hybrid complementary inverter using

n-type a-In–Ga–Zn–O and p-type poly-(9,9-dioctylfluorene-cobithiophene) Thin-Film Transistors," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 96, no. 26, p. 3509, 2010.

- [97] H. Chen, Y. Cao, J. Zhang, and C. Zhou, "Large-scale complementary macroelectronics using hybrid integration of carbon nanotubes and igzo thin-film transistors," *Nature Communications*, vol. 5, 2014.
- [98] J. Kim, C. Fuentes-Hernandez, S.-J. Kim, S. Choi, and B. Kippelen, "Flexible hybrid complementary inverters with high gain and balanced noise margins using pentacene and amorphous InGaZnO Thin-Film Transistors," *Organic Electronics*, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 1074–1078, 2010.
- [99] R. F. P. Martins, A. Ahnood, N. Correia, L. M. N. P. Pereira, R. Barros, P. M. C. B. Barquinha, R. Costa, I. M. M. Ferreira, A. Nathan, and E. E. M. C. Fortunato, "Recyclable, Flexible, Low-Power Oxide Electronics," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 23, no. 17, pp. 2153–2161, 2013.
- [100] W. Honda, S. Harada, S. Ishida, T. Arie, S. Akita, and K. Takei, "High-performance, mechanically flexible, and vertically integrated 3d carbon nanotube and ingazno complementary circuits with a temperature sensor," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 27, no. 32, pp. 4674–4680, 2015.
- [101] F. Bottacchi, L. Petti, F. Späth, I. Namal, G. Tröster, T. Hertel, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Polymer-sorted (6,5) single-walled carbon nanotubes for solution-processed low-voltage flexible microelectronics," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 106, no. 19, p. 193302, 2015.
- [102] I. Chan and A. Nathan, "Amorphous Silicon Thin-Film Transistors with 90 deg vertical nanoscale channel," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 86, no. 25, p. 253501, 2005.
- [103] B. Zhou and W. F. Ramirez, "Kinetics and modeling of wet etching of aluminum oxide by warm phosphoric acid," *Journal of The Electrochemical Society*, vol. 143, no. 2, pp. 619–623, 1996.
- [104] H. Shichman and D. Hodges, "Modeling and simulation of insulated Field-Effect Transistor switching circuits," *Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 3, no. 3, pp. 285–289, 1968.

- [105] L. Petti, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, T. Kinkeldei, L. Büthe, and G. Tröster, "Influence of Mechanical Bending on Flexible InGaZnO-Based Ferroelectric Memory TFTs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, no. 4, pp. 1085–1092, 2014.
- [106] N. Münzenrieder, K. H. Cherenack, and G. Tröster, "The effects of mechanical bending and illumination on the performance of flexible igzo tfts," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2041–2048, 2011.
- [107] S. F. Nelson, D. H. Levy, and L. W. Tutt, "Defeating the tradeoff between process complexity and electrical performance with vertical Zinc Oxide Transistors," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 101, no. 18, p. 183503, 2012.
- [108] H. S. Rha, J. Jung, Y. S. Jung, Y. J. Chung, U. K. Kim, E. S. Hwang, B. K. Park, T. J. Park, J. H. Choi, and C. S. Hwang, "Doublelayered vertically integrated amorphous-In₂Ga₂ZnO₇ Thin-Film Transistor," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 103, no. 18, p. 183503, 2013.
- [109] Y. Liu, H. Zhou, R. Cheng, W. Yu, Y. Huang, and X. Duan, "Highly flexible electronics from scalable vertical Thin Film Transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 1413–1418, 2014.
- [110] S. H. Rha, J. Jung, Y. S. Jung, U. K. Kim, E. S. Hwang, B. K. Park, T. J. Park, J. H. Choi, and C. S. Hwang, "Vertically integrated submicron amorphous-In₂Ga₂ZnO₇ Thin Film Transistor using a low temperature process," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 100, no. 20, p. 203510, 2012.
- [111] L. Petti, P. Aguirre, N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, C. Zysset, A. Frutiger, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, and G. Tröster, "Mechanically flexible vertically integrated a-IGZO Thin-Film Transistors with 500 nm channel length fabricated on free standing plastic foil," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2013 IEEE International, 2013, pp. 11.4.1–11.4.4.
- [112] S. Steudel, F. Vanaverbeke, K. Myny, M. Nag, T. H. Ke, S. Schols, G. Gielen, J. Genoe, and P. Heremans, "UHF IGZO Schottky diode," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2013 IEEE International, 2013, pp. 12.4.1–12.4.4.

- [113] M. Thiel, J. Fischer, G. von Freymann, and M. Wegener, "Direct laser writing of three-dimensional submicron structures using a continuous-wave laser at 532 nm," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 97, no. 22, 2010.
- [114] N. Lindenmann, G. Balthasar, D. Hillerkuss, R. Schmogrow, M. Jordan, J. Leuthold, W. Freude, and C. Koos, "Photonic wire bonding: a novel concept for chip-scale interconnects," *Optics Express*, vol. 20, no. 16, pp. 17 667–17 677, 2012.
- [115] J. K. Gansel, M. Latzel, A. Frölich, J. Kaschke, M. Thiel, and M. Wegener, "Tapered gold-helix metamaterials as improved circular polarizers," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 100, no. 10, 2012.
- [116] M. A. Zeeshan, R. Grisch, E. Pellicer, K. M. Sivaraman, K. E. Peyer, J. Sort, B. Özkale, M. S. Sakar, B. J. Nelson, and S. Pané, "Hybrid helical magnetic microrobots obtained by 3d templateassisted electrodeposition," *Small*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 1284–1288, 2014.
- [117] M. Röhrig, M. Thiel, M. Worgull, and H. Hölscher, "Hierarchical structures: 3d direct laser writing of nano- and microstructured hierarchical gecko-mimicking surfaces," *Small*, vol. 8, no. 19, pp. 2918–2918, 2012.
- [118] E. Blasco, J. Müller, P. Müller, V. Trouillet, M. Schön, T. Scherer, C. Barner-Kowollik, and M. Wegener, "Fabrication of conductive 3d gold-containing microstructures via direct laser writing," *Advanced Materials*, pp. n/a–n/a, 2016.
- [119] S. Hengsbach and A. D. Lantada, "Direct laser writing of auxetic structures: present capabilities and challenges," *Smart Materials and Structures*, vol. 23, no. 8, p. 085033, 2014.
- [120] F. Klein, T. Striebel, J. Fischer, Z. Jiang, C. M. Franz, G. von Freymann, M. Wegener, and M. Bastmeyer, "Elastic fully threedimensional microstructure scaffolds for cell force measurements," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 22, no. 8, pp. 868–871, 2010.
- [121] A. Ostendorf and B. N. Chichkov, "Two-photon polymerization: a new approach to micromachining," *Photonics Spectra*, vol. 40, no. 10, p. 72, 2006.

162 Bibliography

- [122] N. Münzenrieder, L. Petti, C. Zysset, G. A. Salvatore, T. Kinkeldei, C. Perumal, C. Carta, F. Ellinger, and G. Tröster, "Flexible a-igzo tft amplifier fabricated on a free standing polyimide foil operating at 1.2 mhz while bent to a radius of 5 mm," in *Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, 2012 IEEE International, 2012, pp. 96–99.
- [123] J. S. Lee, Y. J. Kwack, and W. S. Choi, "Inkjet-printed in₂o₃ thinfilm transistor below 200 c," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 5, no. 22, pp. 11 578–11 583, 2013.
- [124] H. Faber, Y.-H. Lin, S. R. Thomas, K. Zhao, N. Pliatsikas, M. A. McLachlan, A. Amassian, P. A. Patsalas, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Indium oxide thin-film transistors processed at low temperature via ultrasonic spray pyrolysis," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 782–790, 2015.
- [125] J. H. Park, Y. B. Yoo, K. H. Lee, W. S. Jang, J. Y. Oh, S. S. Chae, H. W. Lee, S. W. Han, and H. K. Baik, "Boron-doped peroxo-zirconium oxide dielectric for high-performance, low-temperature, solution-processed indium oxide thin-film transistor," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 5, no. 16, pp. 8067–8075, 2013.
- [126] C.-H. Choi, S.-Y. Han, Y.-W. Su, Z. Fang, L.-Y. Lin, C.-C. Cheng, and C.-H. Chang, "Fabrication of high-performance, lowtemperature solution processed amorphous indium oxide thinfilm transistors using a volatile nitrate precursor," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 854–860, 2015.
- [127] M. M. Sabri, J. Jung, D. H. Yoon, S. Yoon, Y. J. Tak, and H. J. Kim, "Hydroxyl radical-assisted decomposition and oxidation in solution-processed indium oxide thin-film transistors," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 3, pp. 7499–7505, 2015.
- [128] A. Mottram, Y. Lin, P. Pattanasattayavong, K. Zhao, A. Amassian, and T. Anthopoulos, "Quasi two-dimensional dye-sensitized in₂o₃ phototransistors for ultrahigh responsivity and photosensitivity photodetector applications." ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 8, pp. 4894–4902, 2016.

- [129] A. Dey, A. Indluru, S. M. Venugopal, D. R. Allee, and T. L. Alford, "Effect of mechanical and electromechanical stress on a-zio tfts," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 31, no. 12, pp. 1416–1418, 2010.
- [130] R. Martins, V. Figueiredo, R. Barros, P. Barquinha, G. Gonçalves, L. Pereira, I. Ferreira, and E. Fortunato, "P-type Oxide-based Thin Film Transistors produced at low temperatures," in *SPIE OPTO*. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2012, p. 826315.
- [131] J. Li, Z. Sun, and F. Yan, "Solution processable low-voltage organic Thin Film Transistors with high-k relaxor ferroelectric polymer as gate insulator," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 88–93, 2012.
- [132] C. Wang, J.-C. Chien, K. Takei, T. Takahashi, J. Nah, A. M. Niknejad, and A. Javey, "Extremely bendable, high-performance integrated circuits using semiconducting carbon nanotube networks for digital, analog, and radio-frequency applications," *Nano letters*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 1527–1533, 2012.
- [133] W. Honda, T. Arie, S. Akita, and K. Takei, "Mechanically flexible and high-performance cmos logic circuits," *Scientific reports*, vol. 5, 2015.
- [134] B. Kim, M. L. Geier, M. C. Hersam, and A. Dodabalapur, "Inkjet printed circuits on flexible and rigid substrates based on ambipolar carbon nanotubes with high operational stability," ACS Applied Materials and Interfaces, vol. 7, no. 50, pp. 27654–27660, 2015.
- [135] A. Nish, J. Y. Hwang, J. Doig, and R. J. Nicholas, "Highly selective dispersion of single-walled carbon nanotubes using aromatic polymers," *Nature Nanotechnology*, vol. 2, no. 10, pp. 640–646, 2007.
- [136] J.-Y. Hwang, A. Nish, J. Doig, S. Douven, C.-W. Chen, L.-C. Chen, and R. J. Nicholas, "Polymer structure and solvent effects on the selective dispersion of single-walled carbon nanotubes," *Journal* of the American Chemical Society, vol. 130, no. 11, pp. 3543–3553, 2008.

- [137] J. Gao, M. Kwak, J. Wildeman, A. Herrmann, and M. Loi, "Effectiveness of sorting single-walled carbon nanotubes by diameter using polyfluorene derivatives," *Carbon*, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 333– 338, 2011.
- [138] H. Ozawa, N. Ide, T. Fujigaya, Y. Niidome, and N. Nakashima, "One-pot separation of highly enriched (6, 5)-single-walled carbon nanotubes using a fluorene-based copolymer," *Chemistry Letters*, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 239–241, 2011.
- [139] T. Furukawa, T. Nakajima, and Y. Takahashi, "Factors governing ferroelectric switching characteristics of thin vdf/trfe copolymer films," *IEEE Transactions on Dielectrics and Electrical Insulation*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 1120–1131, 2006.
- [140] S.-W. Jung, J. B. Koo, C. W. Park, B. S. Na, J.-Y. Oh, S. S. Lee, and K.-W. Koo, "Flexible nonvolatile memory Transistors using Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide-channel and ferroelectric polymer poly(vinylidene fluoride-co-trifluoroethylene) fabricated on elastomer substrate," *Journal of Vacuum Science and Technology B*, vol. 33, no. 5, p. 051201, 2015.
- [141] G. G. Lee, E. Tokumitsu, S. M. Yoon, Y. Fujisaki, J. W. Yoon, and H. Ishiwara, "The flexible non-volatile memory devices using oxide semiconductors and ferroelectric polymer poly(vinylidene fluoride-trifluoroethylene)," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 99, no. 1, p. 012901, 2011.
- [142] A. van Breemen, B. Kam, B. Cobb, F. G. Rodriguez, G. van Heck, K. Myny, A. Marrani, V. Vinciguerra, and G. H. Gelinck, "Ferroelectric transistor memory arrays on flexible foils," *Organic Electronics*, pp. 1966–1971, 2013.
- [143] H. Ohigashi, K. Koga, M. Suzuki, T. Nakanishi, K. Kimura, and N. Hashimoto, "Piezoelectric and ferroelectric properties of p(vdf-trfe) copolymers and their application to ultrasonic transducers," *Ferroelectrics*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 263–276, 1984.
- [144] S. M. Yoon, S. Yang, M. K. Ryu, C. W. Byun, S. W. Jung, S. H. K. Park, C. S. Hwang, and K. I. Cho, "Oxide semiconductor-based organic/inorganic hybrid dual-gate nonvolatile memory thinfilm transistor," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 58, no. 7, pp. 2135–2142, 2011.

- [145] S. M. Yoon, S. Yang, C. Byun, S. H. K. Park, D. H. Cho, S. W. Jung, O. S. Kwon, and C. S. Hwang, "Fully transparent non-volatile memory thin-film transistors using an organic ferroelectric and oxide semiconductor below 200 c," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 921–926, 2010.
- [146] S. M. Yoon, S. H. Yang, S. W. Jung, C. W. Byun, S. H. K. Park, C. S. Hwang, and H. Ishiwara, "Solution-processed zinc indium oxide transparent nonvolatile memory thin-film transistors with polymeric ferroelectric gate insulator," *Electrochemical and Solid-State Letters*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. H141–H143, 2010.
- [147] D. Kim, B. Hwang, J. Park, H. Jeon, B. Bae, H. Lee, and N. Lee, "Mechanical bending of flexible complementary inverters based on organic and oxide thin film transistors," *Organic Electronics*, pp. 2401–2405, 2012.
- [148] C. Y. Lin, C. W. Chien, C. C. Wu, Y. H. Yeh, C. C. Cheng, C. M. Lai, M. J. Yu, C. M. Leu, and T. M. Lee, "Effects of mechanical strains on the characteristics of top-gate staggered a-igzo thinfilm transistors fabricated on polyimide-based nanocomposite substrates," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 1956–1962, 2012.
- [149] K. H. Cherenack, B. Hekmatshoar, J. C. Sturm, and S. Wagner, "Self-aligned amorphous silicon thin-film transistors fabricated on clear plastic at 300 c," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 57, no. 10, pp. 2381–2389, 2010.
- [150] Y. Uchida, Y. Nara, and M. Matsumura, "Proposed vertical-type amorphous-Silicon Field-Effect Transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 105–107, 1984.
- [151] M. Moradi, A. A. Fomani, and A. Nathan, "Effect of gate dielectric scaling in nanometer scale vertical thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 99, no. 22, p. 223503, 2011.
- [152] A. Suresh and J. F. Muth, "Bias stress stability of indium gallium zinc oxide channel based transparent thin film transistors," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 92, no. 3, p. 033502, 2008.
- [153] N. Stutzmann, R. Friend, and H. Sirringhaus, "Self-aligned, vertical-channel, polymer Field-Effect Transistors," *Science*, vol. 299, no. 5614, pp. 1881–1884, 2003.

- [154] W. Hu and R. L. Peterson, "Molybdenum as a contact material in Zinc Tin Oxide Thin Film Transistors," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 104, no. 19, p. 192105, 2005.
- [155] N. Münzenrieder, G. A. Salvatore, L. Petti, C. Zysset, L. Büthe, C. Vogt, G. Cantarella, and G. Tröster, "Flexible self-aligned double-gate IGZO TFT," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 69–71, 2014.
- [156] J. F. Wager, D. A. Keszler, and R. E. Presley, *Transparent electronics*. Springer, 2008.
- [157] V. Subramanian and T. Lee, "Nanotechnology-based flexible electronics," *Nanotechnology*, vol. 23, no. 34, p. 340201, 2012.
- [158] J. K. Jeong, "The status and perspectives of metal oxide thinfilm transistors for active matrix flexible displays," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 26, no. 3, p. 034008, 2011.
- [159] T. Sekitani, M. Kaltenbrunner, T. Yokota, and T. Someya, "Imperceptible electronic skin," in *Society for Information Display (SID)*, *Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, vol. 45, no. 1, 2014, pp. 122– 125.
- [160] Y. Sun and J. A. Rogers, "Inorganic semiconductors for flexible electronics," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 19, no. 15, pp. 1897–1916, 2007.
- [161] P. F. Moonen, I. Yakimets, and J. Huskens, "Fabrication of transistors on flexible substrates: from mass-printing to high-resolution alternative lithography strategies," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 24, no. 41, pp. 5526–5541, 2012.
- [162] R. L. Weiher, "Electrical properties of single crystals of indium oxide," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 2834–2839, 1962.
- [163] C. Xirouchaki, G. Kiriakidis, T. Pedersen, and H. Fritzsche, "Photoreduction and oxidation of as-deposited microcrystalline indium oxide," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 79, no. 12, pp. 9349– 9352, 1996.
- [164] G. Lavareda, C. N. de Carvalho, E. Fortunato, A. Ramos, E. Alves,O. Conde, and A. Amaral, "Transparent thin film transistors

based on indium oxide semiconductor," *Journal of Non-Crystalline Solids*, vol. 352, no. 23, pp. 2311–2314, 2006.

- [165] R. Gupta, N. Mamidi, K. Ghosh, S. Mishra, and P. Kahol, "Growth and characterization of in₂o₃ thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition," *Journal of Optoelectronics and Advanced Materials*, vol. 9, no. 7, pp. 2211–2216, 2007.
- [166] W. Siefert, "Properties of thin in₂o₃ and sno₂ films prepared by corona spray pyrolysis, and a discussion of the spray pyrolysis process," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 120, no. 4, pp. 275–282, 1984.
- [167] M. G. Kim, M. G. Kanatzidis, A. Facchetti, and T. Marks, "Lowtemperature fabrication of high-performance metal oxide thinfilm electronics via combustion processing," *Nature Materials*, vol. 10, pp. 382–388, 2011.
- [168] H. S. Kim, P. D. Byrne, A. Facchetti, and T. J. Marks, "High performance solution-processed indium oxide thin-film transistors," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 130, no. 38, pp. 12580–12581, 2008.
- [169] S. Y. Han, G. S. Herman, and C. H. Chang, "Low-temperature, high-performance, solution-processed indium oxide thin-film transistors," *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, vol. 133, no. 14, pp. 5166–5169, 2011.
- [170] G. Adamopoulos, S. Thomas, P. H. Wöbkenberg, D. D. C. Bradley, M. A. McLachlan, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "High-mobility lowvoltage zno and li-doped zno transistors based on zro₂ high-k dielectric grown by spray pyrolysis in ambient air," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 23, no. 16, pp. 1894–1898, 2011.
- [171] H. Faber, B. Butz, C. Dieker, E. Spiecker, and M. Halik, "Fully patterned low-voltage transparent metal oxide transistors deposited solely by chemical spray pyrolysis," *Advanced Functional Materials*, vol. 23, no. 22, pp. 2828–2834, 2013.
- [172] S. Oertel, M. P. Jank, E. Teuber, A. J. Bauer, and L. Frey, "Highmobility metal-oxide thin-film transistors by spray deposition of environmentally friendly precursors," *Thin Solid Films*, vol. 553, pp. 114 – 117, 2014.

- [173] S. Parthiban, E. Elangovan, P. Nayak, A. Goncalves, D. Nunes, L. Pereira, P. Barquinha, T. Busani, E. Fortunato, and R. Martins, "Performances of microcrystalline zinc tin oxide thin-film transistors processed by spray pyrolysis," *Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 825–831, 2013.
- [174] S. R. Thomas, G. Adamopoulos, Y. H. Lin, H. Faber, L. Sygellou, E. Stratakis, N. Pliatsikas, P. A. Patsalas, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "High electron mobility thin-film transistors based on ga₂o₃ grown by atmospheric ultrasonic spray pyrolysis at low temperatures," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 105, no. 9, p. 092105, 2014.
- [175] P. Pattanasattayavong, S. Thomas, G. Adamopoulos, M. A. McLachlan, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "p-channel thin-film transistors based on spray-coated cu₂0 films," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 102, no. 16, p. 163505, 2013.
- [176] S. R. Thomas, G. Adamopoulos, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "Bedoped zno thin-film transistors and circuits fabricated by spray pyrolysis in air," *Journal of Display Technology*, vol. 9, no. 9, pp. 688–693, 2013.
- [177] S. M. Sze and K. K. Ng, Physics of semiconductor devices. WILEY-VCH Verlag, 2006.
- [178] A. Bashir, P. H. Wöbkenberg, J. Smith, J. M. Ball, G. Adamopoulos, D. D. C. Bradley, and T. D. Anthopoulos, "High-performance zinc oxide transistors and circuits fabricated by spray pyrolysis in ambient atmosphere," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 21, no. 21, pp. 2226–2231, 2009.
- [179] C. E. Forbes, A. Gelbman, C. Turner, H. Gleskova, and S. Wagner, "A rugged conformable backplane fabricated with an a-si:h tft array on a polyimide substrate," *SID Symposium Digest of Technical Papers*, vol. 33, pp. 1200–1203, 2002.
- [180] H. Marien, M. Steyaert, E. Van Veenendael, and P. Heremans, "1d and 2d analog 1.5 khz air-stable organic capacitive touch sensors on plastic foil," in *Solid-State Circuits Conference Digest of Technical Papers (ISSCC)*, 2012 IEEE International, 2012, pp. 310–312.
- [181] T. Geller, "The promise of flexible displays," Communications of the ACM, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 16–18, 2011.

- [182] T. Sekitani, K. Zaitsu, Y. Noguchi, K. Ishibe, M. Takamiya, T. Sakurai, and T. Someya, "Printed nonvolatile memory for a sheet-type communication system," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 56, no. 5, pp. 1027–1035, 2009.
- [183] R. C. G. Naber, C. Tanase, P. W. M. Blom, G. H. Gelinck, A. Marsman, F. J. Touwslager, S. Setayesh, and D. M. De Leeuw, "High-performance solution-processed polymer ferroelectric field-effect transistors," *Nature Materials*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 243– 248, 2005.
- [184] P. Heremans, G. H. Gelinck, R. Müller, K. J. Baeg, D. Y. Kim, and Y. Y. Noh, "Polymer and organic nonvolatile memory devices," *Chemistry of Materials*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 341–358, 2010.
- [185] J. F. Scott, *Ferroelectric memories*. Springer, 2000, vol. 3.
- [186] G. Gelinck, A. Marsman, F. Touwslager, S. Setayesh, D. De Leeuw, R. Naber, and P. Blom, "All-polymer ferroelectric transistors," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 87, no. 9, p. 092903, 2005.
- [187] R. Naber, B. De Boer, P. Blom, and D. De Leeuw, "Low-voltage polymer field-effect transistors for nonvolatile memories," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 87, no. 20, p. 203509, 2005.
- [188] K. H. Lee, G. Lee, K. Lee, M. S. Oh, S. Im, and S. M. Yoon, "High-mobility nonvolatile memory thin-film transistors with a ferroelectric polymer interfacing zno and pentacene channels," *Advanced Materials*, vol. 21, no. 42, pp. 4287–4291, 2009.
- [189] S. M. Yoon, S. Yang, C. W. Byun, S. W. Jung, M. K. Ryu, S. H. K. Park, B. H. Kim, H. Oh, C. S. Hwang, and B. G. Yu, "Nonvolatile memory thin-film transistors using an organic ferroelectric gate insulator and an oxide semiconducting channel," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 26, no. 3, p. 034007, 2011.
- [190] S. H. Noh, W. Choi, M. S. Oh, D. Hwang, K. Lee, S. Im, S. Jang, and E. Kim, "Zno-based nonvolatile memory thin-film transistors with polymer dielectric/ferroelectric double gate insulators," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 90, no. 25, p. 253504, 2007.
- [191] G. G. Lee, Y. Fujisaki, H. Ishiwara, and E. Tokumitsu, "Lowvoltage operation of ferroelectric gate thin film transistors using

indium gallium zinc oxide-channel and ferroelectric polymer poly (vinylidene fluoride–trifluoroethylene)," *Applied Physics Express*, vol. 4, no. 9, p. 1103, 2011.

- [192] J. B. Kim, C. Fuentes-Hernandez, W. J. Potscavage Jr, X. H. Zhang, and B. Kippelen, "Low-voltage ingazno thin-film transistors with alo gate insulator grown by atomic layer deposition," *Applied Physics Letter*, vol. 94, p. 142107, 2009.
- [193] G. A. Salvatore, D. Bouvet, I. Stolitchnov, N. Setter, and A. M. Ionescu, "Low voltage ferroelectric fet with sub-100nm copolymer p (vdf-trfe) gate dielectric for non-volatile 1t memory," in *Solid-State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC), 2008 Proceedings of the European,* 2008, pp. 162–165.
- [194] K. Omote, H. Ohigashi, and K. Koga, "Temperature dependence of elastic, dielectric, and piezoelectric properties of "single crystalline" films of vinylidene fluoride trifluoroethylene copolymer," *Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 81, no. 6, pp. 2760–2769, 1997.
- [195] M. Rockelé, M. Nag, T. H. Ke, S. Botnaras, D. Weber, D. V. Pham, J. Steiger, S. Steudel, K. Myny, S. Schols, B. van der Putten, J. Genoe, and P. Heremas, "Solution-processed and low-temperature zno-based n-channel tfts on polyethylene naphthalate foil, suited for hybrid complementary circuitry," in *International Display Workshops (IDW), 2012 Proceedings on, 2012*, pp. 299–302.
- [196] B. Kim, S. Jang, M. L. Geier, P. L. Prabhumirashi, M. C. Hersam, and A. Dodabalapur, "High-speed, inkjet-printed carbon nanotube/zinc tin oxide hybrid complementary ring oscillators," *Nano Letters*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 3683–3687, 2014.
Glossary

Si^{++}	Heavily Doped Silicon	108, 109
$\Delta V_{TH,FOR}$	Threshold Voltage Shift for	131
	Forward Sweep (Memory	
	Transistor)	
$\Delta V_{TH,REV}$	Threshold Voltage Shift for	131
	Reverse Sweep (Memory	
	Transistor)	
ΔV_{TH}	Threshold Voltage Shift	91, 92, 94, 126, 128,
	(Transistor)	129, 131, 132, 140
ϵ	Strain	44, 48, 54, 58, 62, 63,
		66,71,72,75,80,91-
		95, 114, 115, 125–
		129, 143, 144
ϵ_R	Dielectric Constant	7, 8, 13, 41, 60
ϵ_r	Rupture Strain	41
λ	Wavelength	138
$\mu_{FE,n}$	Electron Field-Effect Mobility	139, 141–143, 145
	(N-type Transistor)	
$\mu_{FE,p}$	Hole Field-Effect Mobility	139, 141, 143, 145
	(P-type Transistor)	
μ_{FE}	Effective Field-Effect Mobility	10, 16–20, 22, 23, 42,
	(Transistor). The effective	43, 45, 47, 48, 51, 53,
	field-effect mobility is directly	56, 58, 60, 62, 64, 66,
	proportional to the drain	76–79, 81, 83, 142,
	current of a TFT. Therefore μ_{FE}	144
	also reflects changes in the	
	contact resistance, in the oxide	
	capacitance, and in the IFT	
	channel geometry caused by	
	strain or the formation of cracks	
μ_H	Hall Mobility	42, 47, 87, 101
μ_{LIN}	Linear Field-Effect Mobility	69,70,110,121,122,
	(Transistor)	124

172	Bibliography	
μ_{SAT}	Saturation Field-Effect Mobility (Transistor)	42, 44, 47, 48, 53, 55, 58, 61–63, 66, 82, 91– 93, 95, 101–103, 110, 112, 114
μ _{SAT} /μ _{SAT} ,	Normalized Saturation Field-Effect Mobility (Transistor)	91, 94
3D	Three-Dimensional Amorphous Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide	49, 51 40, 85–95, 118–124, 126–129, 132–134
a-IGZO		
a-Si AC	Amorphous Silicon Alternating Current	2, 4, 16, 86, 98 9, 16, 18, 41, 42, 44– 48, 51, 52, 54, 78, 93, 99–101
AFM	Atomic Force Microscopy	57, 61, 65, 66, 108, 109, 138
Ag	Silver	9
Al	Aluminum	7, 9, 57, 58, 61, 108, 110, 111
Al ₂ O ₃	Aluminum Oxide	8, 13, 19, 41, 47, 50, 51, 54, 56, 57, 61, 62, 66, 69–71, 81, 82, 84, 87, 100, 104, 108, 109, 112, 120, 121, 124, 137, 138
Al ₂ O ₃ :Zr	Zirconium-Doped Aluminum Oxide	19
ALD	Atomic Layer Deposition	8, 12, 13, 41, 50, 51, 56, 69, 87, 99, 100, 108, 120
AM	Amplitude Modulation	2, 25, 78, 83, 86, 93
AMOLED	Active Matrix Organic Light Emitting Diode	2
Ar	Argon	46, 100, 101, 120
Au	Gold	9, 40, 45, 49–52, 55, 56, 59, 60, 73, 87, 100, 102, 108, 120, 137, 139
AZO	Aluminum Zinc Oxide	9

		Bibliography 173
PC	Bottom-Contact (Transistor)	50, 52–71, 73, 107, 110, 112
DC D	D11	107
BG	Beryllium Bottom-Gate (Transistor)	107 15, 17, 43, 44, 53, 56– 59, 61–68, 70, 71, 73, 77–79, 81, 83, 107, 110, 112
	Ferroelectric Capacitance	131
	(Memory Transistor)	
C_{FE}		
C_G	Gate Capacitance (Transistor)	16, 42, 48, 49, 54, 81, 88–90, 102, 103, 121, 124, 131
C _G /W	Width-Normalized Gate Capacitance (Transistor)	42, 43, 81
Cox	Specific Gate Dielectric Capacitance (Transistor)	42, 51
C-V	Capacitance-Voltage (Transistor)	54, 88
CAAC	C-Axis Aligned Crystalline	10
CAD	Computer-Aided Design	51
CBM	Conduction Band Minimum	10
CF4	Tetrafluoromethane	40, 87
CMOS	Complementary Metal Oxide Semiconductor	67, 79, 80, 83, 136, 142
Cr	Chromium	9, 40, 42, 46, 52, 56– 59, 61, 63, 66, 87, 100, 102, 108, 109, 112, 115, 137
CTE	Coefficient of Thermal Expansion	7
Cu	Copper	9, 41, 47, 48, 50, 51, 71, 87, 100, 104, 121, 125
Cu _x O	Cuprous Oxide	10, 20, 107
CuSCN	Copper (I) Thiocyanate	11, 25, 38, 56, 60–64, 76, 77, 79
	Transverse Piezoelectric Coefficient	130
d ₃₁		

174	Bibliography	
DC	Direct Current	9, 15, 16, 18, 23, 42, 45, 47, 48, 52, 53, 58, 61, 66, 69, 78, 93, 95, 99, 101
DG	Double-Gate (Transistor)	15, 17
DILL	Dip-In-Lithography	51
DLW	Direct Laser Write	vii, 24, 38, 39, 49–55,
	Band Gap	69, 77–79, 81, 83 9
Ea		
e-beam	Electron-Beam	40, 46, 50, 51, 56, 73,
		83, 87, 99, 100, 108,
		120, 121
e-textile	Electronic-Textile	98
	Transit Frequency (Transistor).	15–17, 43, 45, 48, 49,
c	The transit frequency is the	54, 77, 78, 103
\mathbf{I}_T	unity gain frequency of the	
FOTO	small-signal current gain h_{21}	0.4
F812	Poly-(9,9-Dioctylfluorene-Co-	24
Eo TET	Eorrooloctric Thin Film	68 73 77 118 100
1,6-11,1	Transistor	124_127 129 132_
	11411515101	124-127, 129, 132-
FET	Field-Effect Transistor	16
FIB	Focused Ion Beam	41, 46, 47, 83, 87, 88,
		100
	Static Gain (Circuit)	59, 63, 67, 75, 76,
-		140–142, 144, 146
G		
g_m	Transconductance (Transistor)	16, 42, 47, 48, 53, 54, 87, 88, 90, 103
g_m/W	Width-Normalized	43, 47, 102
	Transconductance (Transistor)	
\mathbf{g}_{ds}	Output Conductance (Transistor)	88, 90
g_m/g_{ds}	Intrinsic Gain (Transistor)	88,90
Ga	Gallium	40, 87, 97, 100, 117,
		118, 120, 136, 137
Ga_2O_3	Gallium Oxide	107

Bibliography 175

GaAs GBWP GSG GZO	Gallium Arsenide Gain Bandwidth Product Ground-Signal-Ground Gallium Zinc Oxide Small Signal Current Gain	2 23 41, 46, 51, 52 10 16, 48, 49, 54, 55, 103
h ₂₁ HfLaO HfO ₂ high-k	Hafnium Lanthanum Oxide Hafnium Oxide Material with High Dielectric Constant (Compared to SiO ₂) Memory OFF-Value (Memory Transistor)	8 8, 20 60, 110 70, 123, 129
I _{D,FOR} I _{D.MAX}	Maximum Drain Current	71, 72, 126–130
I _{D,REV}	(Transistor) Memory ON-Value (Memory	70, 123, 129
I _D	Drain Current (Transistor)	42, 52, 58, 61, 65, 70, 87, 88, 90–92, 102, 103, 121–124, 129, 138
I_G	Gate Current (Transistor)	58, 62, 87, 101, 122, 124
I _{OFF} I _{ON} /I _{OFF}	Off Current (Transistor) On/Off Current Ratio (Transistor)	48, 53, 58, 101, 112 16–20, 42, 47, 48, 53, 58, 61, 62, 66, 69, 70, 77, 82, 101, 110, 112, 122
IGO IGZO	Indium Gallium Oxide Indium Gallium Zinc Oxide	10 vii–x, 10, 13, 16, 17, 19, 21–25, 27, 29, 38– 55, 58, 67–82, 84, 87, 88, 90, 98–104, 115, 119–121, 126, 130– 132, 134, 136–144
In	Indium	40, 82, 87, 97, 100, 107, 117, 118, 120, 136, 137

176 Bibl	iography	
In ₂ O ₃	Indium Oxide	<pre>viii, x, 9, 10, 13, 14, 18, 19, 24–27, 29, 38, 55–59, 65, 67, 73–80, 82, 106–115, 136–138, 142, 143, 145, 146</pre>
In(NO ₃) ₃ ·H ₂ O	Indium Nitrate Hydrate	57,108
in.	Inch	57, 108, 137
IPA	Isopropanol	108
ITO	Indium Tin Oxide	9, 10, 13, 84, 103
IZO	Indium Zinc Oxide	9, 10, 58, 107, 115
	Length (Transistor)	16, 41, 43, 46, 52–54,
		78, 81, 108, 112–114,
L		140
Lov	Overlap Length between Gate	15, 16, 42, 43, 49, 54,
-07	and Source/Drain Electrodes (Transistor)	81
LF	Low-Frequency	93
LOR	Lift Off Resist	46,99
LTPS	Low Temperature	2, 4
	Poly-Crystalline Silicon	
	Methyl-Ethyl-Ketone	61, 69, 121
MEK		
Mg	Magnesium	84
Мо	Molybdenum	9, 83, 102
MOS	Metal Oxide Semiconductor	136
MOSFET	Metal Oxide Semiconductor	4, 6, 89, 101, 121, 139
	Field-Effect Transistor	
MW	Memory Window (Memory Transistor)	70, 123, 128, 129, 133
	Nitrogen	138–140, 142–146
N_2		
NFC	Near-Field Communication	23
Ni	Nickel	9
NIR	Near Infrared	65
NM_H	Noise Margin High (Circuit)	112, 140, 141
NM_L	Noise Margin Low (Circuit)	112, 140, 141
NOT	Inverter (Circuit)	22–24

		Bibliography 177
NP NR NW	Nanoparticle Nanorod Nanowire Oxygen	18, 19 13, 18, 19 13, 18 40, 87, 97, 100, 117, 118, 120, 136, 137
0	Molecular Oxygen	40 87 101
P(VDF- TrFE)	Poly(Vinylidene Fluoride-Trifluoroethylene)	vii–x, 8, 13, 15, 20, 25–27, 29, 68–73, 80, 118–121, 124, 130– 132, 134
P(VDF-	Poly(Vinylidene	60–62
TrFE-CFE)	Fluoride-Trifluoroethylene-	
PAR	Polyarylate	7
PC	Polycarbonate	7
Pd	Palladium	45-47, 99-101, 104
PDMS	Polydimethylsiloxane	7, 82, 84
PEALD	Plasma-Enhanced Atomic	13
	Layer Deposition	
PECVD	Plasma-Enhanced Chemical	13, 40, 46, 50, 56, 60,
	Vapor Deposition	87, 99, 108, 112, 120
PEDOI:PSS	Poly(3,4- ethylenedioxythiophene) Polystyrene Sulfonate	9, 14
PEEK	Polyetheretherketone	7
PEN	Polyethylene Naphthalate	7,82
PES	Polyethersulfone	7
PET	Polyethylene Terephthalate	7,82
PFO	Poly[(9,9-Dioctylfluorenyl-2,7- diyl)]	65,74
PFO-BPy	Poly[(9,9-Dioctylfluorenyl-2,7- diyl)-Alt-Co-(6,6'-{2,2'- Bipyridine})]	65
PI	Polyimide	7, 14, 15, 17, 38, 40, 41, 45, 47, 49–52, 56– 58, 60–62, 65, 69, 73, 74, 82, 112
PLD	Pulsed Laser Deposition	13
PMMA	Polymethyl Methacrylate	8

178	Bibliography	
PP	Polypropylene	7
Pt	Platinum	9
PVA	Polyvinyl Alcohol	7,8
PVP	Polyvinylpyrrolidon	8, 13, 19
	Ouasi-Vertical Thin-Film	27, 38, 39, 43–49, 53,
	Transistor	54,77,78,81,98–104
QVTFT		, , , ,
	Resistance	59, 66, 68, 110, 113
R		
r	Bending Radius	21, 95, 144
r ₀	Initial Bending Radius	21
R_C	Contact Resistance (Transistor)	42, 43, 48, 49, 87, 89
r _C	Width-Normalized Contact	42, 47, 53, 101, 102
	Resistance (Transistor)	
RF	Radio-Frequency	12, 40, 50, 51, 73, 77,
		87, 100, 120, 137
RFID	Radio-Frequency Identification	2, 25, 78, 83, 86, 93,
		106, 118
RH	Relative Humidity	7, 112
RIE	Reactive Ion Etching	40, 42, 87, 88
rms	Root Mean Square	109, 112
RO	Ring Oscillator (Circuits)	22–24
RT	Room Temperature	5, 19
	Scattering Parameters	16, 48, 49, 55, 98, 103
S_	-	
narametei	rs	
S/D	Source/Drain (Transistor)	58 108 110 111
SA	Self-Aligned (Transistor)	15 17
SFM	Scanning Electron Microscony	41 46 47 51 52 87
OLIVI	Scalining Election wherescopy	88.100
Si	Silicon	2, 4, 6, 11, 12, 18,
01		57, 61, 66, 83, 102,
		109. 111–113. 137–
		139, 141, 142, 145.
		146
SiC	Silicon Carbide	2

	I	3ibliography 179
SiN _x	Silicon Nitride	40, 44, 46, 48, 50, 56, 57, 60, 61, 66, 81, 87, 99–101, 104, 108,
SiO ₂	Silicon Oxide	109, 112, 119, 138 8, 57, 61, 66, 84, 108, 109, 111–113, 137– 139, 141, 142, 145,
SnO _x SP SS	Tin Oxide Spray Pyrolysis Sub-Threshold Swing (Transistor). The sub-threshold swing is the inverse of the	146 10, 18, 20, 24, 106 107, 109 16, 17, 42, 47, 53, 58, 61, 66, 70, 87, 101, 110, 122, 124, 131,
SS _n	sub-threshold slope Sub-Threshold Swing (N-type Transistor)	132, 142, 144 139, 141–143, 145
SS_p	Sub-Threshold Swing (P-type Transistor)	139, 141, 143, 145
SWCNT	Single Walled Carbon Nanotube Glass Transition Temperature	viii, x, 24, 25, 27, 29, 38, 56, 59, 64–68, 73– 80, 83, 136–146 6, 7, 112
$T_G T_m t_D t_S Ta_2O_5 TC TFT$	Melting Temperature Thickness of the Device Thickness of the Substrate Tantalum Oxide Top-Contact (Transistor) Thin-Film Transistor	6, 7 22 22 8 57, 58, 107, 110 vii, viii, 2–12, 14–27, 29, 38–84, 86, 88, 89, 92, 98, 99, 101, 106, 107, 109–114, 118– 128, 132, 137–146
TG	Top-Gate (Transistor)	15, 39, 41, 44, 48–50, 52–55, 60–63, 69–71, 77–79, 81–83
Ti	Titanium	9, 45, 46, 50, 51, 55, 56, 59, 73, 99, 100, 104, 108, 120, 137

180	Bibliography	
TiO ₂ TrFE	Titanium Oxide Trifluoroethylene Ultraviolet	8, 17 69, 120 14, 40, 46, 52, 56, 57, 65, 69, 83, 108, 137
UV	Midpoint Voltage (Circuit)	24, 59, 63, 67, 75,
V_M		76, 110, 112, 140– 142, 144, 146
V _{DD}	Supply Voltage (Circuit)	59, 63, 64, 67, 68, 75, 76, 110, 112, 113, 126, 140, 144, 146
V_{DS}	Drain-Source Voltage (Transistor)	130, 140–144, 140 42, 43, 47, 49, 52, 53, 55, 58, 59, 61–63, 65, 67, 70, 72, 87, 88, 90–92, 102, 121–124,
V _{GS}	Gate-Source Voltage (Transistor)	126–129, 133, 138 42, 43, 47, 49, 52, 53, 55, 58, 61, 62, 65, 66, 70, 71, 87–89, 91, 92, 102, 103, 121–124, 126–130, 133, 138
V _{IN}	Input Voltage (Circuit)	59, 63, 67, 75, 140
V _{OH}	Output High Voltage (Circuit)	112, 140, 142
V _{OL} V _{TH,FOR}	Output Low Voltage (Circuit) Threshold Voltage for the Forward Sweep (Memory Transistor)	112, 140 129, 131
$V_{TH,n}$	Threshold Voltage (N-type Transistor)	139, 141–143, 145
V _{TH,p}	Threshold Voltage (P-type Transistor)	139, 141, 143, 145
V _{TH,REV}	Threshold Voltage for the Reverse Sweep (Memory Transistor)	129

		Glossary 181
V _{TH}	Threshold Voltage (Transistor)	16, 17, 19, 20, 22, 42, 44, 47, 48, 53, 55, 58, 61–63, 66, 69–72, 76, 77, 87, 91, 93, 95, 101, 103, 110, 112, 114, 121–123, 126– 131, 142, 144
VBM	Valence Band Maximum	10
VDF	Vinylidene Fluoride	69, 120
VIS	Voltage Transfer Characteristic	63, 64, 66, 68, 74, 75,
	(Circuit)	140–142, 144, 146
VTFT	Vertical Thin-Film Transistor	27, 38–49, 77, 78, 81, 86–95, 98, 99, 101– 104
	Width (Transistor)	41, 46, 52, 53, 108, 112–114
W	Mr. July and an a the Dation	20 42 57 50 (1 70
W/L	(Transistor)	39, 42, 57, 59, 61–70, 72, 75, 76, 87–91, 93– 95, 98, 110, 111, 121, 125, 127, 129
	X-Ray Diffraction	58, 108, 109
XRD		
	Yttrium Oxide	8
Y_2O_3		
Y_D	Young's Moduli of the Device	22
1 _S	Zinc Indium Tin Oxide	9
ZITO		
Zn	Zinc	40, 87, 97, 100, 117, 118, 120, 136, 137
ZnO	Zinc Oxide	10, 12–14, 19, 23, 86, 99, 106, 107
ZrO ₂	Zirconium Oxide	8,19
ZIO	Zinc Tin Oxide	10, 14, 107, 136

Curriculum Vitae

Personal information

Luisa Petti

Born on June 4, 1987, in München, Germany Citizen of Italy

Education

2012 - 2016	Ph.D studies (Dr. sc. ETH) in Information Technology and
	Electrical Engineering,
	Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH),
	Zürich, Switzerland.
2009 - 2011	M.Sc. in Electronic Engineering,
	Politecnico di Milano, Milan, Italy.
2006 - 2009	B.Sc. in Electronic Engineering,
	Politecnico di Milano, Milan, Italy.
1999 - 2002	High School Diploma, Liceo Scientifico,
	Giovanni Da Procida, Salerno, Italy.

Work experience

2014	Intern, Emerging Display Technology Team,
	Apple Incorporated, Cupertino, USA
2014	Visiting researcher, Advanced Materials and Devices Group,
	Imperial College London, London, UK.
2012 - 2016	Research assistant, Electronics Laboratory (IfE),
	ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland.
2011	Student assistant, Imaging Detectors and Low Noise Electronics
	Group,
	Politecnico di Milano, Milan, Italy.
2011	Student assistant, Micro and Nanosystems (MNS) Group,
	ETH Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland.